
1

AGENDA

Sefton Safer Communities Partnership

Thursday 13th June, 2019

10.00 am, Committee Room – Bootle Town Hall, Trinity Road, Bootle, 
L20 7AE

(PLEASE NOTE: THIS MEETING IS NOT OPEN TO THE PUBLIC)

MEMBERSHIP:

Councillors Hardy, Thomas, Shaw, Jenny Currie, Neil Frackleton, Martin Gay, 
Tony Harland, Sue Holden, Brendan Prescott, Superintendent Graeme 
Robson, Karen Rooney, Linda Turner, Andrea Watts and Ian Willman

1. Apologies for Absence

2. Declarations of Interest

Members are requested at a meeting where a disclosable pecuniary interest or 
personal interest arises, which is not already included in their Register of 
Members' Interests, to declare any interests that relate to an item on the 
agenda.

Where a Member discloses a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, he/she must 
withdraw from the meeting room, including from the public gallery, during the 
whole consideration of any item of business in which he/she has an interest, 
except where he/she is permitted to remain as a result of a grant of a 
dispensation.

Where a Member discloses a personal interest he/she must seek advice from 
the Monitoring Officer or staff member representing the Monitoring Officer to 
determine whether the Member should withdraw from the meeting room, 
including from the public gallery, during the whole consideration of any item 
of business in which he/she has an interest or whether the Member can remain 
in the meeting or remain in the meeting and vote on the relevant decision.

3. Minutes of Previous Meeting

Minutes of the meeting held on 14 March 2019. 



2

4. Children's Commissioner Report

Reports of the Children’s Commissioner Office.

5. Sefton Safer Communities Partnership End of Year Report 2018/19

Report of Ian Willman, Service Manager - Localities.

6. Sefton Safer Communities Partnership Action Plan 2019/20

Report of Chris White, Localities Team Manager – South.

7. Domestic and Sexual Abuse Strategy 2019 - 2021

Report of Janette Maxwell, Localities Team Manager – North.

8. Operation Beachsafe

Superintendent Graeme Robson, Merseyside Police, to deliver a presentation 
on Operation Beachsafe. 

9. The Merging of NPS and CRC Services Verbal Update

To receive a verbal update from the National Probation Service.

10.Knife Crime Verbal Update

To receive a verbal update from Chris White, Localities Team Manager – 
South.

11.Integrated Youth Support Report

Report of the Localities Service Manager – Central.

12.Any Other Business - Review Update

13.Date of Next Meeting

The next meeting will be held on Thursday, 12 September 2019 at the Town 
Hall, Bootle, commencing at 10:00 am.

COMMITTEE 
OFFICER:

Caitlin Manion
Trainee Democratic Services Officer

Telephone: 0151 934 2070
Fax: 0151 934 2032
E-mail: caitlin.manion@sefton.gov.uk



1

SEFTON SAFER COMMUNITIES PARTNERSHIP

MEETING HELD AT THE COMMITTEE ROOM - BOOTLE TOWN HALL, 
TRINITY ROAD,  BOOTLE, L20 7AE
ON THURSDAY 14TH MARCH, 2019

PRESENT: Councillor Hardy (in the Chair)
Councillors Shaw, Jenny Currie, Neil Frackleton, 
Martin Gay, Tony Harland, Superintendent Stephen 
Rice and Ian Willman.

ALSO PRESENT: Councillor John Kelly, Helen Armitage, Martin Duffy, 
Martin Chambers, Tracy Clare, Tracey Forshaw, Ian 
Hutchinson, Governor Andy Laidlaw, Sarah 
Shillcock, Michelle Stoops and Chris White. 

34. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Carla Thomas, Sue 
Holden, Brendan Prescott and Andrea Watts. 

35. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of any disclosable pecuniary interests or personal 
interests were received.

36. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

RESOLVED: 

That the Minutes of the meeting held on 13 December 2018 be confirmed 
as a correct record. 
 

37. MERSEYSIDE OFFENDER MENTORING PROJECT 

The Partnership considered the report of Sue Holden, Sefton CVS, and 
received a video presentation by Governor Andy Laidlaw, HMP Liverpool 
and Sarah Shillcock, Sefton CVS, which showcased the success of the 
Merseyside Offender Mentoring Project.  

The report highlighted that the Merseyside Offender Mentoring Project was 
originally launched as Sefton Council for Voluntary Service (Sefton CVS) 
Informal Mentoring Project in May 2011, as one of two pilots awarded by 
the National Offender Management Service (NOMS) in England, 
Merseyside. The report also highlighted that in that time the project had 
gone from strength to strength and was funded currently by a range of 
agencies and charitable sources including the Big Lottery Fund, the Steve 
Morgan foundation and the John Armitage Charitable Trust. The report 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



SEFTON SAFER COMMUNITIES PARTNERSHIP- THURSDAY 14TH 
MARCH, 2019

2

stated that the current Lottery Funding would cease at the end of June 
2019. 

The report detailed that the Merseyside Offender Mentoring project 
operated in the local authority areas of Liverpool, Sefton, Wirral and St 
Helens. With a base within HMP Liverpool, the project worked closely with 
Merseyside Police and Merseyside Probation Service and had recently 
extended its services into HMP Risley. The report also detailed that the 
principal aim of the project was to engage with offenders and ex-offenders 
to prevent reoffending by:

 Providing them with volunteer mentoring support to help them 
successfully resettle in the community;

 Diverting them away from crime and pursue new futures by 
developing positive relationships and by assisting them to identify 
and achieve individual goals and targets; and 

 Assisting them with finding stable accommodation, accessing 
training, employment, substance and mental health services and 
improving family and personal relationships. 

The report highlighted that, in 2015, Sefton CVS received the Queens 
Award for Voluntary Service for the Offender Mentoring Project and that 
the current co-ordinator had been personally shortlisted for the prestigious 
‘Butler Trust Award’ for his work on reducing reoffending in the last eight 
years.  

RESOLVED: That:

(1) the background report, the success of the project and the content of 
the video be noted; 

(2) the video be promoted through the Partnerships established 
communications teams and social media; and 

(3) the Partnership support Sefton CVS in seeking to secure additional 
funding beyond June 2019. 

38. CHANGING LIVES 

The Partnership received a presentation by Michelle Stoops, Service 
Manager, Changing Lives on the Red Umbrella Project. 

Ms. Stoops detailed that the Red Umbrella Project was commissioned by 
the Merseyside Police and Crime Commissioner in 2017 to deliver a 
service to any individual within the sex industry; inclusive of people in 
survival sex work, sexual exploitation, street sex work, indoor sex work, 
camming, lap dancing, porn and escorts. Ms. Stoops highlighted that the 
focus of the project was to combat instances of violence and crimes 
committed against anyone within the sex industry and to bring to justice 
anyone perpetrating these crimes. 

Page 4

Agenda Item 3



SEFTON SAFER COMMUNITIES PARTNERSHIP- THURSDAY 14TH 
MARCH, 2019

3

The presentation highlighted that Merseyside Police was the only police 
force in the world to treat violence against sex workers as a hate crime. 
Changing Lives worked in partnership with a dedicated, full-time police 
liaison officer to meet the needs of this group. Ms. Stoops stated that they 
aimed to reduce violence by providing education to highlight the particular 
nature of this hate crime. Changing Lives offered group or one-to-one 
support, outreach, drop-ins across Merseyside, inreach, netreach, 
casework, and specialist ISVA support.

Ms. Stoops detailed that the project helped people to:

 Report crimes via the team and/or National Ugly Mugs;
 Look at their health needs, physical, mental and sexual health;
 Educate themselves around safer working, health and safety, and 

harm reduction;
 If required, work towards exiting and, with local partners, look for 

alternatives; 
 Referrals and support to drug and alcohol services, housing 

providers and safeguarding; and 
 People can move on to: lives free from addiction, less harmful 

practices via harm reduction, empowerment through knowledge, 
family reunification, how to ‘go legal’ as in paying tax if working 
indoors, camming, lap dancing, escorting or involved in porn and 
reduce homelessness. 

RESOLVED: 

That Ms. Stoops be thanked for her informative presentation.

39. KNIFE CRIME VERBAL UPDATE 

The Partnership received a verbal update from Chris White, Localities 
Team Manager – South, on Knife Crime in Merseyside. Mr. White 
highlighted that there had been a national rise in knife crime. Mr. White 
stated that a meeting would be held in the coming week to discuss the 
actions being taken in Sefton and across the Liverpool City Region to 
combat knife crime and more information would be reported back at the 
next meeting of the Partnership.  

RESOLVED: That:

(1) Mr. White be thanked for his verbal update; and 

(2) Mr. White be requested to submit a further update to the next meeting 
of the Partnership on the actions being taken in Sefton and across the 
Liverpool City Region to combat knife crime. 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



SEFTON SAFER COMMUNITIES PARTNERSHIP- THURSDAY 14TH 
MARCH, 2019

4

40. ANTISOCIAL BEHAVIOUR VERBAL UPDATE 

The Partnership received a presentation and a verbal update by Chris 
White, Localities Team Manager – South, on Antisocial Behaviour within 
Sefton. 

Mr. White highlighted that in the last financial year Sefton Council’s 
Environmental Health Service was required to deliver some quite 
challenging budget savings. This inevitably resulted in the loss of a 
number of staff and it was clear that the service would be unsustainable to 
continue as it was. The service delivery offers in relation to noise 
complaints was re-engineered accordingly as part of this process. 

Mr. White detailed that when the service requests received by members of 
the public were analysed, it became clear that a number of the requests 
received were about issues that were transient in nature and others were 
reporting matters where it would be difficult to gather evidence to support 
enforcement action or indeed where enforcement action would be 
completely disproportionate to the issue reported. Mr. White highlighted 
that all of these cases required officer time and resource to assess and 
investigate, and that this was time and resource that Sefton no longer had. 

In conjunction with the Contact Centre, a new approach was developed 
which went ‘live’ in March 2018. This new approach was underpinned by 
two main pillars:

 The development of self-help guides, which would appear on the 
internet which would assist the public in dealing with minor 
disputes with their neighbours before the situation escalated to 
something more serious; and 

 The introduction of a ‘threshold test’ that the Contact Centre would 
apply. Enquires that were below the threshold would be directed to 
the self-help guides on the website and those above the threshold 
were passed to Pollution Control Officers as before. 

At the same time, the facility to report matters online was suspended as 
online enquires were sent directly to the Pollution Control service. In its 
current form, the online approach would undermine the new approach by 
bypassing the threshold test. Mr. White stated that the new approach had 
allowed enforcement officers to focus their attention to higher risk activity 
that was having a major impact on the communities within Sefton. 

Mr. White detailed that in 2016 – 2017 the number of General Antisocial 
Behaviour cases opened and logged on HUB by the Anti-social behaviour 
team was 122, similarly the number for 2017 – 2018 was 118 and the 
numbers for 2018 - 2019 were looking to be the same. Mr. White 
highlighted that the majority of noise complaints received by Sefton 
Council’s Environmental Protection team was for ‘barking dogs’, followed 
by noise from Machinery. 

Page 6

Agenda Item 3



SEFTON SAFER COMMUNITIES PARTNERSHIP- THURSDAY 14TH 
MARCH, 2019

5

Mr. White indicted that whilst the picture wasn’t changing for ‘Adult’ 
antisocial behaviour, antisocial behaviour in teens and young people had 
changed. 

RESOLVED: 

That Mr. White be thanked for his informative update.

41. SERIOUS AND ORGANISED CRIME PROFILE 

The Partnership received a video presentation by Merseyside Police on 
the Serious and Organised Crime Local Profile for South Sefton. 

The video highlighted that the South Sefton area included: L20, L21 and 
L30 and that South Sefton represented 11% of the Sefton borough. 
However, 41% of all recorded crimes in Sefton occurred in South Sefton. 
The video also highlighted that 18% of South Sefton was in the most 
deprived 1% nationally. 

The video detailed that serious and organised crime, from a policing 
perspective, had a national view which was around cybercrime, fraud, and 
exploitation. At a local level within Sefton, serious and organised crime 
included: drugs territory, the movement of cash and exploitation of young 
people and vulnerable adults. The video highlighted that within South 
Sefton the perspective was gun crime enabled, South Sefton equalled 
24% of the discharges within Merseyside and 85% of the discharges were 
from a handgun. Merseyside Police along with their Partners were working 
with the community to identify were those firearms were. 

RESOLVED: That:

(1) Merseyside Police be thanked for their informative video presentation; 
and 

(2) the Partnership receive regular updates regarding serious and 
organised crime in Sefton. 

42. CHILDREN'S COMMISSIONER REPORT FEBRUARY 2019 

RESOLVED:

That the consideration of this item be deferred to the next meeting of the 
Sefton Safer Communities Partnership on 13 June 2019. 

43. ANY OTHER BUSINESS 

Serious Case Review

Councillor Hardy, Cabinet Member – Communities and Housing and Chair 
of Sefton Safer Communities Partnership, asked for a Serious Case 
Review to be undertaken after the death of a homeless man in Southport, 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



SEFTON SAFER COMMUNITIES PARTNERSHIP- THURSDAY 14TH 
MARCH, 2019

6

Sefton. Councillor Hardy stated that Ian Willman would liaise with the Adult 
Safeguarding Board and a decision upon who would lead the review would 
then be taken. 

Domestic Abuse Update

Ian Willman, Localities Service Manager – South, indicated that a full 
Domestic Abuse report would be brought to the next meeting of the of the 
Sefton Safer Communities Partnership on 13 June 2019.  
 

44. DATE OF NEXT MEETING 

RESOLVED:

That the next meeting be held on Thursday, 13 June, 2019 at Town Hall, 
Bootle, commencing at 10:00 am. 
 

Page 8

Agenda Item 3



1 
 

 

 

 

The characteristics of gang-associated 
children and young people 
 

Technical report 

 

FEBRUARY 2019 

 

 
  

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



2 
 

Author: Tom Clarke, Senior Quantitative Analyst, Children’s Commissioner’s Office 

Address for correspondence: tom.clarke@childrenscommssioner.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Acknowledgements 

We are grateful to the Department For Education and Youth Offending Teams in England for providing the data 
used in this report and to CACI, Careworks, Capita One and Careervision for providing assistance to areas in 
extracting the Youth Offending Team data. Thanks also go to Sophie Riley and Chris Stevens at the Youth Justice 
Board, Camden, Nottingham, Southend and Ealing Youth Offending Services and Dr Tara Young for help in the 
initial scoping of this work. Any views, inaccuracies, or errors remain the responsibility of the author, not the 
Children’s Commissioner or other parties.  

Page 10

Agenda Item 4

mailto:tom.clarke@childrenscommssioner.gov.uk


3 
 

Table of Contents 
 
Introduction and aims .................................................................................................................................................... 5 

Data sources and cleaning .............................................................................................................................................. 5 

Children in Need census data ..................................................................................................................................... 5 

Youth offending team data ........................................................................................................................................ 6 

Overall sample demographic profile .......................................................................................................................... 6 

Age.......................................................................................................................................................................... 6 

Gender .................................................................................................................................................................... 7 

Ethnicity.................................................................................................................................................................. 7 

Limitations of these datasets ..................................................................................................................................... 8 

Analysis methods ............................................................................................................................................................ 9 

Findings: Numbers of children identified ....................................................................................................................... 9 

Overlap between YOT and CIN samples ................................................................................................................... 10 

Currently CIN ........................................................................................................................................................ 10 

Currently on CPP .................................................................................................................................................. 10 

Currently in care ................................................................................................................................................... 10 

Accommodated by local authority under section 20 ........................................................................................... 11 

Total number of CYP identified by children’s services and youth offending teams ............................................ 11 

Gap between survey estimated prevalence and identified gang associated CYP ................................................... 11 

Findings: Characteristics of gang associated CYP ......................................................................................................... 15 

Family factors ........................................................................................................................................................... 15 

Parental substance use ........................................................................................................................................ 15 

Parental alcohol misuse ....................................................................................................................................... 16 

Parental mental health issues .............................................................................................................................. 16 

Domestic violence/abuse towards parent/carer ................................................................................................. 17 

Neglect ................................................................................................................................................................. 18 

Offending in the family ........................................................................................................................................ 18 

Violence towards the young person .................................................................................................................... 19 

Any family factors ................................................................................................................................................ 20 

Any of the ‘toxic trio’ factors ............................................................................................................................... 20 

Young person’s current housing .............................................................................................................................. 20 

Instability in CYP’s current housing ...................................................................................................................... 21 

Safety of housing .................................................................................................................................................. 21 

Living in short term or temporary housing .......................................................................................................... 21 

Any housing factors .............................................................................................................................................. 22 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



4 
 

Personal risks ............................................................................................................................................................ 22 

Going missing/staying away ................................................................................................................................. 22 

Drug/alcohol use .................................................................................................................................................. 22 

CSE and sexual abuse ........................................................................................................................................... 23 

Trafficking ............................................................................................................................................................. 24 

Violence towards the young person from others ................................................................................................ 24 

Schooling .................................................................................................................................................................. 24 

Alternative provision/PRU attendance ................................................................................................................ 24 

Mid-year school moves + Exclusions .................................................................................................................... 25 

Absence/participation .......................................................................................................................................... 26 

Health and disability ................................................................................................................................................. 27 

Child’s mental health ........................................................................................................................................... 27 

SEND ..................................................................................................................................................................... 29 

Summary ....................................................................................................................................................................... 30 

Appendix A: Differences in characteristics by offending histories of gang associated CYP ......................................... 31 

Method ................................................................................................................................................................. 31 

Choosing the number of groups ............................................................................................................................... 31 

3 groups of gang associated CYP .......................................................................................................................... 32 

Preliminary analysis of differences in vulnerabilities by type of gang associated CYP ............................................ 33 

Demographics ........................................................................................................................................................... 33 

Family factors ........................................................................................................................................................... 34 

Personal risks ............................................................................................................................................................ 34 

Health and disability ................................................................................................................................................. 35 

School factors ........................................................................................................................................................... 35 

Concerns around how young person relates to others ........................................................................................... 36 

Appendix B: Constructing local area measures of gang activity .................................................................................. 36 

References .................................................................................................................................................................... 38 

 

  

Page 12

Agenda Item 4



5 
 

Introduction and aims 
This analysis aims to provide information on the scale of gang associated children and young people (CYP) 
identified by statutory services and their characteristics, with a particular focus on overlaps with other vulnerable 
groups. To do this we present analysis of two groups of CYP: 

 CYP assessed by children’s services during the year to March 2018. This is taken from the Children in Need 
Census (CIN) collected by the Department for Education and is matched where possible to the National 
Pupil Database (NPD). 

 CYP receiving an Asset Plus assessment in the 12 months to September 2018. This is a bespoke collection 
from Youth Offending Teams (YOT) in England and received responses from 130 out of 137 areas. 

Both of these data sources have extensive information on the characteristics of the CYP assessed, including 
practitioner assessed markers of whether a child is gang associated or not. This allows us to examine the scale of 
children marked as being gang associated in both data sources and to examine differences between these gang 
associated CYP and other CYP assessed on other characteristics recorded in the datasets. 

Data sources and cleaning 

Children in Need census data 

The basis for this cohort is children with a children’s services assessment that started during the 12 months to 
March 2018. As it is possible for children to be reassessed during the year, for example where they have had 
multiple episodes of need within the period or as part of ongoing assessment, information was taken from the 
child’s latest completed assessment. This is to provide the most amount of time for disclosures around gang 
involvement (and other vulnerabilities) to be identified by a practitioner. 

This assessment data was then linked to information about the CIN episode, based on local authority child 
identifiers and date of referral. Children were excluded from this analysis where: 

 Children had no factors identified at assessment 

 Children were recorded as unborn 

 Children were aged over 18 at the start of their assessment 

 Children had assessment start dates recorded before their referral date and/or date of birth 

 Children had assessment start dates recorded after the date of assessment completion 

 Details of either assessment or referral dates were missing 

This cleaned CIN sample was then linked to information held in the NPD, via the child’s unique pupil number (UPN). 
This includes information on exclusions, absence, school moves and SEN provision. During this matching, a small 
number of duplicate records were also excluded where UPNs matched multiple children with either different dates 
of birth or genders. The final match rate between this de-duplicated sample and the main pupil database for 
children aged 5-15 with any UPN recorded in the CIN census was 97%1. 

Overall, this cleaning process resulted in a final sample size of 374,580 children with any factors recorded at their 
latest assessment in 2017/18. Note: this is not comparable to published DfE statistics on factors at assessment as 

                                                        

1 Note: this is based on any match being found in the 12 months previous to their latest assessment 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



6 
 

the published statistics count open episodes (rather than children) within a year and can include episodes with 
assessments carried out in a previous year. 

Youth offending team data 
Youth offending team data was sourced from Asset Plus assessments in the 12 months to September 2018. Asset 
Plus is a standardised assessment tool that YOTs administer to children receiving a caution or conviction. It should 
be noted that this data is primarily a tool for practitioner casework rather than a statistical collection and as such 
there is likely to be more variation in its use between practitioners and areas. 

As with the CIN data, children can be reassessed during the year and so information was taken from the child’s 
latest assessment (where they were aged under 18) during the 12 months to September 2018 in order to give the 
most time for disclosures around gang involvement (and other vulnerabilities) to be identified by a practitioner. 
Cases were excluded where: 

 No information was recorded about gang associations 
 Children were recorded as aged over 18 at their earliest assessment in the year 
 Information on the child’s age at an assessment was missing 
 The date of the child’s latest assessment was missing 

This resulted in a final sample size of 19,750 CYP. While not directly comparable, as a sense of scale the total YOT 
caseload in the year to March 17/18 was 26,681.2 The data quality varied by item returned and levels of missing 
data are reported with each table presented below. 

Overall sample demographic profile 

Age 

CIN data: 

Table 1: Age profile of CIN sample. 

Age at 
latest 

assessment 

Gang 
Associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

Under 5 10 (650) 28 (102,480) 

5-9 14 (960) 30 (109,370) 

10-15 49 (3,360) 34 (123,240) 

16-17 27 (1,870) 9 (32,650) 

 

 

 

                                                        

2 Source: Youth Justice Statistics 2017/18 
(https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/774866/yout
h_justice_statistics_bulletin_2017_2018.pdf)   

Page 14

Agenda Item 4



7 
 

YOT data: Table 2: Age profile of YOT sample. 

Age at 
latest 

assessment 

Gang 
associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

Yet to 
clarify 
% (n) 

10-12 1 (20) 4 (400) 4 (250) 

13-15 32 (770) 37 (3,860) 38 (2,650) 

16-17 67 (1,620) 59 (6,050) 59 (4,130) 

Gender 

CIN data: 

Table 3: Gender profile of CIN sample. 

Gender Gang 
Associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

Female 34 (2,290) 49 (178,700) 

Male 66 (4,540) 51 (188,310) 

YOT data: 

Table 4: Gender profile of YOT sample. 

Gender Gang 
associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

Yet to 
clarify 
% (n) 

Female 8 (200) 16 (1620) 16 (1100) 

Male 92 (2,220) 84 (8,680) 84 (5,930) 

Ethnicity 

CIN data: 

Table 5: Ethnicity profile of CIN sample. 

Ethnicity Gang 
Associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

Asian or 
Asian British 

7 (480) 8 (29,660) 

Black or black 
British 

24 (1,620) 8 (27,100) 

Mixed 13 (870) 8 (27,160) 

Other ethnic 
groups 

3 (180) 3 (9,630) 

White 53 (3,500) 73 (258,790) 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



8 
 

YOT data: 

Table 6: Ethnicity profile of YOT sample. 

Ethnicity Gang 
associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

Yet to 
clarify 
% (n) 

Asian 5 (130) 4 (410) 6 (440) 

Black 31 (740) 7 (710) 11 (740) 

Missing 1 (30) 1 (140) 3 (190) 

Mixed 13 (320) 6 (620) 8 (560) 

Other 2 (40) 1 (110) 2 (120) 

White 48 (1,150) 81 (8,260) 71 (4,940) 

 

Limitations of these datasets 
As with any analysis there are a number of limitations to these cohorts. Key limitations for both data sets are: 

1. Children are recorded as gang associated based on practitioner judgement in both samples. We have not 
specified a particular definition of ‘gang associated’ and as such a variety of children and young people may 
be included. 

2. Furthermore, the guidance for practitioners as to when to record gangs as a factor at assessment is vague. 
The factors at assessment guidance provides the following guidance: 

Being part of a friendship group is a normal part of growing up and it can be common for groups of children 
and young people to gather together in public places to socialise. Belonging to such a group can form a 
positive and normal part of young people’s growth and development. These groups should be distinguished 
from ‘street gangs’ for whom crime and violence are a core part of their identity, although ‘delinquent peer 
groups’ can also lead to increased antisocial behaviour and youth offending. Although some group gatherings 
can lead to increased antisocial behaviour and youth offending, these activities should not be confused with 
the serious violence of a gang. 

 

3.  As a result, it is not clear whether children flagged in the CIN data are involved in gang activity or at risk. It 
is likely a combination of the two given the age profile of the children included (for example there are a 
small number of under 5s). They are termed gang associated here for brevity, but it is likely that they are a 
wider cohort than the YOT sample. 

4.  Children receiving an assessment (in either sample) may be determined by local authority recording 
practices.  

5.  Data quality issues and missing data are common to both data sets. This is unavoidable in case 
management data and is reported where missing data is an issue or answers are based on free text 
responses. However, triangulating the two data sources helps with this. 

Page 16

Agenda Item 4

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/474699/AdditionalGuideOnFactorsAtAssessment.pdf


9 
 

 

Analysis methods 
Results are presented below in two forms: 

1. Simple cross tabulations are presented to provide overall percentages and overlaps between gang 
associations and other characteristics. Counts are rounded to the nearest 10 and any values less than 10 
are suppressed. 

2. Risk ratios after controlling for age, gender and ethnicity. These are calculated via a Poisson regression with 
cluster robust standard errors (see Zhou 2004). The use of these adjusted standard errors reduces the 
likelihood of correlations just being due to correlations within an LA/Youth Offending Team as well as 
allowing accurate standard errors for these risk ratios to be calculated. 

These adjusted risk ratios are important to analyse as they allow the differences in demographic profile of gang 
members (older, more likely to be male and from black and minority ethnic backgrounds - see tables above) to be 
taken into account. For example, family factors are more likely to be identified among younger children: 

Table 7: Differences in parental drug misuse by child age. Missing = 0% 

Parental 
drug misuse 

Under 5 
% (n) 

5-9 
% (n) 

10-15 
% (n) 

16-17 
% (n) 

No 85 (87,530) 88 (96,600) 91 (114,670) 94 (32,290) 

Yes 15 (15,600) 12 (13,720) 9 (11,930) 6 (2,230) 

As a result differences in rates of parental drug misuse among gang associated CYP may seem small compared to 
other CYP, simply because these children are on average older. However this rate may still be higher than we 
would expect for a group of children with this older age profile. To account for this, results are only presented 
below where they are statistically significant after taking differences in age, gender and ethnicity into account. 

Furthermore, both samples are reasonably large and there are a large number of comparisons being performed. As 
a result the traditional p value threshold of less than 0.05 risks highlighting differences that are small in magnitude 
and increases the risk of a difference simply being the result of chance. To avoid this, differences are only 
highlighted as significant when p values are less than 0.0001. This is a slightly arbitrary adjustment but it ensures 
that only reliable differences are commented on. 

Findings: Numbers of children identified 
Key point: 

 Regardless of the cohort examined, these groups encompass a small proportion of the 27,000 children 
estimated to be involved with gangs by the Crime Survey for England and Wales (CSEW) 

The two data sets provide indications of the current scale of children being worked with by children’s services and 
YOTs. 

CIN census: 

 6,850 CYP aged under 18 had gangs identified as a factor at their latest assessment in 17/18 (5,230 aged 10-
17). This is 2% of children with any factors identified. 

Page 17

Agenda Item 4

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15033648


10 
 

YOT data: 

 2,420 CYP aged under 18 were identified as gang associated at their latest Asset Plus assessment in the 12 
months to September 2018. This is 12% of children assessed. 

Overlap between YOT and CIN samples 

Currently CIN 
 19% of children identified as gang associated at their latest Asset Plus assessment were currently identified 

as a child in need. This is significantly higher than the rate for other young offenders, though still only 
represents 1 in 5 gang associated CYP. 

Table 8: Children currently identified as a child in need in the YOT sample. Missing = 2% 

Currently 
identified as 

a child in 
need 

Gang 
associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

Yet to 
clarify 
% (n) 

Currently 19 (460) 13 (1,330) 14 (900) 

Not 79 (1,900) 85 (8,790) 82 (5,420) 

Yet to clarify 2 (40) 2 (180) 4 (270) 

 

Currently on CPP 
 11% of children identified as gang associated at their latest Asset Plus assessment were currently on a child 

protection plan. This is significantly higher than the rate for other young offenders, though still only 
represents 1 in 9 gang associated CYP. 

Table 9: Children currently on a child protection plan in the YOT sample. Missing = 4% 

Currently on 
a child 

protection 
plan 

Gang 
associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

Yet to 
clarify 
% (n) 

Currently 11 (260) 6 (620) 7 (440) 

Not 86 (2,030) 91 (9,210) 88 (5,730) 

Yet to clarify 3 (70) 3 (290) 6 (380) 

 

Currently in care 
 13% of children identified as gang associated at their latest Asset Plus assessment were currently subject to 

a care order. This is significantly higher than the rate for other young offenders, though still only represents 
1 in 8 gang associated CYP. 

  

Page 18

Agenda Item 4



11 
 

Table 10: Children currently subject to a care order in the YOT sample. Missing = 3% 

Currently 
subject to a 

care order 

Gang 
associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

Yet to 
clarify 
% (n) 

Currently 13 (310) 10 (1030) 10 (640) 

Not 86 (2,060) 89 (9,100) 88 (5,800) 

Yet to clarify 1 (20) 1 (100) 2 (150) 

 

Accommodated by local authority under section 20 

Table 11: Children currently accommodated by voluntary agreement with parents (section 20). Missing = 3% 

Currently 
accommoda

ted under 
s20 

Gang 
associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

Yet to 
clarify 
% (n) 

Currently 13 (300) 10 (1000) 9 (610) 

Not 86 (2,050) 89 (9,080) 88 (5,770) 

Yet to clarify 2 (40) 1 (140) 3 (210) 

 

Total number of CYP identified by children’s services and youth offending teams 
The tables above demonstrate a degree of overlap in children known to youth offending teams as well as children’s 
services. Overall, 48% of gang associated CYP assessed by YOTs are recorded as currently being in contact with 
children’s services in any of the above forms. 

Gap between survey estimated prevalence and identified gang associated CYP 
Key point: Regardless of which estimate of identified gang associated CYP is used, this suggests a notable gap 
between the number of children who self-identify as gang members and those identified by children’s services or 
youth offending teams. 

Adding together gang associated children (aged 10-17) amongst both the YOT and CIN cohorts and removing the 
overlap estimated above suggests that, overall, 6,480 children were in contact with either youth offending teams 
or children services. After upscaling this number to account for the 7 missing YOTs3 this gives a combined total of 
6,560 gang associated CYP identified by either YOTs or children’s services. 

It could be argued that this is a lower bound estimate of the children identified by these services. Potential issues 
with this estimate are: 

 Current gang associated CYP may have an open episode with children’s services/YOTs but have not been 
assessed during the year 

                                                        

3 Calculated as 5230 + 2420*(137/130)*(1-0.48) 

Page 19

Agenda Item 4



12 
 

 The time periods of the 2 data sources differ slightly 
 YOT data is missing 7 youth offending teams and rates may not be similar in these missing YOTs 

To examine how much this is likely to matter we can look at broader estimates of the stock of gang associated 
children. This requires some assumptions given available data, however one estimate of this is: 

 Number of children (aged 10-17) with a CIN episode open at any point in the year to March 2018 where 
gangs has ever been identified as a factor at assessment. This is calculated based on: 

– 0.96 (the ratio of children with gangs as a factor at assessment to their episodes in 2016/17) 
multiplied by 

– the proportion of children with gangs as a factor at assessment aged 10-17 (76% - Table 1) multiplied 
by 

– 8,650 open CIN episodes during 2017/18 where gangs was a factor at assessment.4  

PLUS 

 12% of the total YOT caseload for the year to March 20185 minus the 48% overlap between children 
services and youth offending teams estimated above. 

This results in a slightly higher estimate of 7,9806 children identified, though this is likely an over-estimate given 
that CIN assessments can have been several years previously. 

The most recent available estimate from the Crime Survey for England and Wales suggests that 27,000 children 
aged 10-17 self-identified as members of a gang in the year to March 2017.7 However, this excludes those that may 
not self-identify as gang members but may still be at risk either through sibling relationships or through knowing a 
gang member and being involved in violence. Recent figures from ONS8 put the scale of these populations at: 

                                                        

4 Source: DfE, Characteristics of children in Need (https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/characteristics-of-
children-in-need-2017-to-2018)  

5 Source: Youth Justice Statistics 
(https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/774866/yout
h_justice_statistics_bulletin_2017_2018.pdf) 

6 Full calculation = (0.96*0.76*8650) + (0.12*26681*0.52) 

7 Source: Crime Survey for England and Wales 
(https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/adhocs/008451childrenaged10to15an
dadultsaged16to24involvedwithgangsyearendingmarch2017crimesurveyforenglandandwalescsew) & CCO 
(https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Summary-Table-Annex-1-to-
Vulnerability-2018-Overview-Report.pdf ) 

8 Source: Crime Survey for England and Wales 
(https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/adhocs/009653crimesurveyforengland
andwalescsewestimatesofgangmembershipandknifecarryingamong10to15yearoldchildrenenglandandwalesyearsen
dingmarch2016andmarch2018 ) 

Page 20

Agenda Item 4

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/characteristics-of-children-in-need-2017-to-2018
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/characteristics-of-children-in-need-2017-to-2018
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/774866/youth_justice_statistics_bulletin_2017_2018.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/774866/youth_justice_statistics_bulletin_2017_2018.pdf
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/adhocs/008451childrenaged10to15andadultsaged16to24involvedwithgangsyearendingmarch2017crimesurveyforenglandandwalescsew
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/adhocs/008451childrenaged10to15andadultsaged16to24involvedwithgangsyearendingmarch2017crimesurveyforenglandandwalescsew
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Summary-Table-Annex-1-to-Vulnerability-2018-Overview-Report.pdf
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Summary-Table-Annex-1-to-Vulnerability-2018-Overview-Report.pdf
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/adhocs/009653crimesurveyforenglandandwalescsewestimatesofgangmembershipandknifecarryingamong10to15yearoldchildrenenglandandwalesyearsendingmarch2016andmarch2018
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/adhocs/009653crimesurveyforenglandandwalescsewestimatesofgangmembershipandknifecarryingamong10to15yearoldchildrenenglandandwalesyearsendingmarch2016andmarch2018
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/adhocs/009653crimesurveyforenglandandwalescsewestimatesofgangmembershipandknifecarryingamong10to15yearoldchildrenenglandandwalesyearsendingmarch2016andmarch2018


13 
 

 34,000 know a gang member and have been a victim of violence in the last 12 months9 

 60,000 either self-identify as a gang member or know a gang member who is a sibling 

What is clear is that whichever estimates of prevalence and identified children are used, there remains a large gap 
between prevalence and those being identified by services (Table 12). 

Table 12: Gaps between prevalence estimates and estimates of gang associated children identified by services 

  Prevalence estimates 

Self-identify as 
gang members 

Know a gang 
member and 
have been a 

victim of 
violence in the 
last 12 months 

Self-identify as a 
gang member or 

know a gang 
member who is 

a sibling 

 

C
h

ild
re

n
 id

e
n

ti
fi

e
d

 

b
y 

se
rv

ic
e

s 

Low estimate of 
identified 
children 

Gap = 20,440 Gap = 27,440 Gap = 53,440 

High estimate of 
identified 
children 

Gap =19,020 Gap = 26,020 Gap = 52,020 

 

However, it may also be that children are self-identifying as gang associated without being involved in illegal 
activity. The last available dataset to allow this to be tested was the Offending Crime and Justice Survey 2006 
(OCJS). This survey asked much more extensive questions about the nature of groups children aged 10-17 identified 
as part of. 

From this survey, we can estimate the prevalence of children aged 10-17 who report that they: 

 Are in a group of 3+ people 

 Commit violence or threats in order to rob, carrying knives/guns or selling drugs 

 Realise the activities are illegal 

 And think of the group as a gang 

The lower bound estimate of this was 0.7%, which in 2006 equated to 36,000 children aged 10-17. As a result this 
prevalence figure would have had to have decreased by approximately a factor of 5 over the past 10 years for there 
to be no gap between this number and the number of identified gang associated CYP. The existing indicators of 
gang/youth violence do not suggest this is the case – see, for example, Figures 1 and 2 below. 

                                                        

9 Note: we have assumed that all those self-identifying as a gang member also know a gang member. The effect of 
this assumption is likely to be minor but means this is likely an under-estimate of the true size of this group. This is 
calculated as 0.109*percentages that knew a gang member in March 2017 estimates 

Page 21

Agenda Item 4



14 
 

Figure 1: Numbers of children aged 10-17 proceeded against for gang related offences since 2007. Source: MOJ 
Outcomes by offence data tool

 

 

Figure 2: Numbers of children aged 10-17 admitted to hospital for assault with a sharp object 2006/07 - 2017/18. 
Source Hospital Episodes Statistics. Note: rates pre 2012/13 have been calculated through pro-rating numbers of 0-
14 and 15-59 yr olds using average proportions over the period 2012/13 to 2017/18 

 

  

Page 22

Agenda Item 4



15 
 

Findings: Characteristics of gang associated CYP 

Family factors 
Key points: 

 Consistently across the family factors examined, these vulnerabilities are at least as prevalent for gang 
associated CYP as for other young offenders/children referred to social services. This is particularly true 
when differences in demographics are accounted for 

 For both the CIN and YOT cohorts, parental substance use, neglect and violence towards the young 
person stand out as being of greater prevalence amongst gang associated CYP than those not gang-
associated 

 YOT data provides information on additional family factors not covered in the CIN census. This suggests 
that offending in the family is much more common amongst gang associated CYP than other young 
offenders 

Parental substance use 
 In both the CIN and YOT data parental substance misuse is significantly more likely to be identified as a 

concern by practitioners amongst gang associated children, particularly once demographics are 
accounted for. 

 Gang associated CYP have similar rates of parental substance use concerns as other young offenders. 
However, this hides stark differences due to differences in demographic profile: 

Table 13: Children with parental substance misuse concerns recorded at their latest assessment. Missing = 6% 

Parent/care
r substance 

use 

Gang 
associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

Yet to 
clarify 
% (n) 

No 91 (2,150) 93 (9,370) 94 (5,830) 

Yes 9 (210) 7 (690) 6 (390) 

 

 Once differences in age, gender and ethnicity are controlled for, this suggests gang associated children are 
68% more likely to have this identified by practitioners as a concern, than would be expected in young 
offenders with similar demographics. 

 The story is similar in the CIN data. Initially, there is no difference in rates of parental substance misuse 
concerns between gang associated CYP and other children in need until demographics are taken into 
account. 

Table 14: Children with parental substance misuse recorded as a factor at their latest assessment. Missing = 0% 

Parent/care
r drug 

misuse 

Gang 
Associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

No 88 (6,030) 88 (325,070) 

Yes 12 (820) 12 (42,660) 

 

Page 23

Agenda Item 4



16 
 

 After controlling for age, gender and ethnicity gang associated CYP are 41% more likely to also have 
parental/carer substance misuse identified as a factor at assessment than would be expected in a similar 
cohort of non-gang associated CYP. 

 Across both samples overall, 11% of gang associated CYP had parental substance misuse identified as a 
concern or a factor at assessment by practitioners. 

Parental alcohol misuse 
 The evidence for links with parental alcohol misuse are less clear though gang associated children are at 

least as likely to have this identified at assessment as other children in need/young offenders 
 Regarding parental alcohol misuse, rates are similar amongst gang associated and non-gang associated 

young offenders. However, once differences in demographic profiles are accounted for, this suggests gang 
associated CYP are 43% more likely to have this flagged as a concern. 

 Gang associated CYP are slightly less likely to have parent/carer alcohol misuse identified as a factor at 
assessment, though again this difference becomes non-significant when differences in demographics are 
taken into account. 

Table 15: Children with parental alcohol misuse recorded as a factor at their latest assessment. Missing = 0% 

Parent/care
r alcohol 

misuse 

Gang 
Associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

No 91 (6,240) 87 (320,380) 

Yes 9 (610) 13 (47,360) 

 

 Across both samples overall, 9% of gang associated CYP had parental alcohol misuse identified as a concern 
or a factor at assessment by practitioners. 

Parental mental health issues 

The two samples differ on the relationship between gang membership and parental mental health issues, though 
together they suggest that once demographics are accounted for gang associated children are at least as likely to 
have parental mental health concerns identified by practitioners. 

 Once demographics are accounted for, gang associated CYP are 48% more likely to have parental mental 
health identified as a concern compared to non-gang associated young offenders. 

Table 16: Children with parental mental health concerns recorded at their latest assessment. Missing = 6% 

Parent/care
r health 
mental 
health 

concerns 

Gang 
associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

Yet to 
clarify 
% (n) 

No 81 (1,900) 85 (8,600) 87 (5,400) 

Yes 19 (450) 15 (1,460) 13 (810) 

 

 Amongst children assessed by children’s services, gang associated CYP are slightly less likely to have 
parental mental health identified as a factor at assessment. However, this difference becomes non-
significant when age, gender and ethnicity are accounted for. 

Page 24

Agenda Item 4



17 
 

 

Table 17: Children with parental mental health recorded as a factor at their latest assessment. Missing = 0% 

Parent/care
r mental 

health 
concerns 

Gang 
Associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

No 78 (5,360) 75 (274,300) 

Yes 22 (1,490) 25 (93,430) 

 

 Across both samples overall, 21% of gang associated CYP had parental mental health identified as a concern 
or a factor at assessment by practitioners. 

Domestic violence/abuse towards parent/carer 

Similarly, together these two samples suggest that once demographics are accounted for gang associated 
children are at least as likely to have domestic abuse towards a parent/carer identified as a concern by 
practitioners. 

 24% of young offenders flagged as gang associated were known to have witnessed domestic abuse. Once 
differences in demographics are accounted for this is 37% more common in gang associated CYP than other 
young offenders. 

Table 18: Children known to have witnessed domestic abuse recorded at their latest assessment. Missing = 6% 

Known to 
have 

witnessed 
domestic 

abuse 

Gang 
associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

Yet to 
clarify 
% (n) 

No 76 (1,800) 80 (8,080) 83 (5,120) 

Yes 24 (550) 20 (1980) 17 (1080) 

 

 In contrast, gang associated children referred to children’s services are less likely to have domestic violence 
against a parent/carer identified at assessment. However, while initial rates are lower, this becomes small 
and borderline non-significant given the number of tests performed (p = 0.002) when demographics are 
accounted for. 

Table 19: Children with domestic abuse where the parent/carer was the subject recorded as a factor at their latest 
assessment. Missing = 0% 

Parent/care
r subject to 

domestic 
violence 

Gang 
Associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

No 79 (5,420) 69 (254,040) 

Yes 21 (1420) 31 (113690) 

Page 25

Agenda Item 4



18 
 

 

 Across both samples overall, 21% of gang associated CYP were known to have witnessed domestic abuse or 
had domestic abuse against a parent identified as a factor at assessment by practitioners. 

Neglect 
In both the CIN and YOT samples, neglect and the young person’s basic care needs not being met are significantly 
more prevalent amongst children that are gang associated than among those not gang associated 

Table 20: Children with concerns about their basic care needs not being met recorded at their latest assessment. 
Missing = 6% 

Young 
person basic 

care needs 
not being 

met 

Gang 
associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

Yet to 
clarify 
% (n) 

No 89 (2,090) 93 (9,330) 93 (5,790) 

Yes 11 (260) 7 (720) 7 (400) 

 

 Once differences in demographics are accounted for, gang associated CYP are 76% more likely to have their 
basic care needs not being met flagged as a concern than other young offenders. 

Table 21: Children with neglect recorded as a factor at their latest assessment. Missing = 0% 

Neglect 
identified at 
assessment 

Gang 
Associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

No 78 (5,340) 83 (304,870) 

Yes 22 (1,500) 17 (62,860) 

 

 Similarly, CYP recorded as gang associated in the CIN census are 48% more likely to have neglect identified 
at assessment than other children of a similar demographic profile referred to children’s services. 

 Across both samples overall, 20% of gang associated CYP had their basic care needs not being met as a 
concern or neglect as a factor identified at assessment by practitioners. 

Offending in the family 

Gang associated CYP are notably more likely to have family members who have offended and to be living with 
known offenders, compared to those who are not gang associated. 

Table 22: Children with offending in the family recorded as a concern at their latest assessment. Missing = 6% 

Offending 
by family 
members 

Gang 
associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

Yet to 
clarify 
% (n) 

No 69 (1,620) 80 (8,060) 81 (5,000) 

Yes 31 (740) 20 (2040) 19 (1200) 

Page 26

Agenda Item 4



19 
 

 

 Once differences in demographics are accounted for, gang associated CYP are 60% more likely to have this 
flagged as a concern in their latest Asset Plus assessment. 

 There is also evidence that these CYP are also more likely to be living with known offenders. Once 
differences in demographics are taken into account, gang associated CYP are 2x more likely to have 
concerns about them living with known offenders recorded by practitioners. 

Table 23: Children where living with known offenders is recorded as a concern at their latest assessment. Missing = 
6% 

Living with 
known 

offenders 

Gang 
associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

Yet to 
clarify 
% (n) 

No 83 (1,910) 91 (9,160) 93 (5,840) 

Yes 17 (390) 9 (850) 7 (440) 

Violence towards the young person 
In both the CIN and YOT samples violence towards the young person from family members is more prevalent 
amongst children that are gang associated than those not 

 Gang associated CYP are more likely to have parental violence or abuse towards them flagged as a concern 
by practitioners. After differences in demographics are taken into account, they are 41% more likely to have 
this recorded as a concern than other young offenders. 

Table 24: Children where parental/carer violence towards the young person is recorded as a concern at their latest 
assessment. Missing = 6% 

Parental/ca
rer violence 

or abuse 
towards 

young 
person 

Gang 
associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

Yet to 
clarify 
% (n) 

No 85 (1,990) 88 (8,870) 90 (5,560) 

Yes 15 (360) 12 (1190) 10 (630) 

 

 There is a similar difference highlighted in the CIN data. After differences in demographics are taken into 
account, gang associated CYP are 39% more likely to have this recorded as a concern than other CYP 
referred to children’s services. 

  

Page 27

Agenda Item 4



20 
 

Table 25: Children where domestic violence where the child is the subject is recorded as a factor at their latest 
assessment. Missing = 0% 

Domestic 
violence: 

child 
subject 

Gang 
Associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

No 85 (5,830) 88 (323,180) 

Yes 15 (1,020) 12 (44,560) 

 

 Across both samples overall, 15% of gang associated CYP had violence towards them from a parent or carer 
identified as a concern, or domestic abuse where the child was the subject identified as a factor at 
assessment by practitioners. 

Any family factors 
 58% of gang associated young offenders have any of the above family factors recorded at their latest 

assessment. After differences in age, gender and ethnicity are accounted for, this is 42% more likely than 
other young offenders. 

 Gang associated children are as likely to have any family factors identified at their latest children’s services 
assessment. 47% of gang associated CYP have any of the above family factors recorded at their latest 
children’s services assessment. This is slightly lower than the rate for non-gang associated CYP though this 
difference becomes small and borderline non-significant (p = 0.02) once age, gender and ethnicity are taken 
into account, suggesting this difference is explained by demographic differences. 

Any of the ‘toxic trio’ factors 
 Recently, the ‘toxic trio’ issues (combinations of parental mental health, parental drugs/alcohol misuse and 

domestic violence in the home) have been cited as a major driver of the increases on children’s services 
caseloads and the numbers of children being taken into care (ADCS, 2016), and have also been frequently 
cited as a factor in serious case reviews (Sidebotham et al., 2016). 

 36% of gang associated CYP included in returns from YOTs have any of the toxic trio factors recorded at 
their latest assessment. After differences in age, gender and ethnicity are accounted for, this is 39% more 
likely than other young offenders. 

 Similarly to any family factors, gang associated children are as likely to have any of the toxic trio factors 
identified at their latest children’s services assessment. 36% of gang associated CYP have any of the above 
family factors recorded at their latest children’s services assessment. This is lower than the rate for non-
gang associated CYP though this difference becomes notably smaller once age, gender and ethnicity are 
taken into account, suggesting this difference is largely explained by demographic differences. 

Young person’s current housing 
Key point:  

 YOT data suggests that gang associated CYP are at greater risk of housing related vulnerabilities than 
would be expected in other young offenders with the same demographic profile 

– Note: the CIN census holds nothing on young people’s housing situation, so the analysis below is only 
possible for the YOT data. 

Page 28

Agenda Item 4



21 
 

Instability in CYP’s current housing 
 22% of gang associated CYP have housing instability identified as a concern by practitioners. When 

differences in demographics are taken into account, this is 62% more common than for other young 
offenders 

Table 26: Children where housing instability is recorded as a concern at their latest assessment. Missing = 6% 

Housing 
instability 

Gang 
associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

Yet to 
clarify 
% (n) 

No 78 (1,790) 85 (8,560) 86 (5,400) 

Yes 22 (510) 15 (1460) 14 (880) 

 

Safety of housing 
 10% of gang associated CYP have unsafe or unhealthy housing identified as a concern by practitioners. 

When differences in demographics are taken into account, this is 87% more common than for other young 
offenders. 

Table 27: Children where unsafe or unhealthy housing is recorded as a concern at their latest assessment. Missing = 
6% 

Unsafe or 
unhealthy 

housing 

Gang 
associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

Yet to 
clarify 
% (n) 

No 90 (2,070) 94 (9,450) 94 (5,930) 

Yes 10 (230) 6 (560) 6 (350) 

 

Living in short term or temporary housing 
 14% of gang associated CYP have concerns about short-term/temporary housing identified as a concern by 

practitioners. When differences in demographics are taken into account, this is twice as common as for 
other young offenders. 

Table 28: Children where short term/temporary housing is recorded as a concern at their latest assessment. Missing 
= 6% 

Short 
term/tempo
rary housing 

Gang 
associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

Yet to 
clarify 
% (n) 

No 86 (1,990) 93 (9,340) 93 (5,840) 

Yes 14 (320) 7 (680) 7 (440) 

 

Page 29

Agenda Item 4



22 
 

Any housing factors 

 32% of gang associated CYP have any of the above family factors recorded at their latest assessment. After 
differences in age, gender and ethnicity are accounted for, this is 68% more likely than for other young 
offenders. 

Personal risks 
Key point:  

 As might be expected gang associated CYP are more likely to have risks to their personal safety identified 
by practitioners. There are particularly strong associations with going missing, drug/alcohol misuse, CSE 
and trafficking. 

Going missing/staying away 
 26% of gang associated CYP have absconding or staying away listed as a concern by practitioners in their 

YOT assessments. After differences in demographics are taken into account, they are 2.2 times more likely 
than other young offenders to have this identified. 

Table 29: Children where absconding/staying away is recorded as a concern at their latest assessment. Missing = 
6% 

Absconding
/staying 

away 

Gang 
associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

Yet to 
clarify 
% (n) 

No 74 (1,700) 88 (8,800) 89 (5,560) 

Yes 26 (600) 12 (1,220) 11 (720) 

 

 The difference is even more stark in the CIN data. After differences in demographics are taken into account, 
gang associated CYP are more than 9 times more likely to have going missing identified as a factor at 
assessment than other CYP referred to children’s services. 

Table 30: Children where going missing is recorded as a factor at their latest assessment. Missing = 0% 

Going 
missing 

Gang 
Associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

No 64 (4,390) 97 (357,800) 

Yes 36 (2,460) 3 (9,930) 

 

 Across both samples overall, 35% of gang associated CYP had absconding/staying away identified as a 
concern or going missing identified as a factor at assessment by practitioners. 

Drug/alcohol use 
 81% of gang associated CYP have substance misuse concerns identified by practitioners at their latest YOT 

assessment. After differences in demographics are taken into account, this 34% more likely than amongst 
other young offenders. 

 

Page 30

Agenda Item 4



23 
 

Table 31: Children where substance misuse concerns are recorded at their latest assessment. Missing = 0% 

CYP 
substance 

misuse 
concerns 

Gang 
associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

Yet to 
clarify 
% (n) 

No 17 (420) 37 (3,860) 34 (2,410) 

Yes 81 (1,950) 61 (6,320) 56 (3,920) 

Yet to clarify 2 (50) 1 (130) 10 (690) 

 

 Again, this difference is even more stark in the CIN data. 46% of gang associated CYP have drug misuse 
identified as a factor at assessment. After differences in demographics are taken into account, this 8 times 
more likely than for other CYP referred to children’s services. 

Table 32: Children where the child’s drug misuse is recorded as a factor at their latest assessment. Missing = 0% 

CYP drug 
misuse 

Gang 
Associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

No 54 (3,670) 96 (353,150) 

Yes 46 (3,180) 4 (14,580) 

 

 There is a similar association with alcohol misuse. After differences in demographics are taken into account, 
this nearly 6 times more likely to be identified among gang associated children than among other CYP 
referred to children’s services. 

 Across both samples overall, 53% of gang associated CYP had any substance misuse concerns identified as a 
factor at their latest assessment by practitioners. 

CSE and sexual abuse 
 22% of gang associated CYP also have risk of sexual exploitation identified at their latest YOT assessment. 

This is 67% more likely than for other young offenders, once differences in demographics (particularly the 
over-representation of males) are taken into account. 

 These differences are larger in the CIN data. Gang associated CYP are 5 times more likely to have CSE 
identified at assessment than other children referred to social services, once demographic differences have 
been accounted for. 

Table 32: Children where the child’s drug misuse is recorded as a factor at their latest assessment. Missing = 0% 

Child sexual 
exploitation 

Gang 
Associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

No 77 (5,280) 96 (353,600) 

Yes 23 (1,560) 4 (14,130) 

 

Page 31

Agenda Item 4



24 
 

 Across both samples overall, 23% of gang associated CYP had were either judged to be at risk of sexual 
exploitation or had sexual exploitation recorded as a factor at their latest assessment. This rate is notably 
higher amongst girls than boys, with 40% of gang associated girls across the 2 samples having CSE recorded 
as a risk or factor at assessment compared to 15% of boys. 

 There is also an additional risk of sexual abuse for female CYP associated with gangs, compared to female 
CYP not associated with gangs amongst those assessed by children’s services. For two girls of the same age 
and ethnicity, one associated with gangs is 2.4 times more likely to have sexual abuse identified as a factor 
at assessment than a girl not associated with gangs. 

 Younger children are also at particular risk of CSE. After accounting for gender and ethnicity, a child under 
13 years old that has gangs identified as a factor at assessment is 3.1 times more likely to also have CSE 
identified at their latest children’s services assessment compared to a non-gang associated child under 13. 

Trafficking 
 Interestingly trafficking is not directly addressed on the Asset Plus assessment. However, the CIN data 

suggests that gang associated CYP are nearly 11 times more likely to have this identified at assessment than 
other children referred to children’s services, though the prevalence is small. 

Table 33: Children where trafficking is recorded as a factor at their latest assessment. Missing = 0% 

Trafficking Gang 
Associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

No 94 (6,440) 100 (366,570) 

Yes 6 (410) <1% (1,160) 

Violence towards the young person from others 
 The YOT data provides information on violence/abuse directed towards the young person from non-

parents. Once demographics are accounted for, gang associated CYP are 65% more likely to have these 
concerns identified by practitioners at their latest assessment. 

Schooling 
Key point:  

 Gang associated CYP are more likely to be in alternative provision, are more likely to have suffered 
school instability (either through exclusion or mid-year school moves) and are more likely to be absent 
from school 

– Note: schooling measures are quite different between the two samples, so they cannot be combined 
reliably. 

Alternative provision/PRU attendance 
 Gang associated CYP over-represent amongst children with any time in a PRU in the previous 12 months 

compared to other children assessed by children’s services (note: this excludes children under 5 and those 
over 15 as coverage in the NPD becomes more limited). 

 9% of gang associated CYP have any contact with a PRU in the 12 months before their latest assessment. 
Once differences in demographics are accounted for, this is nearly 6 times more likely than for other 
children assessed by children’s services. 

 

 

Page 32

Agenda Item 4



25 
 

Table 34: Children with any time in a PRU in the 12 months prior to their assessment. Missing = 3% 

Any PRU 
contact in 

12 months 
prior to 

assessment 
5-15 

Gang 
Associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

No 91 (3,190) 99 (190,030) 

Yes 9 (300) 1 (1,760) 

 Gang associated CYP also over-represent when compared to other young offenders assessed by YOTs in 
terms of proportions currently in alternative provision. 

 Amongst those where any information on employment training or education was recorded under the age 
of 16 (n=7,700), 67% of gang associated CYP were in alternative provision at their latest assessment. This is 
33% more likely than for other young offenders after differences in demographics are accounted for. 

Table 35: Children where alternative provision is recorded as their current education, training or employment 
status. Missing = 8% 

Currently in 
alternative 

provision 
10-15 

Gang 
associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

Yet to 
clarify 
% (n) 

No 33 (260) 50 (2,060) 50 (1,230) 

Yes 67 (510) 50 (2,040) 50 (1,220) 

 

Mid-year school moves + Exclusions 
 Gang associated CYP are more likely to have experienced school disruption either through school moves 

or exclusion. 
 45% of gang associated CYP (aged under 16) have concerns related to previous school disruptions recorded 

at their latest assessment. Once demographics are accounted for, this is 59% more likely than for other 
young offenders. 

 The CIN data allows us to separate out disruptions that are due to moving school mid-year and those due to 
exclusions. Both are more common amongst gang associated CYP (aged 5-15) than among other children 
assessed by children’s services. 13% of gang associated CYP experienced a mid-year school move in the 12 
months prior to their latest assessment. Once demographics are accounted for, they are 55% more likely to 
experience a mid-year move than other CYP assessed. 

  

Page 33

Agenda Item 4



26 
 

 Table 36: Children experiencing a mid-year school move in the 12 months prior to their assessment. Missing 
= 3% 

Any mid-
year school 

moves in 
the 

previous 12 
months 5-

15 

Gang 
Associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

No 87 (3,040) 92 (175,870) 

Yes 13 (450) 8 (15,920) 

 

 They are also more likely to have been permanently excluded in the previous 12 months. 5% of gang 
associated CYP had a permanent exclusion in the 12 months prior to their latest assessment. Once 
demographics are accounted for, this is 5 times more likely than for other children assessed by children’s 
services. 

Absence/participation 
 Gang associated CYP are more likely to have attendance/participation issues than non-gang associated CYP. 
 Linking the CIN data to the NPD allows us to look at rates of unauthorised absence.10 Gang associated CYP 

have notably higher rates of unauthorised absence than non-gang associated CYP in the year prior to their 
assessment. Gang associated CYP on average missed 25 sessions due to unauthorised absence, compared 
to 11 amongst non-gang associated children assessed by children’s services. This difference remains 
significant once differences in demographics are controlled for. 

Table 37: Average numbers of unauthorised school sessions missed amongst those with any absence during 
2016/17. Base = 177550 

Gangs Mean 
number of 

unauthorise
d sessions 

missed 

Gang 
Associated 

25 

Not 11 

 

 A similar pattern is also seen in the YOT data, though the measure is more limited. 67% of gang associated 
CYP had attendance/participation issues recorded at their latest assessment. Once demographics are 
accounted for, they are 37% more likely to have these issues recorded than other young offenders. 

 

 

                                                        

10 This is a more pertinent measure than persistent absence, which will include authorised sessions missed. 

Page 34

Agenda Item 4



27 
 

Table 38: Children aged 10-15 where attendance/participation issues are recorded as a concern at their latest 
assessment Missing = 15% 

Attendance
/participati

on issues 
10-15 

Gang 
associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

Yet to 
clarify 
% (n) 

No 33 (240) 48 (1,730) 48 (1,170) 

Yes 67 (480) 52 (1,860) 52 (1,250) 

 

Health and disability 
 Key point: mental health concerns recurrently over-represent amongst gang associated CYP. They also 

over-represent amongst those with SEN but without a statement. 

Child’s mental health 
 In both the YOT and CIN data sets, mental health concerns are more frequently recorded amongst gang 

associated CYP than would be expected for a cohort with that demographic profile. 

– Some evidence from the YOT data that these gang associated CYP are more likely to have mental 
health concerns identified but this is not reflected in those with contact with MH services or formal 
diagnoses than other young offenders. 

 

 67% of gang associated CYP had any mental health concerns identified at their latest YOT assessment. Once 
demographics are accounted for, they are slightly (14%) more likely to have these issues recorded than 
other young offenders. 

Table 39: Children with mental health concerns recorded at their latest assessment Missing = 0% 

Mental 
health 

concerns 

Gang 
associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

Yet to 
clarify 
% (n) 

No 29 (700) 32 (3,280) 30 (2,120) 

Yes 67 (1,620) 65 (6,730) 58 (4,070) 

Yet to clarify 4 (100) 3 (290) 12 (830) 

 

 However, they are also slightly less likely to have any contact with mental health services recorded than 
other young offenders. This difference is non-significant and remains so when demographics are accounted 
for (p=0.004). 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 35

Agenda Item 4



28 
 

Table 40: Children with any contact with mental health services recorded at their latest assessment Missing = 0% 

Any contact 
with mental 

health 
services 

Gang 
associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

Yet to 
clarify 
% (n) 

No 59 (1390) 56 (5,780) 58 (3,830) 

Yes 40 (940) 42 (4,310) 38 (2,470) 

Yet to clarify 2 (40) 2 (170) 4 (240) 

 

 They are also slightly less likely to have any formally diagnosed mental health condition. This difference is 
non-significant when demographics are taken into account. 

Table 41: Children with any diagnosed mental health condition services recorded at their latest assessment Missing 
= 0% 

Any 
formally 

diagnosed 
MH 

condition 

Gang 
associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

Yet to 
clarify 
% (n) 

No 86 (2,040) 82 (8,420) 82 (5,350) 

Yes 11 (270) 16 (1610) 13 (880) 

Yet to clarify 2 (60) 2 (230) 5 (310) 

 

 The difference in identified concerns is greater amongst the CIN data set. 26% of gang associated CYP had 
their mental health identified as a factor at their latest assessment. Once demographics are accounted for, 
they are 77% more likely to have these issues recorded than other CYP assessed by children’s services. 

Table 42: Children with their mental health recorded as a factor at their latest assessment Missing = 0% 

Child 
mental 
health 

identified as 
factor at 

assessment 

Gang 
Associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

No 74 (5,100) 88 (324,490) 

Yes 26 (1,750) 12 (43,240) 

 

 Across both samples overall, 31% of gang associated CYP had mental health concerns identified as a factor 
at assessment by practitioners. 

 There are also notably higher rates of self-harm identified as factors at assessment for gang associated CYP. 
Once demographics are taken into account, gang associated CYP are 2.1 times more likely to have self-harm 
recorded than other CYP assessed by children’s services. 

Page 36

Agenda Item 4



29 
 

Table 42: Children with their mental health recorded as a factor at their latest assessment Missing = 0% 

Self-harm 
identified as 

factor at 
assessment 

Gang 
Associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

No 89 (6,080) 96 (352,020) 

Yes 11 (760) 4 (15,710) 

 

 Younger children associated with gangs are also at particular risk of mental health issues and self-harm 
compared to children of a similar age. A child under 13 years old that has gangs identified as a factor at 
assessment is 2.7 times more likely to also have self-harm identified at assessment compared to a non-gang 
associated child aged under 13. 

 

 Gang associated children aged under 13 are 80% more likely to have their mental health identified as a 
factor at assessment compared to non-gang associated children aged under 13. 

SEND 
Key point:  

 Gang associated CYP have higher rates of identified Social, Emotional and Mental health difficulties. 
There are also limited indications that gang associated CYP may be less likely to get statements or EHC 
plans, when SEN is identified. 

– Note: this analysis is based on CYP with SEN information in the spring census 2017/18. 

 

 Gang associated CYP over-represent on children with social, emotional and mental health (SEMH) 
difficulties. 23% of gang associated CYP have SEMH identified as their primary SEN type. Once demographic 
differences are accounted for this is 95% more than other children assessed by children’s services. 

 Gang associated CYP are as likely to have any identified SEN as other children assessed by children’s 
services, once differences in demographics are taken into account. 

Table 43: Children assessed by children’s services with valid SEN information in January 2018. Base =211,420 

Any 
identified 

SEN 

Gang 
Associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

No 60 (2,020) 66 (136,740) 

Yes 40 (1,360) 34 (71,300) 

 

 However, when gang associated CYP do have SEN identified, they are less likely to have a statement or EHC 
plan. Of the 40% of gang associated CYP with identified SEN, 80% do not have a statement or EHC plan 
compared to 70% amongst other children in need. This difference is not fully explained by their 
demographics or mix of primary SEN types (p<0.0001). 

 

 

Page 37

Agenda Item 4



30 
 

Table 44: Primary SEN type of children assessed by children’s services with any SEN identified in January 2018. Base 
= 72,670 

SEN without 
statement 

Gang 
Associated 

% (n) 

Not 
% (n) 

No 20 (280) 30 (21,120) 

Yes 80 (1,080) 70 (50,190) 

Summary 

This analysis provides the most complete picture of the characteristics and scale of currently identified gang 
associated CYP in England, using datasets that have not been analysed before. It echoes previous work from the 
Early Intervention Foundation11 and Local Government Association12 (amongst others) in demonstrating that these 
are a highly vulnerable group of young people. They repeatedly over-represent on: 

 Family related vulnerabilities 

 Housing issues 

 Personal risks faced 

 Being outside of mainstream education 

 Issues related to health and disability 

There is also evidence that where a need is identified (for example SEN), gang-associated CYP may be less likely to 
meet thresholds for support. However, this analysis must be caveated by the fact that most measures are subject 
to variations in practitioner judgement and local area recording practices. This is particularly the case given that 
there is no consistent definition of a gang association used across areas (this variation amongst gang associated 
CYP is explored further in Appendix A below). This analysis has done what is possible to account for these local 
variations, but it remains a limitation of analyses in relation this population.  

  

                                                        

11 Source: EIF, Preventing Gang and Youth Violence: Spotting Signals of Risk and Supporting Children and Young 
People – Overview, http://www.eif.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/11/Final-R1-Overview-Preventing-Gang-
Youth-Violence.pdf 

12 Source: LGA, The relationship between family violence and youth offending, 
https://www.local.gov.uk/relationship-between-family-violence-and-youth-offending 

Page 38

Agenda Item 4

http://www.eif.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/11/Final-R1-Overview-Preventing-Gang-Youth-Violence.pdf
http://www.eif.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/11/Final-R1-Overview-Preventing-Gang-Youth-Violence.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/relationship-between-family-violence-and-youth-offending


31 
 

Appendix A: Differences in characteristics by offending histories of gang 
associated CYP 

 Key point: the YOT data allows us to investigate how vulnerabilities differ between gang associated 
CYP involved with different types of offending.  

 This analysis presents a typology of gang associated CYP based on their offending histories, that can be 
used to provide a summary profile of gang offending in a local area 

 Interestingly rates of vulnerabilities are similar across the groups found 

Method 

Youth offending teams also supplied details of the young people’s offending histories alongside the concerns 
identified by practitioners. This provides indications of the criminal activities that gang associated CYP are involved 
in, including historic offences, those linked to a current disposal as well as outstanding charges. 

Latent class analysis (LCA) provides a data led way of grouping together gang associated CYP with similar offending 
histories. This has the advantage of allowing the number of groups formed to be guided by patterns in the data. It 
also provides a predictive model for group membership that can be applied to further samples to be used and/or 
validated on other cohorts. 

To avoid the effect of any duplicate entries in the offending histories, the indicator variables used were whether a 
gang associated child had any of each of the following types of offence recorded: 

 Weapons 

 Violence with injury 

 Robbery 

 Drugs production/trafficking 

 Drugs possession 

Age was also incorporated into the model as it is likely to be a key determinant of the offending histories of the 
children, simply because older children are likely to have more extensive histories. 

Choosing the number of groups 

LCA requires that the analyst specify the number of groups and model fit indices are then used to determine 
whether this number of groups appropriately summarises the patterns of offending histories in the data. 

Here, the number of groups was varied from 1 to 9 Figure 3 below demonstrates that the Bayesian information 
criterion is minimised at 3 groups suggesting this is the most appropriate summary of the offending histories 

Page 39

Agenda Item 4



32 
 

Figure 3: BIC values for different numbers of latent classes (groups)

 

The G squared statistic is also non-significant for this number of groups (p = 0.21), providing further evidence for a 
good fit for 3 groups. Finally, residual correlations between indicators are also low for a 3 group model, suggesting 
correlations between items are well explained. 

It is worth noting that entropy values (a measure of how well separated the groups are) are quite low for this 3 
group model (entropy = 0.45). This suggests the groups are not perfectly separated and that there is some 
uncertainty in the classification of some individuals. To preserve this uncertainty and avoid biasing estimates, the 
proportions presented below are based on the summed probabilities of each gang associated child being a member 
of each of the 3 groups. 

3 groups of gang associated CYP 
 Through grouping gang associated CYP with similar offending histories, this data suggests that patterns 

of offending can be summarised by 3 broad groups: 

– Younger (10-15 yr old) gang associated CYP (51% of the sample) - below average rates on all types of 
offending except for violence with injury and robbery 

– Drug offending gang associated CYP (17% of the sample) - average or below average rates on all types 
of offending except for drugs possession and drugs trafficking/supply 

– Extensive offending gang associated CYP (32% of the sample) - above average rates on all types of 
offending except for drugs trafficking offences 

 

 

 

 

Page 40

Agenda Item 4



33 
 

Figure 4: % of each group of gang associated CYP with each included indicator item 

 

Preliminary analysis of differences in vulnerabilities by type of gang associated CYP 
 Overall the differences in vulnerabilities between CYP involved in different patterns of offending are 

small, regardless of patterns of offending. They are also nearly always higher than for non-gang 
associated CYP suggesting that all 3 groups are comparatively vulnerable. 

 There are some small but notable differences however: 

– Younger group - at greater risk of sexual exploitation than other 2 groups and highest rates of family 
concerns 

– Extensive offending group - particular concerns around living with known offenders and schooling 

– Drug offending group - comparatively low rates on most vulnerabilities, with the exception of 
susceptibility to exploitation and drug misuse concerns. 

Demographics 

There are notable differences in the gender and ethnic profiles of these 3 groups. 

 The younger group are notably more likely to be female and of white ethnicity than the other 2 groups 

 The extensive offending group are most likely to be male and of black or mixed ethnicity 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 41

Agenda Item 4



34 
 

Table 45: Demographic differences between 3 groups of gang associated CYP 

Demographi
c 

Younger 
group 

Extensive 
offending 

group 

Drug 
offending 

group 

Not gang 
associated 

Asian 5% 6% 6% 4% 

Black 26% 37% 33% 7% 

Missing 1% 1% 2% 1% 

Mixed 12% 16% 13% 6% 

Other 1% 2% 2% 1% 

White 54% 39% 45% 80% 

Female 12% 3% 5% 16% 

Male 88% 97% 95% 84% 

Family factors 

Overall family factors do not strongly differentiate between the three groups. However, there are some small 
differences that are noteworthy. 

 The extensive offending group have notably higher rates of concerns around living with other known 
offenders than the other 2 groups. 

 The drug offending group have the lowest rates of concerns across all family factors 

 The younger group have the highest rates across the majority of other family factors, though this is likely 
due to their younger age profile. 

Table 46: Differences in identified family factors between 3 groups of gang associated CYP 

Family factor Younger 
group 

Extensive 
offending 

group 

Drug 
offending 

group 

Not gang 
associated 

Living with known offenders 16% 20% 14% 8% 

Offending by family members 32% 31% 28% 20% 

Parent/carer substance use 9% 8% 8% 7% 

Parent carer alcohol use 9% 8% 8% 8% 

Parent/carer mental health 20% 19% 15% 14% 

Parental/carer violence or abuse 
towards young person 

15% 17% 14% 12% 

Witnessing domestic violence or 
abuse 

24% 23% 23% 19% 

Young person basic care needs 
not being met 

11% 12% 10% 7% 

Personal risks 

There are also some small differences in the risks faced by these gang associated CYP. 

Page 42

Agenda Item 4



35 
 

 The younger group are at notably higher risk of sexual exploitation than the other 2 groups. These have 
the lowest rates of absconding and drug misuse. 

 The drug offending group are less at risk of violence directed towards them than the other 2 groups. 
However, they have equally high risks of drug misuse and going missing as the extensive offending group. 

Table 47: Differences in identified personal risks between 3 groups of gang associated CYP 

Personal risk Younger 
group 

Extensive 
offending 

group 

Drug 
offending 

group 

Not gang 
associated 

Absconding/staying away 24% 29% 28% 12% 

Is the young person at risk of 
sexual exploitation 

26% 18% 20% 18% 

Substance misuse concerns 74% 88% 87% 61% 

Violence abuse towards the 
young person from others 

19% 19% 15% 12% 

Health and disability 

There are few differences between these groups on health and disability related factors. The one clear pattern 
however is that the drug offending group seem to under-represent on all factors in comparison to the other 2 
groups whose rates are similar. 

Table 48: Differences in identified health concerns between 3 groups of gang associated CYP 

Health concern Younger 
group 

Extensive 
offending 

group 

Drug 
offending 

group 

Not gang 
associated 

Concerns about unidentified 
undiagnosed need or difficulties 

14% 12% 10% 11% 

Have any special educational 
needs been identified 

29% 29% 21% 28% 

Mental health concerns 68% 68% 63% 65% 

Mld (base = any identified SEN) 6% 6% 7% 2% 

Semh (base = any identified SEN) 47% 49% 49% 15% 

Spld (base = any identified SEN) 5% 3% 5% 1% 

Unspecified learning difficulties 
(base = any identified SEN) 

13% 11% 13% 4% 

School factors 

Differences on available schooling factors are clearer. 

 The extensive offending group over-represent on both attendance concerns and concerns around school 
moves and exclusions. 

 The younger group are most likely to currently be in alternative provision 

 The drug offending group have low rates across the factors included 

Page 43

Agenda Item 4



36 
 

Table 49: Differences in identified schooling concerns between 3 groups of gang associated CYP 

Schooling concern Younger 
group 

Extensive 
offending 

group 

Drug 
offending 

group 

Not gang 
associated 

Attendance participation 
issues 

58% 62% 58% 39% 

Complex history e.g moves, 
disruptions, previous 

exclusions 

40% 44% 38% 25% 

Attending alternative 
provision 

47% 40% 24% 31% 

Concerns around how young person relates to others 

The YOT data also provides practitioner judgements on concerns relating to how the gang associated CYP relates to 
others. Again there are differences between the 3 groups: 

 The extensive offending group have higher rates of fear of others and controlling Behaviours than the 
other 2 groups 

 The younger group have the highest rates of concerns around giving in to pressure from others 

 The drug offending group have comparatively low rates on all concerns, with the exception of concerns 
around susceptibility to exploitation 

Table 50: Differences in identified concerns around how children relate to others between 3 groups of gang 
associated CYP 

Concern Younger 
group 

Extensive 
offending 

group 

Drug 
offending 

group 

Not gang 
associated 

Fear mistrust of others 20% 24% 19% 11% 

Gives in easily to pressure from 
others 

27% 25% 20% 16% 

Over assertive controlling 16% 18% 12% 12% 

Susceptible to manipulation/ 
exploitation 

39% 38% 37% 20% 

Victim of bullying 8% 8% 4% 7% 

Appendix B: Constructing local area measures of gang activity 

Currently there are no centrally collected measures of gang activity at a local level in England. However, there are a 
number of available proxy measures in both recorded crime statistics and children’s services data. Factor analysis is 
a useful technique for combining together known proxy indicators into summary measures in a data led fashion - 
rather than having to specify the relative importance of indicators. 

Factor analysis assumes that we can’t directly measure gang activity - it acts as an underlying (latent) factor. 
However, we do have proxies and that the joint variation (correlation) in these proxy measures can be explained by 
changes in underlying gang activity plus some level of error. This lets us set up a model to predict levels of these 

Page 44

Agenda Item 4



37 
 

proxy indicators in each local authority if correlations between indicators were explained by this underlying factor. 
We can then assess how well this model fits based on how well it recreates the observed patterns of these proxy 
indicators. 

It may be though that 1 factor is not sufficient to explain the variation in these proxies and so this model can be 
varied to have multiple underlying factors, until a good fit is found. However, interpretation is important here as 
well as indicators of how well the model fits. 

The following proxy indicators for gang activity at upper tier local authority level were included in this model: 

Recorded crime offences (offences per 1,000 people - source: CSP level police recorded crime open data tables 
aggregated up to LA level) 

 Assault with intent to cause serious harm offences 

 Possession of knives offences 

 Possession of firearms with intent offences 

 Drugs trafficking offences 

CIN factors at assessment (all rates per 1,000 children - Source CIN underlying data): 

 Going missing 

 Gangs 

 Socially unacceptable behavior 

Table 51 below demonstrates common fit indices for a 1 and 2 factor solution. This suggests that a 2 factor solution 
is a notable improvement on a single factor: 

Table 51: Fit indices for 1 and 2 factor solutions 

Number of 
factors 

CFI TLI RMSEA SRMR BIC 

1 0.73 0.59 0.21 0.11 2838.72 

2 0.97 0.92 0.10 0.04 2780.44 

After a geomin rotation, there is a clear interpretation of the 2 factors, which are highly correlated (r = 0.501, 
p<0.001): 

1. Police recorded crime indicators of relevant offences 

2. Children’s services indicators of children vulnerable to/associated with gangs 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 45

Agenda Item 4

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/773060/prc-csp-mar16-sep2018-tables.ods
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/762529/Characteristics_of_children_in_need_2018_underlying_data.zip


38 
 

Figure 5: Geomin rotated factor loadings for a 2 factor solution 

 

These loadings were then used to produce factor scores for local authorities on both summary factors. These 
scores were calculated in MPlus via an Exploratory Structural Equation Model and the regression method 
Asparouhov & Muthen 2007. Local authorities were included on the shortlist of areas for surveying if their factor 
scores were in the top 25% of local authorities on either measure, alongside local intelligence. 

References 

Asparouhov, T & Muthen, B (2007) ‘Exploratory Structural Equation Modeling’ 
http://www.statmodel.com/download/EFACFA810.pdf  

Zhou, G (2004) ‘A modified poisson regression approach to prospective studies with binary data’ American Journal 
of Epidemiology 159(7):702-6 

Page 46

Agenda Item 4

http://www.statmodel.com/download/EFACFA810.pdf
http://www.statmodel.com/download/EFACFA810.pdf


39 
 

 

 

Children’s Commissioner for England  
Sanctuary Buildings  
20 Great Smith Street  
London  
SW1P 3BT  
 

Tel: 020 7783 8330  
Email: info.request@childrenscommissioner.gov.uk  
Visit: www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk  

Twitter: @ChildrensComm  

 Page 47

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

 

 

Keeping kids safe 
 

Improving safeguarding responses to gang violence and 

criminal exploitation  

 

FEBRUARY 2019 

 

 

  

Page 49

Agenda Item 4



2 
 

Contents 
Introduction from Anne Longfield, Children’s Commissioner for England ....................................................... 3 

Research methodology ...................................................................................................................................... 5 

Executive summary............................................................................................................................................ 6 

Question 1: What does it mean to be a gang member in England?............................................................ 11 

Question 2: How many children in England are in gangs? .......................................................................... 14 

Question 3: What are the characteristics of children involved in gangs? ................................................... 17 

Question 4: Who are the children most at risk of being groomed and exploited by gangs? ...................... 20 

Question 5: How have those responsible for safeguarding children responded to the rise of gang 

violence? ...................................................................................................................................................... 25 

Question 6: What has been the national response to youth violence? ...................................................... 30 

Question 7: How do we keep children safe from gang violence? ............................................................... 34 

 

  

Page 50

Agenda Item 4



3 
 

Introduction from Anne Longfield, Children’s Commissioner for England 

The Serious Case Review into the death of 14-year-old 

“Chris” tells a tragic story of a damaged childhood1: 

domestic violence in the home, years in temporary 

accommodation, serious problems in primary school 

leading to exclusion from secondary school and 

grooming by criminal gangs. It describes how by the age 

of 13, Chris was ordering a Rambo knife and bullet-proof 

vest from the internet for protection, telling his Mum he 

was being pressured into selling drugs. In September 

2017, he was shot at close range in a playground in East 

London, and he died later in hospital.  

The review into his death makes clear that a system designed to keep vulnerable children like “Chris” safe 

had failed. This report shows there are thousands of children just like him, putting themselves in the same 

kind of danger. If we are to turn around their life chances and tackle the scourge of serious violence, county 

lines drug running and gang activity, we need to know more about who these children are and why they are 

members of gangs - and how we can keep them safe.  

This report investigates what it means to be a child gang member in England. It estimates how many 

children in England are in gangs, and looks at the risks factors which make it more likely for a child to end 

up being groomed for gang membership. Finally, it questions whether those responsible for safeguarding 

children are responding adequately to the rise in gang violence and how children can better be kept safe.  I 

have been shocked to discover that many of those responsible for the protection of children in their local 

areas seem to have no idea where to start, despite hundreds of thousands of children being at risk. In this, I 

draw parallels with CSE a decade ago – before children being sexually exploited were recognised as victims 

and not perpetrators, and the adults supposed to protect them stopped turning a blind eye to widescale 

abuse. 

Our research presented here estimates there are 27,000 children in England who identify as a gang 

member, only a fraction of whom are known to children’s services. Their experiences vary widely. For 

some, being in a gang entails little more than putting a hashtag on social media. For others it can be far 

more serious and dangerous. Many of the children who identify as gang members feel they have no choice 

or no better options. Some are groomed and exploited by gangs but never identify as members. Often it is 

these children, described to me once as ‘collateral’, who are the most vulnerable and at risk.  

What our research shows is the vulnerability in these children’s lives. Often they come from families with 

substance or alcohol abuse problems or where there is domestic violence. They may grow up neglected, in 

poor housing, sometimes with family members who are associated with gangs or criminal activity. These 

are children who are more likely to suffer from poor mental health and are more likely to have Special 

Educational Needs. They are also more likely to be excluded from school. And far from the bold and 

aggressive stereotype image of a gang member, I have been struck by how visibly fragile many appear in 

person. It is very clear to me that we are not doing enough to protect them from harm.  

Last year, the inspectorates of the police, health, probation and children’s services made a joint call to 

agencies responsible working with children to “learn from the mistakes of child sexual exploitation” by 

“treating children as victims not perpetrators” and “not to underestimate the levels of criminal exploitation 

in their local areas”. This report shows that those calls have not been heeded. Instead, I find that all the 

mistakes that led to serious safeguarding failings in relation to CSE in towns up and down the country are 

                                                           
1 http://www.newhamlscb.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/Serious-Case-Review-Chris-.pdf  

Page 51

Agenda Item 4

http://www.newhamlscb.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/Serious-Case-Review-Chris-.pdf


4 
 

now being repeated. Local areas are not facing up to the scale of the problem, they are not taking notice of 

the risk factors in front of them, and they are not listening to parents and communities who ask for help.  

Tackling gang exploitation needs a paradigm change in thinking, which stops treating these children as 

criminals responsible for their own situation and instead sets out to protect them.  

New local safeguarding arrangements, with a focus on contextual safeguarding, have the potential to make 

this happen, yet there are few signs that any adequate plans are in place. When we asked 25 Safeguarding 

Boards in ‘high risk’ areas what they knew about the number of children involved in gangs or in danger of 

being drawn in, the response was deeply concerning. Not one of them was able to give adequate answers 

to all of our questions, while several areas with the highest indicators of gang violence had no estimate at 

all of levels of gang violence in their area. Our data also shows that less than half of child offenders involved 

in gangs are being supported by children’s services.  

The Government needs to face-up to the scale of this challenge, and ensure both the priority and resources 

are given to helping these children.  

The parents I talk to whose children are in gangs are desperate for help - first shocked and then 

exasperated by the daily calls to one service or another, told repeatedly that nothing can be done to 

protect their children. The implication is that services will only be able to intervene when things get much 

worse. One parent told me her child had ended up in A&E with stab wounds, yet still they weren’t offered 

any help from children’s services.  “How much worse does it have to get?” she asked.  

These children, whose lives are exploited and whose futures are heading in the wrong direction, do not 

have a voice. When they do speak privately they say they want to get out. I have even heard of children on 

cross-country trains carrying drugs to a market town who have deliberately got themselves caught, just so 

that the nightmare will end. Others have no idea where to look for the escape route. Exploited and 

manipulated by professional adult criminal gangs, we need to help these children.  

It is the duty of politicians and those agencies working with children to look out for the most vulnerable. No 

child should end up as a headline about gangland murder or the subject of a Serious Case Review simply 

because nobody thought it was their job to keep them safe.  

 

 

 
Anne Longfield OBE 
Children’s Commissioner for England 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 52

Agenda Item 4



5 
 

Research methodology   

This report draws on the following work undertaken by the Children’s Commissioner and her team over the 

past 12 months:  

 An extensive programme of engagement with children, their families and the professionals working 

with them in a range of settings including schools and alternative provision, gang diversion 

programmes, youth custody and family support programmes.  

 A bespoke data collection from every Youth Offending Team (YOT) in England asking about the 

children they are working with and their characteristics. This information provides the biggest 

sample of known gang members in England currently available. 

 A statutory data request made to the Chair of Local Safeguarding Boards in 25 areas with high-

levels of suspected gang activity, asking about the information they hold in relation to children and 

gangs in their local areas.  

 A bespoke analysis of the ONS British Crime Survey enabling us to examine the characteristics of 

self-identifying gang members and those in close proximity to them.     

 Examination of data collected in relation to children’s services, schools and education, policing and 

children’s services relating to known or suspected gang activity. 

 Learning from the Serious Case Reviews conducted when a child has died as a result of gang 

violence.  

 Learning from existing research conducted into gangs and child exploitation including joint research 

from Ofsted, HM Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services (HMICFRS), the Care 

Quality Commission (CQC) and HM Inspectorate of Prisons (HMIP); as well as reports from the Early 

Intervention Foundation and the Local Government Association, cross-referenced with data 

collected as part of the Children’s Commissioner’s Vulnerability Framework to enable us to develop 

a detailed portrait of the children at risk of gangs in England.  

 

 

 

 

  

Page 53

Agenda Item 4



6 
 

Executive summary  

1. What does it mean to be a child gang member in England? 

Gang membership is complex. For some children, it represents little more than a loose social connection - a 

hashtag for Instagram. Yet this is the exception. The criminal gangs operating in England are complex and 

ruthless organisations, which use sophisticated techniques to groom children and chilling levels of 

violence to keep them compliant. They prey upon marginalised children who have often been let down by 

multiple agencies. As well as gang members, there are many gang associates and others on the periphery, 

not given the status of membership but being groomed and exploited by gangs. Many of these children 

don’t feel that they have any choice about their situation.  

  

2. How many children in England are in gangs? 

British Crime Survey data held by the Office of National Statistics suggests that there are 27,000 children in 

England who identify as a gang member.  

However, this is not the full story.  There are also children who are being groomed and exploited by gangs, 

but who would not identify as gang members. New analysis by the Children’s Commissioner’s Office of 

these children on the periphery of gang membership shows:   

313,000 children aged 10-17 know 

someone they would define as a 

street gang member. Within this 

group, the following groups are 

particularly vulnerable: 

 33,000 children who are the 

sibling of a gang member 

 34,000 children who have 

been the victims of a violent 

crime in the  past 12 months 

and either are a gang 

member, or know a gang 

member 

The group we think that authorities 

should be most concerned about are 

the group who are either in a gang or 

on the periphery of a gang and have 

experienced violence in the past 12 

months. This is 34,000 children in 

England.  

Only a tiny fraction of these children 

are known to authorities; just 6,560 

gang members or associates are known to children’s services or youth offending teams. This means there 

are more than 27,000 children in England believed to be experiencing gang violence but who are not 

identified by the authorities.  

  

  6,560 

 27,000 

 60,000 

313,000 

 34,000 

Know a gang member 

Gang members 

Gang members or siblings of gang members 

Identified gang members 

Know a gang member and have been a 
victim of violence 

Page 54

Agenda Item 4



7 
 

3. What are the characteristics of children involved in gangs? 

While it is important to remember that all children can fall victim to gangs and criminal exploitation, the 

analysis in this report shows that on the whole gang members are highly vulnerable children with a range of 

factors increasing their risk of being drawn into gangs.  

Comparing children in gangs who are assessed by children’s services with other children referred to 

children’s services (an already vulnerable cohort) reveals that children in gangs are: 

 95% more likely to have social and emotional health issues 

 More than twice as likely to be self-harming 

 41% more likely to have a parent or carer misusing substances 

 Eight times more likely to be misusing substances themselves  

Comparing children in gangs within the criminal justice system to other young offenders reveals that 

children in gangs are: 

 76% more likely not to be having their basic care needs met at home (as assessed by a practitioner)  

 37% more likely to have witnessed domestic violence 

 37% more likely to be missing/absent from school 

 

 

4. Who are the children most at risk of being groomed and exploited by gangs? 

Gangs set out to prey on vulnerable children and to exploit their weaknesses. Identifying the factors that 

make children more susceptible to gangs enables us to identify which children are at the greatest risk: the 

children who have multiple interlinked vulnerabilities – both at the individual level (such as mental health 

or special educational needs) and the family level (such as abuse and neglect). These vulnerabilities cause 

children to act out, or may make them susceptible to gang inducements or threats. These risks can be 

moderated or exacerbated by whether and how services respond when the child’s needs first emerge. In 

particular, a child being excluded of off-rolled from school increases their susceptibility to gang violence.  

The diagram below shows how gangs exploit children experiencing three particular risk factors: 

 Risks around their home environment 

 Issues such as mental health 

 Children at risk because of a failure of institutions to respond adequately, for example children 

excluded from school or deprived of much-needed mental health support.  

Page 55

Agenda Item 4



8 
 

 
 

Trends 

Across the board data shows that leading indicators – potential ‘early warning signs’ – of gang-based 

violence have been on the rise in recent years. 

 Referrals to children’s services where gangs are identified as a factor at assessment rose 26% 

between 2015/16 and 2016/17 (from 5,200 to 6,570) 

 Permanent exclusions are up 67% compared to 2012/13 (from 4,630 to 7,720)  

 Hospital admissions for under-18s who have been assaulted with a sharp object rose 20% between 

2015/16 and 2016/17 (from 399 to 483) 

 Nationally, the number of 10-17 year olds cautioned/convicted for possession of weapons offences 

rose 12% between 2016 and 2017 (from 2,763 to 3,088)  

 

5. How have those responsible for safeguarding children responded to the rise in gang violence? 

The Children’s Commissioner’s Office (CCO) asked 25 Local Safeguarding Children Boards in ‘high-risk’ areas 

about their response to gang violence and criminal exploitation – requesting working estimates of the 

number of children in gangs, on the periphery of gangs and at high-risk of being drawn into gangs and how  

each group was defined. Responses showed:  

 Many areas had no information on the levels of gang activity and risk among children in their area. 

It was often the areas with the highest indicators of gang violence that had  the least knowledge  

 Most areas had identified only a handful of children who they believed to be in gangs or at risks of 

gangs.  

 Only one area had a population-level estimate of gang membership - the others based their 

estimates entirely on individual children who had come to the attention of authorities.   

Page 56

Agenda Item 4



9 
 

Safeguarding boards also appear to be failing to investigate deaths or serious injuries to children where 

gang violence is a factor. The lack of serious case reviews following violent the deaths of children killed in 

gang violence are being properly investigated to ensure that lessons are learnt in terms of protecting 

other children.  

6. What has been the response of national government? 

In response to rising levels of youth violence, there have been numerous Government initiatives, and 

multiple funding streams to try and prevent youth violence. However: 

 There are too many small funding pots, all involving large amounts of bureaucracy, with none of 

the funding streams alone being commensurate with the level of need 

 Fragmentation between different Government departments involved in delivering the policy 

response is hampering national-level initiatives being translated into frontline changes. The Serious 

Violence Strategy is being led by the Home Office, but much of the delivery is within the 

responsibility of the Department for Education or Health. Better co-operation is needed.  

 In particular there is a need to ensure that resources are available for the family-level interventions 

the Government have identified as most effective, including ‘Early Help’ within children’s services 

and the Troubled Families programme.  

There are two areas where there is a particular gap between the evidence about what is effective at 

mitigating gang violence and the current Government response 

 Services delivered by health professionals, including CAMHS and family-based therapeutic 

approaches 

 Early-years initiatives to promote healthy child development and good parenting.  

 

7. How can children be kept safe from gang violence? 

Once a child is within a gang, extricating them is very hard. While gangs may entice children with money 

and bribes, once children are involved, they use threats, violence and intimidation to keep children under 

their control. These children may need a range of interventions, but the single most important thing is for 

them to have a relationship with at least one trusted adult who can help divert them away from gangs and 

access other services. Because of this, the children most at risk are those who are isolated and invisible to 

the authorities, generally let down by multiple agencies.  

This report identifies four steps that are needed to stop this happening: 

1. Step one is taking a life-course approach. This means recognising that while a child may be drawn 

into a gang as an adolescent, the underlying reasons they were susceptible to this, almost certainly 

appeared years earlier. Interventions are needed across a child’s life.  

2. Step two is ensuring those agencies in contact with children at each point, are doing their job.  

3. Step three is putting in place the local-level co-ordination that ensures steps-one and two occur. 

This should be responsibility of Local Safeguarding Boards and their successor bodies. There should 

be a particular focus on identifying the cohort of children in gangs or at greatest risk.  

4. Step four is a national coordinated response from Government, as outlined below.   

  

Page 57

Agenda Item 4



10 
 

Key Recommendations to Government 

Overall, we have found that the Government’s response to serious violence has identified what is needed, 

but has not yet done enough to ensure that the necessary services are put in place. These are the actions 

we believe are needed to plug the gaps in what has been provided to date: 

1) The Government needs to be clear that child criminal exploitation is a national priority, and lay-out 

clear expectations for all the organisations working with children - including the police, schools, 

children’s services and NHS bodies - as to their role. While the Department for Education has put in 

place the structures to achieve this, the practice is yet to match the theory. To address this the 

department should:  

a. Be much more explicit about the role of Local Safeguarding Childrens Boards (LCSBs), and 

their successor bodies, in relation to gangs.  

b. Put more resources into improving knowledge of best practice around interventions for 

children in gangs, including adolescents at high-risk of absconding from care.  

c. Respond to the forthcoming Exclusions Review by ensuring that schools realise the 

safeguarding implications of excluding children, and are held responsible for these.  

2) The joint inspections from Ofsted, HMIC, the CQC and Probation Inspectorate have been invaluable 

in identifying what is needed in terms of combating child criminal exploitation. This report 

recommends that the joint inspections be rolled-out to all areas, starting with the high-risk areas 

who were unable to respond to our data request for this report. The Department for Education and 

Home Office should provide the funding to enable this.  

3) There needs to be a much greater focus on the early years within the Serious Violence Strategy. 

Specifically the Department for Education should set a clear target for reducing the number of 

children beginning school with very low levels of development, along with a strategy for how this 

can be done, and introduce a national plan for improving SEND identification in the early years.  

4) The NHS and Public Health England needs to recognise the importance of health-delivered 

interventions for combatting youth violence. Health bodies need to be proactive safeguarding 

partners, working to reduce risks, not just reporting them to other agencies. Specifically, there 

needs to be: specific referral processes to prioritise CAMHS services for those at risk of gang 

membership and exclusion; greater focus on CAMHS access and services for under-11s (who may 

have conduct problems or issues with emotional regulation which may not be recognised by 

existing services) and processes in place to ensure that services are commissioned for families, 

including family therapy approaches for young children.  

5) The forthcoming closure of the Troubled Families programme represents a serious threat to the 

support offered to many of the families with greatest gang risk. The government urgently needs to 

commit to the programme for 2020/21 to stop closure processes beginning from March 2019. 

Long-term, the future of a family-based approach needs to be ensured and developed.  

6) The Department for Education needs to review what level of youth services are required to meet 

the needs of adolescents at risk of gang violence, many of whom will fall within the remit of Section 

17 of the Children’s Act 1989, and ensure that local authorities have the resources necessary to 

provide this.  

7) The Department for Education needs to recognise the importance of ‘Early Help’ services within 

children’s services, and ensure local authorities have the resources available to provide early help 

to those with high gang risks. This starting point for this needs to be an understanding of how many 

families are currently in receipt of early help services, and what those services are. 

  

Page 58

Agenda Item 4



11 
 

Question 1: What does it mean to be a gang member in England?  

The criminal gangs that are exploiting children are large, complex and ruthless organisations2. For the vast 

majority, vulnerable children who can be used and, if necessary, discarded, are an integral part of their 

business model. The National Crime Agency estimates that the county lines element of this industry – 

where drug gangs go outside of their local area to expand their reach – is alone worth more than £500m3. 

The link between these large, sometimes international networks, and the localised street gangs children 

encounter is often complex.  

This report draws on first-hand accounts of the tactics these gangs use to ensnare children, the 

sophisticated and fast-evolving techniques of recruitment, invariably backed up by threats and serious 

violence.  

For many children, involvement in these gangs is not a voluntary act. In some areas children are considered 

members of a gang based purely on their location, their family or their wider associations. One child told us 

that he was considered in Gang X simply because of the street he lived on. This then determined which 

streets he could and could not safely travel down and even how he could get to school. If violence broke 

out between gangs, he would be a target.  

In one Alternative Provision unit we attended, the headteacher estimated half of the pupils would consider 

themselves gang ‘members’. Another third were considered gang ‘runners’, and these tended to be very 

vulnerable children who could be “collateral”. In one sense, gang membership offered some protection. Yet 

this does not mean children were exercising their own agency in affiliating with a gang. We met three boys 

in Merseyside who were close friends at school, but at the end of the school day would have to be put into 

three different taxis because they were considered to be in separate gangs. Not only could these children 

not travel home together, not one of them had a safe route home without traversing areas associated with 

a rival gang.  

As gangs have sought to expand their reach, they have also looked to expand their recruitment. When the 

police become better at spotting traditional gang members, and disrupting their activities, gangs have then 

recruited a more diverse membership. We have been told that younger children, particularly girls, are being 

recruited by gangs because their profile makes them less likely to be noticed by the authorities. The 

techniques for recruiting these children are very similar to grooming for sexual abuse. They will normally 

start with inducements. In one case, we heard of a written manual, with a clear timeframe for entrapment. 

This started with the giving of gifts or praise, the overtures of friendship. On day two, they would protect 

the child from some danger – real or contrived. By day five, the child would be running an errand, a simple 

drop in return for some money. On this errand, the gang would arrange for the child to be mugged. The 

child would lose the money, and would therefore be considered to be ‘in debt’ to the gang.  

This “debt bond” has been a common theme of all the gangs we’ve heard about through our research. One 

particularly disturbing element has been the notion that children who are arrested, and therefore have 

either money or drugs confiscated from them, are then considered to be “in debt”. We learnt of a child 

being stabbed in revenge for failure to repay a “debt” arising from an arrest. We have also been told of 

children in prison still being pursued for their “debt”.  

Gangs often exploit the response of agencies to help them gain control of children, For example, when 

children are arrested or excluded from schools, gangs tell  the child that they now have no prospects of 

getting an education or normal job, and therefore their only choice is continuing with the gang. We have 

encountered cases where children have lost opportunities to study, to take up an apprenticeship and even 

                                                           
2 The relationship between organised crime and urban street gangs is discussed in more detail under Question 2.  
3 http://www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk/news/1247-latest-threat-update-estimates-at-least-720-county-lines-drug-
dealing-lines  

Page 59

Agenda Item 4

http://www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk/news/1247-latest-threat-update-estimates-at-least-720-county-lines-drug-dealing-lines
http://www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk/news/1247-latest-threat-update-estimates-at-least-720-county-lines-drug-dealing-lines


12 
 

to join the Army because of criminal sanctions imposed for relatively minor crimes. Each time this happens, 

it closes off a route out for the child involved.   

We have heard from children who, having been arrested, have been asked for information by the police, 

and believe that they need to provide this information to reduce their punishment. Yet these children were 

conscious of the risks associated with doing this - they believed that the gangs were deliberately feeding 

false information to different children, so that if it was acted on by the police they would know the “snitch”. 

For those children suspected of being a “snitch” redistribution could be brutal, against either them or their 

families. The murder of Abraham Badru4 is believed to have been in retribution for having prevented the 

gang-rape of a girl ten years previously.  

The threat of violence is a recurrent issue for children hoping to extricate themselves from gang 

association. Often for children who have been extensively involved in gangs, they must face up to the 

threat of reprisals, while also dealing with fractures in their home life and education resulting from their 

gang activity. Frequently, these children have no stability in any aspect of their lives, so staying in a gang 

appears to be their only option.  

Most of these children have parents desperately trying to keep them safe. A recurrent theme of our visits 

was the frustration of parents who had asked for help which was refused. When they had recognised 

warning signs – their child having new things, staying out after school or even going missing – agencies had 

dismissed their concerns. We spoke to parents who had raised concerns for years, but had been given little 

or no help while they watched as their children received gifts from a suspicious neighbour, then began to 

miss school, and were then excluded. One mother told us she had asked for help when she found large 

amounts of cash on her 13-yr old son, but the police believed his explanation that he had made this money 

stacking crates in a warehouse. Crates his mother pointed out he could not have lifted.  Again and again 

these parents had sought help but found that the first time agencies engaged with them was when their 

child was arrested. One parent told us of the relief when her son was arrested because finally someone 

professional was taking an interest. This relief was tempered by the knowledge that her son’s criminal 

record could seriously undermine his life-time prospects.  

In more serious cases, we have been contacted by parents who believe their child is in serious and 

imminent danger, including cases where children have been the victims of serious assaults and stabbings. 

Yet they still do not feel that they are being helped to protect their child.  

Case study: Chris, London 

 
Chris grew up in London. His early childhood was highly disrupted, with the family frequently moving 

between different types of emergency accommodation provided by the local authority, across his home 

borough and other parts of London. He lived with his mother and sister, contact with his father having 

stopped when Chris was 9, after a long history of domestic violence. There were also allegations that Chris’ 

mother hit him.  

Chris had extensive special educational needs, including ADHD and a conduct disorder. This led him to act 

up and self-harm while at primary school. Despite these challenges, the primary school provided a range of 

specialist support to help Chris manage. Unfortunately this support did not follow Chris to secondary 

school, where there was “little evidence that his SEND (special educational needs and/or disabilities) needs 

were fully understood or met”5 and therefore Chris’ behaviour became increasingly difficult as he struggled 

to manage his own temper. He received multiple fixed-term exclusions; at age 13 he was transferred to a 

                                                           
4 https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-london-43894344  
5 http://www.newhamlscb.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/Serious-Case-Review-Chris-.pdf  
 

Page 60

Agenda Item 4

https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-london-43894344
http://www.newhamlscb.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/Serious-Case-Review-Chris-.pdf


13 
 

pupil referral unit. Chris did have appointments with a clinical psychologist for his ADHD, who also tried to 

get support for his family in the form of referrals to talking therapy and substance misuse support .  

Shortly after starting at the Pupil Referral Unit, police became aware that Chris was associating with older, 

known gang members. This, combined with concerns about Chris’ behaviour led police to refer Chris to 

children’s services who decided not to hold a child protection conference but to refer Chris to the Youth 

Offending Team. He was aged 13. Police reports from the time report that Chris was believed to be being 

targeted by gangs because he was easily influenced. Shortly after this Chris was arrested for a sexual 

assault. The police did not take this forward but did again refer him to children’s services. They in turn 

referred Chris to family support services, who closed the case after one visit. In the same month Chris’ 

school also asked for help with his behaviour, with a particular concern that he was interested in knives. 

This was referred to the Youth Offending Team, who visited once but then also closed the case.  

A few weeks later, Chris went missing from his mother’s home for a week. His mother called the police and 
children’s services. On his return home, the police spoke to Chris who refused to say where he had been. 
After a fight with his mum shortly after, children’s services again made an assessment but did not intervene 
and Chris went to live with his uncle.  
 
At this point Chris was not attending school, but rather was a “virtual pupil” at his PRU. He told his mother 
that he has been pressured into selling drugs and his mother found, and then disposed of, £600 of Class A 
drugs. Children’s services record that Chris believed his life was in danger. The Metropolitan Police raided 
Chris’ house and recovered items connected to several robberies. They recorded Chris on the gangs matrix. 
However, because Chris was now living with his uncle in a different borough, all support was withdrawn. 
Neither children’s services nor the youth offending team continued to work with Chris, and he was not 
attending school. Despite the extensive evidence of gang-related criminal activity, Chris was not referred to 
either children’s services or the youth offending team in his uncle’s area.  
 
Chris’ mother reached out to children’s services for help, saying she was fearful for her son’s life; she asked 
her housing association if she could be moved so Chris could live with her away from the gangs. This did not 
occur. Instead, at this point Chris entered a spiral of violence and increased criminality, including possession 
of a knife, and then of acid; both times Chris said he needed to carry these for his own protection. Chris’ 
relationship with his uncle broke down and he moved back to his home borough, despite telling authorities 
he feared for his life because of gangs. He was shot and killed less than two months later. He was still only 
14.  
 
By the time of his death, Chris had been known to 12 agencies. Yet it appears that the last time Chris had a 
stable and supportive relationship with any professional was when he was at primary school. After that, 
numerous organisations from schools to children’s services to the police failed to understand his needs and 
failed to give him stability, support or protection. Numerous different agencies failed to provide Chris with 
the type of sustained relationship that may have diverted him for danger. Despite all the warning signs, 
there was no sustained attempt to get Chris away from gangs or to keep him safe.  
  
The details of Chris’s story are taken from the Serious Case Review into Chris’ death, commissioned by 
Newham Local Safeguarding Board and is available at http://www.newhamlscb.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2018/10/Serious-Case-Review-Chris-.pdf  
 
  

Page 61

Agenda Item 4

http://www.newhamlscb.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/Serious-Case-Review-Chris-.pdf
http://www.newhamlscb.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/Serious-Case-Review-Chris-.pdf


14 
 

Question 2: How many children in England are in gangs?  

Identifying the total number of children in gangs poses both practical and conceptual problems. The 

children we want to identify are those for whom being in a gang is a defining characteristic, such that it 

dictates large elements of their behaviour, and in turn exposes them to huge risk, both in the short and 

long term. This is not all children who identify as gang members. Some children use the term “gang” to 

signify a simple social association.   

The Government guidance “Safeguarding children and young people who may be affected by gang 

activity”6 (published in 2010) distinguishes between:  

 ‘Peer Group’ – a relatively small and transient social grouping which may or may not describe 

themselves as a gang depending on the context 

 ‘Street Gang’ – “groups of young people who see themselves (and are seen by others) as a 

discernible group for whom crime and violence is integral to the group's identity” 

 ‘Organised Criminal Gangs’ – “A group of individuals for whom involvement in crime is for 

personal gain (financial or otherwise). For most crime is their 'occupation'” 

The relationship between these different layers is complex. ‘Street Gangs’ as defined here will often recruit 

from particular ‘peer groups’ to the degree that in many areas any form of peer group will involve some 

loose association with a ‘street gang’. This situation can be extremely fluid, as different gangs jostle for 

control of areas or merge, meaning there is often a large degree of flux7. It is often the children on the 

periphery who are groomed by gangs, and end up in the greatest danger, but may not ever either consider 

themselves, or be considered full gang members.  

Though the exact form of ‘street gangs’ may vary, three elements are almost invariably present: violence, 

drugs and geographical definition8. It is often these elements which form the basis of the link back to the 

organised criminal gangs who are those providing the supply of drugs and are those making huge money 

from the violence on our streets.  

Notwithstanding the challenges outlined above, it is vital that we get the most accurate possible estimation 

of the number of children who are at real risk of harm in street gangs, or on the periphery of such gangs.  

The starting point for estimating this group is the number of children who identify themselves as being in a 

street gang. There are 27,000 children in England who identify as a member of a street gang (aged 10-

179). This definition of street gang is based on a group of young people who hang around together and: 

 have a specific area or territory;  
 have a name, a colour or something else to identify the group;  
 possibly have rules or a leader;  
 who may commit crimes together.  

                                                           
6 Adapted from Adapted from Hallsworth S and  Young T (2004) Getting Real About Gangs. Criminal Justice Matters 
(55) 12-13, as used within 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/189392/DCSF-
00064-2010.pdf.pdf  
7 For an interesting discussion of these issues see Home Office research conducted with Community Safeguarding 
Partnerships 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/491802/horr88.
pdf  
8 See above 
9 CCO analysis based on the Crime Survey for England and Wales 2017 
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Summary-Table-Annex-1-to-Vulnerability-
2018-Overview-Report.pdf  

Page 62

Agenda Item 4

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/189392/DCSF-00064-2010.pdf.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/189392/DCSF-00064-2010.pdf.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/491802/horr88.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/491802/horr88.pdf
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Summary-Table-Annex-1-to-Vulnerability-2018-Overview-Report.pdf
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Summary-Table-Annex-1-to-Vulnerability-2018-Overview-Report.pdf


15 
 

 
However, we have to recognise that not all children who are involved in street gangs are involved in serious 

violence or criminal activity. More importantly, we also have to recognise that there are many children 

involved with gangs and being exploited who do not self-identify as gang members. These are likely to be 

drawn from the much larger group of 313,000 children10 who know someone they would define as a 

street gang member. Within this group, we can also identify: 

 33,000 children who are a sibling of a gang member 

 34,000 children who are either a known gang member or know a gang member and have been 

the victim of violent crime in the past 12 months11.  

The latter group is of particular importance. As discussed under Question 1, gang association is complex. 

Children on the periphery of gangs may be the most vulnerable, equally not all children who identify as 

gang members are at risk of violence or exploitation. Therefore, the group we think that authorities should 

be most concerned about are the group who are either in a gang or on the periphery of a gang and have 

experienced violence in the past 12 months. This is 34,000 children in England.  

Identification of gang members 
We have compared these population-level estimates of gang association with numbers of children 

identified. Gang members may become known to either children’s services or the criminal justice system 

(through the police, but handled by the Youth Offending Team).  For the purpose of this report, we have 

combined data from youth offending teams and children services: 

1.  Children referred to children’s services with an assessment in the 12 months to March 2018, using 

data from the Children in Need Census. 

2. Children assessed by YOTs in the 12 months to September 2018 using the Asset Plus process12. This 

is previously unanalysed data sourced from 130 of 137 Youth Offending Teams in England.  

This has enabled us to identify13: 

 5,230 children aged 10-17 who are known to children’s services and had gangs identified as a 
factor at their latest assessment14  

 2,420 children aged 10-17 were identified as gang associated by their Youth Offending Team 
(YOT).  

                                                           
10 Note that this has been estimated pro rata for all 10-17 year olds, but is based on 10-15 and 16-24 year olds in the 
CSEW, year to March 2017 (link).  
11 Both of these figures are estimated pro rata for all 10-17 year olds, but are based on 10-15 year olds in CSEW March 
15/16 – March 17/18. Source: ONS, (link). The figure is for children who know a gang member and report having been 
a victim of violence. We cannot exclude from this known gang members, and as all gang members will also know a 
gang member, we have presumed this figure will include some gang members.   
12 Asset plus is a standardised assessment framework used by Youth Offending teams (YOTs) in England and Wales. 

This assessment is required for all children receiving either an out of court disposal or a court sentence. These are 

regularly reviewed and includes practitioner recorded information on (amongst other things): 

 Child’s demographics 

 Any known gang associations of the child 

 Personal, social and family factors affecting the child – including school, housing and health related 
vulnerabilities 

 Child’s offending 
13 The methodology for this is explained in greater detail under question 4.   
14 The figure is 6850 children if we include all children. However we excluded children under 10, on the assumption 
that the gang risk identified at assessment was more likely to relate to parents or siblings than the child themselves.  

Page 63

Agenda Item 4

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/adhocs/008451childrenaged10to15andadultsaged16to24involvedwithgangsyearendingmarch2017crimesurveyforenglandandwalescsew
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/adhocs/009653crimesurveyforenglandandwalescsewestimatesofgangmembershipandknifecarryingamong10to15yearoldchildrenenglandandwalesyearsendingmarch2016andmarch2018


16 
 

When we combined these figures and remove overlaps, this results in a cohort of 6,560 children who are 
involved in gangs and known to the authorities.  

This means that just 1 in 4 gang members is identified by authorities. In reality the under-identification is 

likely to be greater still. Both YOTs and children’s services identify ‘gang association’, this is any situation 

where a gang poses a risk to a young person, this could be a gang member, gang sibling or gang associate. 

The group of children at highest risk are the gang members or associates who have also experienced 

violence. There are 34,000 such children in England, even if we assume all those identified (6,560) fit within 

this category, this still leaves more than 27,000 children in England thought to be experiencing gang 

violence but not known to authorities.   

Figure 1, below, outlines what the Crime Survey for England and Wales (CSEW) reveals about the total 

population of children in England who are either in a gang, or known to a gang member, combined with 

Children’s Commissioner’s Office analysis of the gang members identified by local areas. It shows that those 

children identified by the authorities represent only a tiny proportion of the overall number of children who 

are either in gangs, or exposed to risk from gangs. 

 

Page 64

Agenda Item 4



17 
 

Figure 1. Size of gang identification in England 

  

Question 3: What are the characteristics of children involved in gangs? 

The data collection from Youth Offending Teams and examination of the Children in Need census 

represents the most up to date information available on children identified by YOTs and children’s services 

and the largest sample of known gangs associates in England. This data also enables us to compare these 

children to others assessed by social services/youth offending teams to examine vulnerabilities that are 

more common amongst gang associated children even when compared to other already vulnerable 

children. 

It builds on recent work by the Early Intervention Foundation, the Local Government Association as well as 

others and gives the most complete picture of the scale and characteristics of the group of children 

identified as gang associated in England today. 

In both cohorts, information on gang association was taken from the child’s latest assessment during the 

period. This is to give the maximum amount of time for gang association to be identified by a practitioner. 

  6,560 

 27,000 

 60,000 

313,000 

 34,000 

Know a gang member 

Gang members 

Gang members or siblings of 
gang members 

Identified 

Know a gang member 
and have been a 
victim of violence 

Page 65

Agenda Item 4



18 
 

Key Findings from this analysis 

 
1. The scale of those identified is relatively small compared to estimated prevalence. As discussed under 

Question 3, the 6,560 children in gangs who are known to either or both of children’s services and 

YOTs, is less than 1 in 4 of the estimated number of child gang members.  

2. Gang risk is still a small element of children’s services and YOTs’ workload: 

 Just 2% of children known to children’s services have gangs identified as a factor 

 Just 12% of young offenders have are identified as gang associates.  

Less than half – 48% – of children assessed by YOTs as being gang associated are also currently known to 

children’s services in some form15. 

3. Children in gangs are generally extremely vulnerable. 

Children in or associated with gangs are some of the most vulnerable in the country. Even compared to 

other children known to children’s services, they are at greater risk of from factors relating to their family 

or home environment. Gang associated children are more likely to experience16: 

 Parental substance misuse: 68% more likely to have this identified than other young offenders and 

41% more likely than other children assessed by children’s services 

 Neglect: 76% more likely to have their basic care needs not being met flagged as a concern than 

other young offenders, 48% more likely to have neglect identified at assessment than other 

children assessed by children’s services. 

 Violence towards them within the home: 41% more likely to have violence from a parent 

identified as a concern than other young offenders; 39% more likely to have domestic violence 

where the child is the subject recorded as a factor at assessment than other children assessed by 

children’s services. 

 Offending in the family: 60% more likely to have this flagged as a concern than other young 

offenders and twice as likely to be living with known offenders. 

 Housing instability: twice as likely to have short term/temporary housing listed as a concern than 

other young offenders. 

Gang associated children are also more likely to be vulnerable due to their schooling situation: 

 School instability: 55% more likely to experience a mid-year school move in the 12 months prior to 

their assessment than other children assessed by children’s services and 5 times more likely to have 

had a permanent exclusion in the previous academic year (aged 5-15). 

 Alternative Provision attendance: 6 times more likely to currently be in alternative provision in the 

12 months prior to their assessment than other children assessed by children’s services (aged 5-15). 

Gang associated children are also at greater risk of mental health difficulties: 

 Mental health: 77% more likely to have the child’s mental health identified as a factor at 

assessment than other children assessed by children’s services. They are also 95% more likely to 

have Social, Emotional and Mental health issues identified as a primary SEN need than other 

children assessed by children’s services.  

                                                           
15 This includes those recorded as currently a child in need, subject to a child protection plan, under a care order or 
accommodated under Section 20 at their latest assessment. 
16 Note: all comparisons presented are relative risks after differences in age, ethnicity and gender are taken into 
account. 

Page 66

Agenda Item 4



19 
 

 Self-harm: Twice as likely to have self-harm recorded as a factor at assessment than other children 

referred to social services 

There is some evidence that they are less likely to be receiving support for these difficulties: 

 Only 20% of gang associated children with any SEN have a statement or Education, Health and Care 

(EHC) plan, compared to 30% of other children assessed by children’s services with an identified 

SEN. 

These vulnerabilities are also coupled with considerable personal risk: 

 Substance misuse: 81% of gang associated children have substance misuse identified as a concern 

at their latest asset plus assessment, this is 34% more likely than amongst other young offenders. 

 Going missing: 36% of gang associated children have “going missing” identified as a factor at 

assessment. This is 9 times more likely than other children assessed by children’s services 

 Child sexual exploitation or abuse: 23% of gang associated children have child sexual exploitation 

recorded as a factor at assessment. This is 5 times more common than other children assessed by 

children’s services. 

Limitations  
This analysis provides the most complete picture of the scale and vulnerabilities of children identified as 

gang associated in England today. However, it is limited by the quality of the data sources. Key issues with 

both data sources are: 

1. The lack of consistent definitions as to when a child should be recorded as gang associated. Currently 

this is determined by practitioner judgement.  

2. Children receiving an assessment (in either sample) may be determined by local authority recording 

practices. This is likely more of an issue with the Asset Plus data, whereby some YOTs divert gang 

associated children to preventative programmes rather than criminalising them.  

3. Both datasets suffer from missing data, which may bias results. More detail on this is available in the 

technical report accompanying this report. 

  

Page 67

Agenda Item 4



20 
 

Question 4: Who are the children most at risk of being groomed and exploited by gangs? 

Figure 2 on the following page, shows summaries of the risk factors that have been shown to be associated 

with a greater likelihood of participating in gangs or youth violence. The first table is from research carried 

out by the Early Intervention Foundation (EIF), while the second is from research by the Local Government 

Association (LGA). For each table of risk factors, we have overlaid figures from our annual study of 

childhood vulnerability,17 which tracks how many children in England are growing up with different 

vulnerabilities. The figures provide the best available estimates of the numbers of children living with the 

risk factors identified.  

Some of these factors are themselves indicators of gang involvement – such as previous criminality or a 

close association with delinquent peers – but many other factors are underlying risks present in the home 

during childhood, such as family violence and abuse. Our study of childhood vulnerability has found that 2.1 

million children in England are living in a household where there is some kind of complex family or parental 

issue. Among this group are an estimated 100,000 children living with a parent suffering from severe 

mental health issues, alcohol or drug dependency and domestic violence18. 

What this shows is that very large numbers of children in England are growing up exposed to risks which 

could pull them into gangs, and that it is possible to identify the cohorts of children and families where risk 

is higher. Furthermore, most of these risks can be reduced with the right support at the right time. 

  

                                                           
17 See https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/publication/childrens-commissioner-vulnerability-report-2018/.  
18 As above 

Page 68

Agenda Item 4

https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/publication/childrens-commissioner-vulnerability-report-2018/


21 
 

Figure 2. Risk factors for gang and youth violence, combined with statistics from Children’s 

Commissioner’s Vulnerability Framework 

 
Sources: EIF, Preventing Gang and Youth Violence: Spotting Signals of Risk and Supporting Children and 

Young People – Overview, http://www.eif.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/11/Final-R1-Overview-

Preventing-Gang-Youth-Violence.pdf  

Children’s Commissioner’s Office, Vulnerability Report 2018, 

https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/publication/childrens-commissioner-vulnerability-report-2018/  

 

 

 

 

 
Sources: LGA, The relationship between family violence and youth offending, 

https://www.local.gov.uk/relationship-between-family-violence-and-youth-offending   

Children’s Commissioner’s Office, Vulnerability Report 2018, 

https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/publication/childrens-commissioner-

vulnerability-report-2018/  

 

 

 

  

471,000 children in material 
deprivation & severe low income 

825,000 children in households affected 
by domestic abuse 
385,000 children who have been 
physically abused 
73,000 children looked after 
50,000 children on Child Protection Plans 

86,000 children of 
prisoners 
408,000 children in 
‘Troubled Families’ 

740,000 children persistently 
absent from school 

313,000 children who 
know a gang member 

167,000 children 
excluded from school 

56,000 children reported 
missing during the year 

1,090,000 children with an 
emotional/mental health issue 

825,000 children in households affected by 
domestic abuse 
385,000 children who have been physically 
abused 
73,000 children looked after 
50,000 children on Child Protection Plans 

469,000 children whose parents 
use substances problematically 

Page 69

Agenda Item 4

http://www.eif.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/11/Final-R1-Overview-Preventing-Gang-Youth-Violence.pdf
http://www.eif.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/11/Final-R1-Overview-Preventing-Gang-Youth-Violence.pdf
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/publication/childrens-commissioner-vulnerability-report-2018/
https://www.local.gov.uk/relationship-between-family-violence-and-youth-offending
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/publication/childrens-commissioner-vulnerability-report-2018/
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/publication/childrens-commissioner-vulnerability-report-2018/


22 
 

The children most at risk have multiple interlinked vulnerabilities – both at the individual level (such as 

mental health or special educational needs) and the family level (such as abuse and neglect). These 

vulnerabilities cause children to act out, or may make them susceptible to gang inducements or threats. 

These risks could be moderated or exacerbated by whether and how services respond when the child’s 

needs first emerge. For example, a child could be supported within school instead of off-rolled or excluded, 

they could receive mental health support instead of being turned away, or they could have their special 

educational needs recognised (and receive appropriate support) instead of being left to struggle.  

It is important for agencies to understand that gangs exploit the confluence of these inter-linked factors to 

recruit or exploit children. Understanding gang risk is therefore about understanding how these factors 

inter-relate, not just to each other, but also the cohorts of children already in gangs or on the edge of 

gangs. The Venn diagram in Figure 3 shows the relationship between all of these factors.  

Figure 3. Venn diagram of children at risk of gangs and gang-associated children 

 

Trends in vulnerability over recent years 
Across the board data shows that leading indicators – potential ‘early warning signs’ – of gang-based 

violence have been on the rise in recent years. 

 Referrals to children’s services where gangs are identified as a factor at assessment rose 26% 

between 2015/16 and 2016/17 (from 5,200 to 6,570) 

 Hospital admissions for under-18s who have been assaulted with a sharp object rose 20% between 

2015/16 and 2016/17 (from 399 to 483) 

 Nationally, the number of 10-17 year olds cautioned/convicted for possession of weapons offences 

rose 44% between 2014 and 2017 (from 2,139 to 3,088) – see Figure 4 below. 

Page 70

Agenda Item 4



23 
 

 Permanent exclusions rose by 67% between 2012/13 and 2016/17 (from 4,630 to 7,720) – see 

Figure 5 below. 

Figure 4. Cautions or convictions for possession of weapons  

Source: Ministry of Justice, Outcomes by offence data tool 

 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/criminal-justice-system-statistics-quarterly-december-2017  

 

 

Figure 5. Permanent exclusions in England, 2012/13 to 2016/17 

Source: Department for Education, Permanent and fixed-period exclusions in England: 2016 to 2017, 

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/permanent-and-fixed-period-exclusions-in-england-2016-to-2017 
 

 

 

665 870 915 1,145 1,255

3,905 4,005
4,785

5,445
6,385

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

Primary schools Secondary schools

4,630 
4,950 

5,795 

6,685 

7,720 

Page 71

Agenda Item 4

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/criminal-justice-system-statistics-quarterly-december-2017
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/permanent-and-fixed-period-exclusions-in-england-2016-to-2017


24 
 

 

a Source: LGA, County lines - a national summary & emerging best practice, 

https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/County%20Lines%20National%20Summary%20-

%20Simon%20Ford%20WEB.pdf. 
b Source: https://www.ed.ac.uk/news/2013/exclusionprison-280213. 
c Source: HM Chief Inspector of Prisons for England and Wales Annual Report 2014–15, 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/444785/hmip-2014-15.pdf. 
dhttps://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/adhocs/009653crimesurveyforenglandandwalescsewe

stimatesofgangmembershipandknifecarryingamong10to15yearoldchildrenenglandandwalesyearsendingmarch2016andmarch2018 

    

  

Connecting Gangs and School Exclusions 
There is extensive evidence linking school exclusions with gang involvement. According to the Local 

Government Association: 

“The targeting of young people excluded from secondary schools is a major feature in the profile 

of 'county lines'. …  In some areas, PRUs become the arena for gang rivalries … PRUs are also 

viewed as the place where already vulnerable young people get first hand exposure to and 

experience of crime (drug dealing /violence/intimidation/ recruitment for 'county lines').”a 

The number of permanent exclusions has increased by 67% from 2012/13 to 2016/17, and has almost 

doubled among primary schools, as shown in Figure 5 above. Previous research has found that children 

excluded from school at age 12 are 4 times more likely to be in prison by age 24,b and that more than 4 

in 5 boys in Young Offender Institutes have been permanently excluded.c Furthermore, figures that we 

have obtained from the Office for National Statistics show that: 

 Self-reported gang members aged 10-15 are 5.5 times more likely to have been excluded or 

suspended in the last year, compared to children aged 10-15 who do not identify as gang 

members (16% vs 3%)d 

 Children aged 10-15 who carry knives are 7 times more likely to have been excluded/suspended 

in the last year, compared to children aged 10-15 who have not carried a knife (23% vs 3%)d 

Often it is involvement in gangs which prompts a child to be excluded. We have encountered children 

who have been permanently excluded from school because of poor attendance. At least one of these 

children was subsequently found by the National Referral Mechanism to have been criminally exploited 

in these periods.  

However, it is equally important to recognise that the act of excluding a child in itself makes that child 

more vulnerable to gang violence. Being in school places a structure around a child. It provides a child 

with a set place to be, as well as relationships with trusted adults and peers. Schools have a range of 

safeguarding responsibilities, which they discharge within the school or by notifying other agencies. All 

this is lost when a child is excluded or off-rolled. Parents have repeatedly identified this to us as a trigger 

point, which caused their child to go from some involvement with gangs to full membership. We have 

heard how being removed from schools has caused children to spend more time with other gang 

members, allowed children to go missing for long periods and become involved in every more dangerous 

activities and criminality. We have also seen very different approaches within alternative provision. 

Some alternative provision provides excellent gang diversion programmes through an innovative and 

engaging curriculum. Others inadvertently become gang grooming grounds, where children are exposed 

to other gang members and often placed on part-time curriculums or even become ‘virtual pupils’ – 

meaning that most of the day they are free to associate with other gang members.  

 

Page 72

Agenda Item 4

https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/County%20Lines%20National%20Summary%20-%20Simon%20Ford%20WEB.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/County%20Lines%20National%20Summary%20-%20Simon%20Ford%20WEB.pdf
https://www.ed.ac.uk/news/2013/exclusionprison-280213
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/444785/hmip-2014-15.pdf
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/adhocs/009653crimesurveyforenglandandwalescsewestimatesofgangmembershipandknifecarryingamong10to15yearoldchildrenenglandandwalesyearsendingmarch2016andmarch2018
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/adhocs/009653crimesurveyforenglandandwalescsewestimatesofgangmembershipandknifecarryingamong10to15yearoldchildrenenglandandwalesyearsendingmarch2016andmarch2018


25 
 

Question 5: How have those responsible for safeguarding children responded to the rise of 

gang violence? 

Children in, or being groomed by, gangs are nearly always at significant and immediate risk of harm. The 

exact nature of this harm may vary, but accounts of gang involvement invariably include some or all of: 

coercion, emotional abuse, sexual violence, school absence, enforced criminality and physical assaults of 

various types. All of these forms of harm are recognised in statutory guidance as sufficient to warrant a 

response from safeguarding authorities.  

Primarily, the responsibility sits with local authorities, who are required under the Children’s Act 1989 to 

protect children at risk. But effective safeguarding needs a multi-agency approach. There is an equally 

important role for police, health bodies, schools and youth services.  

Co-ordinating these bodies is the responsibility of the Local Safeguarding Children’s Board, whose primary 

responsibility is to “co-ordinate what is done by each person or body represented on the Board for the 

purposes of safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children in the area”19. Specifically, the Board has 

responsibility for ‘Developing’ policies and procedures for keeping children safe’; ‘communicating’ this to all 

relevant partners, ‘monitoring’ what is being done and reviewing serious incidents when children have 

come to harm20.  

As concern has grown about the need to protect children from gang violence and criminal exploitation, a 

joint report was issued last year by all the relevant inspectorates: Ofsted, HMI Constabulary and Fire & 

Rescue Services (HMICFRS), the Care Quality Commission (CQC) and HMI Probation. The inspectorates were 

stark in their warning to agencies “not to underestimate the risk of child criminal exploitation in their 

areas”21. It went on to call on local agencies to learn the lessons from sexual exploitation; to treat children 

as victims, not perpetrators and to remember that all children are at risk.  

To look at the local safeguarding response, we issued a statutory data request to the Chairs of 25 Local 

Safeguarding Boards in areas which we deemed to be “high-risk” of gang violence and criminal exploitation. 

We asked the boards to provide us with their estimates for: 

a) The number of children in their local area who are in gangs  

b) The number of children in their local area who are related to gang members 

c) The number of children in their local areas who are at high-risk of gangs 

In addition, for each group we asked how it was defined, and how many of the children or families within 

the group were being supported.  

As we can’t directly measure gang crime in an area (no national dataset is available) the 25 areas were 

identified by creating two summary proxy measures based on known risk indicators:  

 

1. Recorded crime offences all offences22  
 Assault with intent to cause serious harm offences  
 Possession of knives offences  
 Possession of firearms with intent offences  
 Drugs Trafficking offences 

                                                           
19 Sect 14, Children’s Act 2004 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/14  
20 ‘Local Safeguarding Children Boards Regulations’ http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/90/regulation/5/made  
21 https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/news/news-feed/criminal-exploitation-and-county-lines-learn-
from-past-mistakes-report-finds/  
22 Per 1,000 people. Source: 2017/18 CSP level police recorded crime open data tables aggregated up to LA level, year 
to March 2018. 

Page 73

Agenda Item 4

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/14
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/90/regulation/5/made
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/news/news-feed/criminal-exploitation-and-county-lines-learn-from-past-mistakes-report-finds/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/news/news-feed/criminal-exploitation-and-county-lines-learn-from-past-mistakes-report-finds/


26 
 

 
2. Children in Need (CIN) factors at assessment23  

 Going missing 
 Gangs 
 Socially unacceptable behaviour (where ASB and offending gets flagged at assessment) 

 
The 25 areas, and how they responded, are listed below in order of the level of gang risk we identified. Of 

the 25 areas where we formally requested data, only 16 responded, including 4 that responded to say they 

held no relevant information. In nine areas, the Chairs of the LCSB failed to comply with their duty to 

respond. Others were only able to answer some of the questions posed (marked below as a partial 

response). As the table below shows, it was often the areas with the greatest gang risk that either failed to 

comply or had the least information on gangs in their area. Areas which were only able to answer some of 

the questions are marked as ‘partial responses’. 

It is important to note that the responses below only reflect the response of the LCSBs. It is possible that 

individual safeguarding agencies on the board, such as the local authority or the police, may have collected 

additional information and this is not known by the LCSB. Therefore a poor response to our request does 

not necessarily mean a poor safeguarding response across the area, but it does suggest a lack of leadership 

and co-ordination on the part of the LCSB. Given the complex nature of criminal exploitation, and the need 

for a multi-agency response, the LCSB should be the body co-ordinating this.   

Area  Response 

Manchester  Responded to say they had no data on gangs 

Blackpool  Failed to  respond 

Tameside  Very limited information provided  

Islington  Failed to respond 

Nottingham   Failed to respond 

Doncaster  Failed to respond 

Hull  Responded to say they had no data on gangs 

Essex   Partial Response 

Liverpool  Full response 

Reading  Partial Response 

Peterborough and Cambridgeshire  Partial Response 

Haringey  Failed to Respond 

Stoke-on-Trent & Staffordshire  Full response 

Knowsley  Partial Response 

Croydon  Full response 

Tower Hamlets  Partial Response 

Southwark  Partial Response 

Birmingham  Full Response 

Kent  Partial Response 

Hackney  Failed to Respond 

Salford  Very limited information provided  

Southend-on Sea  Very limited information provided  

Bradford  Failed to Respond 

Northumberland  Failed to Respond 

Newham  Full response  

                                                           
23 All rates per 1,000 children. Source: 2017/18 Child in Need Census, underlying data, year to March 2018. 

Page 74

Agenda Item 4



27 
 

Of those authorities who did respond, the quality of responses varied considerably. The most 

comprehensive information was provided by Liverpool, who were able to provide a detailed response 

which broke down gang identification between ‘Organised Crime Groups’ and ‘Urban Street Gangs’. 

Liverpool had mapped known affiliates of both, and often siblings, across different agencies. Similar 

definitions were used by Knowsley and Birmingham.  

These tended to be the exception. Some areas disputed whether this was a relevant issue for them. None 

of Manchester, Tameside, Salford, Southend and Hull had a current estimate of gang members in their 

area. One area said they could not provide any estimates because, while they had a population of children 

known to be associated with gangs, they could not distinguish between “perpetrators and victims” – in 

direct contradiction to the Ofsted/HMICFRS guidance that agencies need to recognise that children 

involved in gangs, in either capacity, were at risk.  

Across London and the regional South East areas, we found that local areas did have a working definition of 

gangs, and were aware of children who were meeting this definition and what agencies they were in 

contact with. This tended to be small numbers of children, and is discussed in more detail below. Some 

areas were also able to provide estimates for the number of siblings of these gang members, and some had 

a small cohort of children whom they knew to be on the fringes of gangs.     

Staffordshire was alone in estimating a larger population of children as gang members.   

Overall, the responses we received show that very small numbers of gang members are being identified 

locally. Some London boroughs with high-levels of gang violence estimated gang membership at a dozen 

children. Some large counties known to be hubs of county-lines activity identified less than twenty. Even 

large cities only estimated gang membership in the dozens. Staffordshire alone provided a much larger 

estimate of the number of children in gangs. Almost universally, local safeguarding boards based their 

estimate of gang membership on the number of children in contact with statutory agencies, normally Youth 

Offending Teams or Children’s Services. Our responses showed very little attempt to create a population 

level estimate of gang members within local areas.  

Only some areas had made an attempt to identify siblings. Some areas, such as Liverpool, were able to map 

what contact families had with different agencies. This meant they did know siblings, but only the relatively 

small numbers who were in contact with statutory agencies. Other areas provided a basic estimate based 

on known gang members.  

Identifying the wider population of gang members again proved problematic, with the estimates provided 

by local areas being universally low. In addition to Staffordshire, Birmingham, Essex and Croydon all 

identified a much larger population of children at the edge of gangs or at high-risk of criminal exploitation. 

A few areas, such as Reading, did identify and quantify the known risk indicators of criminal exploitation, 

such as registered missing episodes, but these had not been translated into an estimate for an at risk of 

population. We found little evidence that local areas have a working estimate of the number of children 

who are at heightened risk of gang exploitation.  

Because local areas base their estimates of gang members on the number of children in gangs who are 

accessing services, universally, local areas reported that 100% of their gang population is being supported 

by agencies. All areas responded that Youth Offending Teams and Children’s Services worked with gang 

members, within children’s services most areas specifically recognised the role of ‘early help’ and ‘troubled 

families’. The other agencies identified as part of the response was more varied. Only four areas identified 

the voluntary sector as being part of the response to gang risk. Given that some of the most effective 

interventions working directly with families and providing diversionary activities and support for teenagers 

are normally delivered by the voluntary sector, this is a particular concern.  

Page 75

Agenda Item 4



28 
 

Similarly, no response identified any interventions being provided or funded through public health, 

suggesting either a complete absence of a public-health approach, or a failure to co-ordinate between 

public health and safeguarding, despite both responsibilities sitting with local authorities. This is despite the 

national focus on the need for a ‘public health’ approach, building on the perceived success of the model 

adopted in Glasgow24, and the strong evidence behind a number of health-based interventions.  

Responding to Serious Incidents 
In addition to pro-actively coordinating a safeguarding response, local safeguarding boards also have a 

statutory duty to investigate when something has gone wrong, and a child has experienced serious harm or 

died. The death of any child has to be reviewed, and review occurs “so that bereaved families are 

supported in their grief, that other siblings and the wider public are protected from similar circumstances, 

and that reasons for the death are investigated”25. How this process works is in the process of change. The 

Children and Social Work Act 2017 introduced a new child death review process26, alongside replacement 

for Local Safeguarding Board, however the old process was in place for most of the period we have 

investigated. 

Under both systems, the type of review, and who leads it will depend on the circumstances in which the 

child dies. Normally, this will be either the Clinical Commissioning Group or local authority. Immediate 

oversight of this process is done by the ‘Child Death Overview Panel’, who in turn report to the Local 

Safeguarding Children’s Board (or its successor). Where a child either dies, or experiences serious harm, 

and abuse or neglect is suspected, then the Local Safeguarding Boards can instigate a serious case review 

(which has become a ‘Local child safeguarding practice reviews’). These are detailed investigations, led by a 

senior independent professional, who undertakes to find out the circumstances of a child death, and, 

crucially, what lessons agencies can learn to prevent future deaths occurring. These reviews are published, 

reviewed by the Department for Education27 and should be added to the NSPCC’s depository28 of serious 

case reviews. From April 2019 data on all child death reviews will be collated by NHS Digital.  

Serious case reviews are normally for deaths in a domestic situation, to review the response of 

safeguarding agencies. But they should apply equally to gang related deaths where previous abuse of the 

child involved is known or suspected. The statutory guidance on what constitutes abuse and neglect is 

explicit that it includes abuse or neglect outside the home, specifically including gangs and criminal 

exploitation. The current guidance states: “Children may be vulnerable to neglect and abuse or exploitation 

from within their family and from individuals they come across in their day-to-day lives. These threats can 

take a variety of different forms, including: sexual, physical and emotional abuse; neglect; exploitation by 

criminal gangs and organised crime groups; trafficking; online abuse; sexual exploitation and the influences 

of extremism leading to radicalisation.”29 

Sadly, over recent years there have been a number of violent deaths linked to gang violence30. Given the 

complexity of gang violence, and the high-levels of harm associated with gang affiliation, it is likely that any 

                                                           
24 https://www.economist.com/britain/2018/08/23/as-knife-crime-rises-in-england-police-look-to-glasgow  
25https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/627206/SFR36
_2017_Text.pdf  
26 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/16/part/1/chapter/2/crossheading/child-death-reviews/enacted  
27 Previously by the Serious Case Review Panel, https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/serious-case-review-panel 
and now by the Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel.  
28 https://learning.nspcc.org.uk/case-reviews/national-case-review-repository/  
29 Working Together 2018 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/729914/Workin
g_Together_to_Safeguard_Children-2018.pdf  
30 A central figure is not available. Child Death Overview data shows that in the year to March 2017 (the latest period 
for which data is available) there were 47 child deaths from deliberately inflicted injury or abuse and a further 210 

Page 76

Agenda Item 4

https://www.economist.com/britain/2018/08/23/as-knife-crime-rises-in-england-police-look-to-glasgow
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/627206/SFR36_2017_Text.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/627206/SFR36_2017_Text.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/16/part/1/chapter/2/crossheading/child-death-reviews/enacted
https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/serious-case-review-panel
https://learning.nspcc.org.uk/case-reviews/national-case-review-repository/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/729914/Working_Together_to_Safeguard_Children-2018.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/729914/Working_Together_to_Safeguard_Children-2018.pdf


29 
 

death caused by gang violence would meet the threshold for a serious case review. Yet there have been 

just four serious case reviews published into gang-related killings since 201531. One of these, the case of 

Chris, is summarised under Question 1 of this report. There are many common themes between the issues 

picked up by Chris’s serious case review and others. In all of the cases, the children had chaotic and 

unstable home lives, frequent but usually sporadic32 contact with different agencies and a complex set of 

emotional health issues, usually combined with SEND. All of the case reviews show how agencies could, and 

should, have identified and responded to risk factors earlier.  

While the Serious Case Reviews that have been conducted are extremely useful, it is not clear why more 

have not been conducted. The case reviews to date have all involved children with a long and complex 

history of involvement with agencies, not all children in gangs are on the radar to the same degree, and 

learning from these cases may be particularly helpful. There may be reviews underway which have yet to 

be published. Serious Case Reviews are complex and therefore lengthy, it is not uncommon for them to 

take in excess of 12-months to be published. Going forwards, there is a new system of oversight of these 

reviews, ahead of new child death review process entirely from April 201933. Nevertheless, we are 

concerned that the lack of serious case reviews since 2015 suggests that children who are killed by gangs 

are not always having their deaths properly investigated.  

In recognition of the particular issues posed by safeguarding adolescents engaged with gangs, the 

Department for Education has announced that the newly-established Child Safeguarding Practice Review 

Panel, will conduct its first national thematic review on ‘adolescents in need of state protection from 

criminal exploitation’. Specifically, this national review will seek to learn from the serious case reviews and 

‘local child safeguarding practice reviews’ and use these reviews to improve national-level understanding of 

the necessary response.  

  

                                                           
deaths from external trauma. https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/child-death-reviews-year-ending-31-march-
2017  
31 There were a total of 15 Serious Case Reviews published from 2015 to present where gangs were identified as a 
factor. Of these 4 related to child sexual exploitation, 4 to homicides, 2 to suicides and 1 to a drugs overdose. Two 
others were in respect of parental gang involvement being a factor in the death of an infant and one was conducted 
when a child killed an adult through gang involvement. Criminal exploitation did not come up in any serious case 
reviews.  
32 The exception being two of the case reviews which related to children in care.  
33 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-death-review-statutory-and-operational-guidance-england  

Page 77

Agenda Item 4

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/child-death-reviews-year-ending-31-march-2017
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/child-death-reviews-year-ending-31-march-2017
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-death-review-statutory-and-operational-guidance-england


30 
 

Question 6: What has been the national response to youth violence?  

As gang violence and criminal exploitation has increased over recent years, there have been a series of 

Government initiatives. The Serious Violence Strategy was published in April 2018, and the Serious Violence 

Taskforce has met monthly since. The Serious Violence Strategy alone identifies six different pots of 

funding. These include34: 

 £11 for a new Early Intervention Youth Fund35 

 £2m for a ‘Community Fund’ across 2018/19 and 2019/20 

 £3.6m funding the National Crime Agency and National Police Chiefs Council to develop a National 

County Lines Co‑ordination Centre 

 £40m of Big Lottery funding, delivered through the Department for Digital, Culture, Media and 

Sport (DCMS) to boost local ‘open access’ youth provision in six areas.  

 £90 million of dormant accounts money to support disadvantaged and disengaged young people 

with their transition to work  

 £13m over four years for the Trusted Relationships Fund to pilot approaches which provide support 

to young people at risk of child sexual exploitation, gang exploitation and peer abuse. 

Subsequently, the Government has also announced: 

 £200m for a Youth Endowment Fund, “a 10 year investment to support interventions steering 

young people away from becoming involved in violent crime or reoffending,”36 overseen by the 

Home Office. 

 A £5m ‘Supporting Families Against Youth Crime’ fund, overseen by the Ministry of Housing, 

Communities and Local Government.37 

 £2m for a research unit to look at child exploitation, trafficking, modern slavery and child sexual 

exploitation, overseen by the Department for Education.38 

While each of these projects is well-intentioned, it is not clear how this money is being translated into 

frontline action. We have heard numerous reports of stifling levels of bureaucracy connected to accessing 

funding. In one case, the Government is still running the bidding process, to appoint the organisation who 

will then administer the bidding process for areas wanting to access the funds39. One local authority 

reported to us months of negotiations to decide whether they would meet the eligibility criteria for another 

funding stream. All of this is taking valuable time and resource, both from those applying for and 

distributing the grants.  

Alongside the announcements, the Serious Violence Strategy also contained substantial research showing 

the need to invest in early intervention, prevention and therapeutic approaches to reducing youth violence. 

In particular, the report highlighted the effectiveness of40: 

                                                           
34https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/698009/seriou
s-violence-strategy.pdf  
35 This was subsequently reported to be £17m in the Government press release announcing the Youth Endowment 
Fund, see below.  
36 https://www.gov.uk/government/news/home-secretary-opens-bidding-process-for-youth-endowment-fund 
37https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/749843/Suppo
rting_Families_Against_Youth_Crime_Prospectus.pdf  
38 The Department has pledged £2m for a research unit to look at criminal exploitation alongside child sexual 
exploitation, trafficking and modern slavery38.  
39 The Home Office has announced a bidding process for organisations to apply to be the bid organisation for the 
Youth Endowment Fund. The bid organisation will then have to determine the exact process for bid applications.  
40 See ‘Box 4: Value for Money Interventions’ and ‘Box: 3 Targeted Interventions’ 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/698009/serious-
violence-strategy.pdf  

Page 78

Agenda Item 4

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/698009/serious-violence-strategy.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/698009/serious-violence-strategy.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/home-secretary-opens-bidding-process-for-youth-endowment-fund
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/749843/Supporting_Families_Against_Youth_Crime_Prospectus.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/749843/Supporting_Families_Against_Youth_Crime_Prospectus.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/698009/serious-violence-strategy.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/698009/serious-violence-strategy.pdf


31 
 

 Pre-school programmes 

 Multi-systemic therapy family therapy for families of children aged 12-17 with behaviour 

problems 

While the funding streams above may fund a few pilot schemes, the amount of funding provided to date is 

not commensurate with the number of families who need help. Moreover, the provision of such services 

would generally be delivered by local authorities’ children’s services teams or the NHS. Yet neither the 

Department for Education nor the Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) have made commitments 

in these areas within the Serious Violence Strategy.  

The Serious Violence Strategy is one of many sources to identify the importance of health services for 

reducing violence. In 2012, a Department of Health report found that youth violence costs the NHS £2.9bn 

a year, and stated that “programmes that support parents and families, develop life skills in children, work 

with high-risk youth and reduce the availability and misuse of alcohol have proven effective at reducing 

violence. Measures to ensure appropriate identification, care and support mechanisms are in place are 

important in minimising the harms caused by violence and reducing its recurrence.” Yet we have found no 

evidence that either NHS England, Public Health England or DHSC have taken steps to ensure that advice is 

translated into services being commissioned by health bodies in local areas.  

There are similar issues with the approach taken by the Department for Education, which is responsible for 

children’s services and safeguarding. The department has identified the approach required, but has not 

taken all the steps necessary to implement them. For example, it has recently updated the statutory 

safeguarding guidance, ‘Working Together’. The updated guidance places a much greater emphasis on 

external threats, including gangs and criminal exploitation; explicitly it recognises the need for “early help 

for a child who … is showing signs of being drawn into anti-social or criminal behaviour, including gang 

involvement and association with organised crime groups”41. The new guidance also stresses the 

importance of ‘contextual safeguarding’, which can be broadly defined as threats outside of the home, 

alongside domestic issues.  

The department has also taken steps to reform Local Safeguarding Children’s Boards. The new 

arrangements, which will come into effect in different areas from the beginning of 2019/20, are a 

safeguarding partnership between health, local authorities and the police. This partnership, into which 

other education providers can be co-opted, has been set up to co-ordinate “their safeguarding services; act 

as a strategic leadership group in supporting and engaging others; and implement local and national 

learning including from serious child safeguarding incidents”42. All of these measures put local institutions 

on a better footing to protect children from gang violence. 

Again, however, there are resourcing issues, limiting the degree to which these measures are translated 

into frontline action. While it is welcome that the Department for Education recognises the importance of 

‘early help’43, it has not ensured that local authorities have the resources to provide this. Children’s services 

are extremely stretched at present, with the Local Government Association forecasting a £3bn funding gap 

by 202544. Within the context of limited budgets, the Department for Education has focused on the 

provision of statutory services, not early help, which is excluded from the ‘activity data’ which the 

                                                           
41 Working Together, pg 14 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/778224/Workin
g_Together_to_Safeguard_Children_2018.pdf  
42 http://www.workingtogetheronline.co.uk/chapters/chapter_three.html#sg_part  
43 Within children’s services, ‘early help’ is a broad term to cover support given to children or families who have not 
reached the threshold for statutory intervention.  
44 https://www.local.gov.uk/about/campaigns/bright-futures/bright-futures-childrens-services/childrens-services-
funding-facts  

Page 79

Agenda Item 4

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/778224/Working_Together_to_Safeguard_Children_2018.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/778224/Working_Together_to_Safeguard_Children_2018.pdf
http://www.workingtogetheronline.co.uk/chapters/chapter_three.html#sg_part
https://www.local.gov.uk/about/campaigns/bright-futures/bright-futures-childrens-services/childrens-services-funding-facts
https://www.local.gov.uk/about/campaigns/bright-futures/bright-futures-childrens-services/childrens-services-funding-facts


32 
 

Department collects. This means that the Department for Education does not know how many families 

receive early help, how this is changing, or whether expanding or maintaining early help costs or saves 

money.  

Alongside early help, some families with children involved in, or at risk of involvement in, gangs will be 

supported by the Troubled Families programme. This was identified by the Serious Violence Strategy and 

highlighted by several of the local safeguarding boards from whom we requested data. There are over 

400,000 children in families who received some support through the Troubled Families programme last 

year45. However, all funding for the programme is due to end at the end of the next financial year. As the 

scheme is funded and administered by local authorities, they have reported to us that they need to plan for 

the closure of the scheme (including redundancy costs) out of their budgets for 2019/20.  

The other area where there has been a lack of action from the Government has been in early years. 

Research from both the Early Intervention Foundation46 as well as the Serious Violence Strategy have both 

highlighted the effectiveness of interventions before children start school in preventing future engagement 

in youth violence. Yet these have not been central to the policy response from Government. Previous 

research by the Children’s Commissioner47 has identified two serious issues within the pre-school 

population which mean that too many children start school at a significant disadvantage compared to their 

classmates: 

1) Around 13% of children meet fewer than half of the expected development indicators upon starting 

school. This indicates low levels of development across both physical and emotional development, 

which place children at a huge educational disadvantage and increases their risk of marginalisation 

within and beyond education.  

2) Very poor levels of SEN identification prior to children starting school. This means that many 

conditions which could be effectively treated or supported before a child falls out of the school 

system, are effectively being missed. 

There are many effective interventions which could these include parenting programmes, systemic family 

therapy and speech and language therapy48. The latter has been the intervention most often raised with us 

in the course of this research. About 9% of 5 year olds have a speech or communication problem: 80% of 

which stem from a child’s environment. Untreated, the inability to communicate often develops into 

frustration, poor emotional regulation and then emotional health problems. There is clear research 

showing the impact this has on in-school and life-time attainment. More than 60% of children in Young 

Offenders Institutes have a diagnosable communication problem49. The provision of speech and language 

therapy is a shared responsibility between the NHS and local authorities, through arrangements that have 

been heavily criticised by the CQC and Ofsted50. In addition to funding, many local areas have told us they 

are restricting access to speech and language therapy because of staff shortages. The Children’s 

Commissioner is currently undertaking the first ever nationwide audit of the provision of speech and 

language therapy to understand what is provided by whom, does it varies across the country. This will be 

published in 2019.  

                                                           
45 https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Summary-Table-Annex-1-to-
Vulnerability-2018-Overview-Report.pdf  
46 https://www.eif.org.uk/report/preventing-gang-and-youth-violence-spotting-signals-of-risk-and-supporting-
children-and-young-people/  
47 https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/Growing-Up-North-March-2018-2.pdf  
48 See both the EIF research above and the Serious Violence Strategy (as before) 
49 See https://www.rcslt.org/speech-and-language-therapy#section-7 and 
https://eresearch.qmu.ac.uk/bitstream/handle/20.500.12289/1057/eResearch_1057.pdf  
50 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-area-send-inspections-information-for-families  

Page 80

Agenda Item 4

https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Summary-Table-Annex-1-to-Vulnerability-2018-Overview-Report.pdf
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Summary-Table-Annex-1-to-Vulnerability-2018-Overview-Report.pdf
https://www.eif.org.uk/report/preventing-gang-and-youth-violence-spotting-signals-of-risk-and-supporting-children-and-young-people/
https://www.eif.org.uk/report/preventing-gang-and-youth-violence-spotting-signals-of-risk-and-supporting-children-and-young-people/
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/Growing-Up-North-March-2018-2.pdf
https://www.rcslt.org/speech-and-language-therapy#section-7
https://eresearch.qmu.ac.uk/bitstream/handle/20.500.12289/1057/eResearch_1057.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-area-send-inspections-information-for-families


33 
 

Translating these numerous national-level initiatives into practical change to improve the lives of 

vulnerable children is undermined both by fragmentation between the numerous different project streams, 

and between government departments. While the Home Office leads on county lines, gang violence and 

criminal exploitation, the government’s own research suggests that it is health and family-level 

interventions which have the greatest impact, and the Department for Education holds the national lead 

for protecting children. While the Home Office has established the Serious Violence Taskforce to bring 

together ministers from key department with other stakeholders, this Taskforce now has to bring about the 

cohesive national action plan which was envisaged when it launched.  

The joint inspectorates of Ofsted, HMI Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services (HMICFRS), the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) and HMI Probation have demonstrated that more cohesive working between national 
bodies is possible. These agencies have come together to produce excellent research on what is needed to 
keep children safe51. This report was informed by joint area inspections in three areas, looking at the 
response of all agencies52. Given the response from local areas we received to inform this report (see 
discussion under Question 5), we believe there is a clear need for these joint-area inspections to continue.  

  

                                                           
51 https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/news/news-feed/criminal-exploitation-and-county-lines-learn-
from-past-mistakes-report-finds/ (also discussed under Question 6) 
52 For an explanation of how these inspections work see 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/680088/Child_s
exual_exploitation_gangs_and_children_missing_from_home_care_or_education_joint_targeted_inspection_guidanc
e.pdf  

Page 81

Agenda Item 4

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/news/news-feed/criminal-exploitation-and-county-lines-learn-from-past-mistakes-report-finds/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/news/news-feed/criminal-exploitation-and-county-lines-learn-from-past-mistakes-report-finds/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/680088/Child_sexual_exploitation_gangs_and_children_missing_from_home_care_or_education_joint_targeted_inspection_guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/680088/Child_sexual_exploitation_gangs_and_children_missing_from_home_care_or_education_joint_targeted_inspection_guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/680088/Child_sexual_exploitation_gangs_and_children_missing_from_home_care_or_education_joint_targeted_inspection_guidance.pdf


34 
 

Question 7: How do we keep children safe from gang violence? 

As this report shows, gangs will exploit any vulnerabilities that a child or their family possess. Combatting 

this is complex, and will depend on the child. There will be a range of different responses needed. But the 

basic premise from which all these interventions work an understanding of the child’s situation and at least 

one person working with them consistently. The children who are most vulnerable are either those invisible 

to authorities, or those like Chris, whose case we discuss under Question 2, who was known to numerous 

agencies none of which had developed a relationship with him. 

This report outlines the system-level response needed to identify these children and to ensure they are not 

left isolated and invisible. Crucial to this is recognising the importance of direct and trusting relationships 

which enable children to change their behaviour and seek help. The box below explains this.  

 

  

“Good gang prevention work is like losing weight” 
Children involved in gangs often make poor decisions in terms of who to hang out with and what actions 

to take. Often, they are just taking the easiest decision available to them. But once they enter a gang’s 

orbit, they enter a spiral where the decisions that will withdraw them from the gang become harder and 

harder to make.  

Vulnerable children are not alone in making poor decisions. As one professional pointed out to us, most 

office workers know they should stay away from the biscuit tin, but that does not mean they do it. Most 

office workers can take the odd biscuit without developing a problem, just as most children can be 

naughty occasionally, and take a risk, without ending up in gang.  

But there are a minority for whom those decisions have very poor consequences. The morbidly obese 

for whom food because a real threat. The vulnerable children for whom a series of bad decisions 

becomes a lifestyle. These people need help in changing their behaviour. Yet in neither situation does 

castigating the individual work. Instead, we have to promote positive behaviour, and provide clear 

alternatives. Effective weight-loss programmes work because it offers that alternative, along with the 

belief and encouragement that it can be done. The same needs to be offered for children in gangs.  

Crucial to success is the social aspect, where groups of adults offer encouragement to one another. Yet 

vulnerable children often don’t have this. Their relationship with family is often fractured, and once 

isolated within school or excluded, they don’t have a trusting professional relationship – while their 

peers are encouraging dangerous activity. The case of Chris, covered under Question 1, showed a child 

known to multiple agencies but without a trusted relationship with any one of them.  

If we want to empower children to be resilient to the lure of gangs and make different choices, we need 

to ensure they have a relationship that enables positive decisions. The choices children will need to 

make are hard. Avoiding a gang may mean forgoing an entire social life, becoming isolated and enduring 

the risk of physical violence. Vulnerable children won’t make these choices alone. There are numerous 

gang intervention projects which can work: they might use youth work, sports clubs, music or education 

settings in which to develop these relationships.  

The task for the authorities is to identify what types of interventions work, and ensure they are 

available to the children who need them.  

 

Page 82

Agenda Item 4



35 
 

Step 1: Take a life-course approach 
As this report shows, gang membership is complex, and those recruiting children are ruthless. Once a child 

is within a gang, extracting them is not straightforward. It is much easier to stop children becoming 

involved in gangs than it is to get them out. To achieve this we need a ‘life-course’ approach recognising 

that while a child may be drawn into a gang as an adolescent, the underlying reasons why they were 

susceptible almost certainly appeared years earlier. Below are some of the key points for intervention:53  

Early Years 
 
 
 
 

 

 Parental mental health is vital for babies and young children’s development.  
 Conduct problems can emerge as early as 2-3 years old and are closely related to poor 

emotional regulation. They are estimated to account for 80% of crime54. 
 Less than half of the children with special educational needs have these identified 

before primary school, which often makes conditions harder to treat.  
 There are a whole range of family-based programmes to help children with emotional 

regulation and mental health. The Serious Violence Strategy estimates that for each £1 
spent on the programme £1.61 of benefits were estimated split between increased 
earnings, reduced crime and improved educational outcomes55 

The start of 
school 

 About 9% of 5 year olds have a speech or communication problem: 80% of which stem 
from a child’s environment.  

 13% of children have such low levels of development that they fail to meet more than 
half of their development checks at the beginning of primary school.  

Primary 
school 

 Permanent exclusions from primary schools have risen by 67% since 2012/13. Children 
excluded from school by age 12 are 4 times more likely to be in prison by age 2456 

 Research from the Early Intervention Foundation found that emotional health at age 7 
was a key predictor of future gang involvement. The Series Violence Strategy 
emphasises the importance of family-therapy approaches for this age group.   

 Schools report to us that young children are routinely turned away from CAMHS 
because they are not deemed to have a diagnosable mental health condition, even if 
they display extreme symptoms. 

Secondary 
school 

 Vulnerable children often find the transition to secondary school hard, as the limited 
number of close relationships at primary school are replaced by a large number of 
much briefer relationships.  

 There were 6,385 permanent exclusions from secondary school in 2016/17; up from 
3,905 since in 2012/13 

 Youth services have been cut by 60% since 201057. Yet children aged 13-15 are the 
most likely to be spending large amount of times sedentary or online. Children tell us 
this often because of a lack of safe-spaces or activities to play in58.  

 Less than a third of children with a diagnosable mental health condition are receiving 
support from CAMHS59 

16-18  The education leaving age is now 18; yet nationally 5% of children aged 16-18 are not 
in education of training. In some cities it twice this60. 

                                                           
53 All figures are from elsewhere in this report unless otherwise referenced. 
54 https://www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/the-chance-of-a-lifetime  
55https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/698009/seriou
s-violence-strategy.pdf p44 
56 https://www.ed.ac.uk/news/2013/exclusionprison-280213  
57 https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/publication/public-spending-on-children/  
58 https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/Play-final-report.pdf  
59 https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/childrens-mental-health-briefing-nov-
2018.pdf  
60 Children’s Commissioner, Growing up North, as above.  

Page 83

Agenda Item 4

https://www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/the-chance-of-a-lifetime
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/698009/serious-violence-strategy.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/698009/serious-violence-strategy.pdf
https://www.ed.ac.uk/news/2013/exclusionprison-280213
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/publication/public-spending-on-children/
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/Play-final-report.pdf
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/childrens-mental-health-briefing-nov-2018.pdf
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/childrens-mental-health-briefing-nov-2018.pdf


36 
 

Step 2: Make contacts count 
There are many points where support for a child or family can reduce the risk of them joining a gang. At 

each of these points there are services tasked with working with these families, and the key is ensuring 

these services are used.  

 Maternity: improving mental health access for new mothers and parents of young children is 

crucial to helping a child’s development.   

 Health visitors need to identify vulnerable families, develop supportive relationships and refer 

families into other support when needed.  

 Pre-School:  

1. Nurseries: The 40% most disadvantaged 2 year olds, and all 3 year olds, are eligible for 

some free childcare we need to make these contacts count, and use the early-years 

learning identified in the Serious Violence Strategy.  

2. All children should now have a health-check aged 2½, this check could include Strengths 

and Difficulties Questionnaires (SDQ) to screen for emerging emotional health or 

behavioural problems, as well as looking for communication issues.  

3. To improve school readiness and help vulnerable children we need to improve SEND 

identification pre-school. Nurseries and health-visitors have a key-role to play in this.  

 Schools need to keep children in school by responding to challenging behaviour and additional 

needs. Action needs to be taken to combat schools who persistently exclude or off-roll.  

 For children who are out of school, local authorities needs to respond swiftly with a plan to get kids 

back into education, including 16-18s.  

 When children go missing the ‘return home interview’ needs to be better utilised to understand 

why a child has gone missing and where they have been.  

 CAMHS play a central role in stopping children becoming marginalised and isolated due to mental 

health problems, anxieties or problems with emotional regulation. The NHS should focus on: 

4. Improving access so fewer children are turned away.  

5. Ensuring that services are commissioned which meet the needs of under 11s.  

6. Providing family based approaches – like systemic family therapy – which have a strong 

evidence base. 

 Youth services can be a vital safety net for children out of other services, or needing diversion 

from gang activity.  

 All children need safe activities, and space to play. Sports clubs are particularly important.  

 Looked after children are particularly vulnerable to grooming from gangs, and this is even 

more so when they experience placement upheaval, and end up out of school. 

 The police need to understand what is going on within communities so that local level 

intelligence on crime, anti-social behaviour and threats informs a cross-system safeguarding 

approach.    

 Once children end up within the youth justice system we focus on what happens to them on 

release from custody.  

 

Page 84

Agenda Item 4



37 
 

Step 3: Local-level identification and co-ordination 
Co-ordinating all the agencies working with children and families is the responsibility of local children’s 

safeguarding boards (LCSB), and their successors. Most of the bodies who need to act are statutory ones, 

meaning they need to co-operate with the LCSB and comply with the Working Together safeguarding 

guidance referenced in this report, which explicitly states the importance of protecting children from gangs.  

Putting this into practice requires a paradigm shift in the way agencies consider children involved with 

gangs. We need widespread recognition that children at risk from gangs are a safeguarding concern and 

need the protection of the law, in the same way as children at risk from within the home or from child 

sexual exploitation. For this to happen, local areas need to: 

Recognise gangs as a key issue 
There are statutory agencies and structures in place for both safeguarding and public health with clear 

structures, processes and responsibilities. These bodies to recognise that gang violence and criminal 

exploitation is part of their core business.   

Identify the children in need 
As this report has exposed, those responsible for safeguarding have identified a tiny fraction of the 

estimated number of children in or on the periphery of gangs. Knowing how many children are in danger is 

the vital pre-requisite for planning and co-ordinating the response. Local areas need to: 

1. Use local level indicators61 to devise a population level-estimate of the number children in gangs, 
on the periphery of gangs or being criminally exploited by gangs. This should be done as part of the 
Joint Strategic Needs Assessments that all local authorities are required to produce.  

2. Map this against the known population of gang-associated children to estimate the number of 
‘invisible’ children: those who are in gangs but not known to those who need to keep them safe.  

3. Work with partners – schools, health and community organisations – to identify who these invisible 
children are.  
 

Know what is happening  
The way vulnerable children are treated by the state will have a big impact on the likelihood of them 

entering a gang. Excluding children from school, off-rolling them, turning them away from CAMHS, and 

failing to diagnose and treat special educational needs, all exacerbate children’s risks. The contribution of 

health bodies is crucial in mitigating these risks and it vital they realise this responsibility. Safeguarding 

boards needs to know what is happening and challenge the agencies who are not stepping-up. The new 

safeguarding oversight bodies have much greater power to do this than their predecessors.  

Co-ordinate the implementation  
As this report shows, it is when children fall through the gaps in the system (school exclusion, missed SEND, 

etc.) that they become most vulnerable. The only way to counter this is effective joint action between the 

different agencies working with children. Schools, children’s services, police and the NHS need to be 

working together proactively, not passing children from agency to agency. In particular, it is important that 

a vulnerable child has consistency of relationships throughout this process, and therefore it is the children 

outside of the system, without this consistency, who will require bespoke provision to help them access 

other services and gain some stability.  

                                                           
61 This could include survey-data on gang membership along with key risk indicators such as children going missing, 
child victims of crime, or involved in criminality, attendance at A&E etc.  

Page 85

Agenda Item 4



38 
 

Step 4: National level response 

Overall, we have found that the Government’s response to serious violence has identified what is needed, 

but has not yet done enough to ensure that the necessary services are put in place. These are the actions 

we believe are needed to plug the gaps in what has been provided to date: 

1) The Government needs to be clear that child criminal exploitation is a national priority, and lay out 

clear expectations for all the organisations working with children - including the police, schools, 

children’s services and NHS bodies - as to their role. While the Department for Education has put in 

place the structures to achieve this, the practice is yet to match the theory. Individual agencies 

need to be proactive partners not just passive refers. To achieve this, the Department should: 

a. Be much more explicit about the role of Local Safeguarding Childrens Boards (LCSBs), and 

their successor bodies, in relation to gangs.  

b. Put more resources into improving knowledge of best practice around interventions for 

children in gangs, including adolescents at high-risk of absconding from care.  

c. Respond to the forthcoming Exclusions Review by ensuring that schools realise the 

safeguarding implications of excluding children, and are held responsible for these.  

2) The joint inspections from Ofsted, HMIC, the CQC and Probation Inspectorate have been invaluable 

in identifying what is needed in terms of combating child criminal exploitation. This report 

recommends that the joint inspections be rolled-out to all areas, starting with the high-risk areas 

who were unable to respond to our data request for this report. The Department for Education and 

Home Office should provide the funding to enable this.  

3) There needs to be a much greater focus on the early years within the Serious Violence Strategy. 

Specifically the Department for Education should set a clear target for reducing the number of 

children beginning school with very low levels of development, along with a strategy for how this 

can be done, and introduce a national plan for improving SEND identification in the early years.  

4) The NHS and Public Health England needs to recognise the importance of health-delivered 

interventions for combatting youth violence. Health bodies need to be proactive safeguarding 

partners, working to reduce risks, not just reporting them to other agencies. Specifically, there 

needs to be: specific referral processes to prioritise CAMHS services for those at risk of gang 

membership and exclusion; greater focus on CAMHS access and services for under-11s (who may 

have conduct problems or issues with emotional regulation which may not be recognised by 

existing services) and processes in place to ensure that services are commissioned for families, 

including family therapy approaches for young children.  

5) The forthcoming closure of the Troubled Families programme represents a serious threat to the 

support offered to many of the families with greatest gang risk. The government urgently needs to 

commit to the programme for 2020/21 to stop closure processes beginning from March 2019. 

Long-term, the future of a family-based approach needs to be ensured and developed.  

6) The Department for Education needs to review what level of youth services are required to meet 

the needs of adolescents at risk of gang violence, many of whom will fall within the remit of Section 

17 of the Children’s Act 1989, and ensure that local authorities have the resources necessary to 

provide this.  

7) The Department for Education needs to recognise the importance of ‘Early Help’ services within 

children’s services, and ensure local authorities have the resources available to provide early help 

to those with high gang risks. This starting point for this needs to be an understanding of how many 

families are currently in receipt of early help services, and what those services are. 

  

Page 86

Agenda Item 4



39 
 

 

 

 

Children’s Commissioner for England  

Sanctuary Buildings  

20 Great Smith Street  

London  

SW1P 3BT  

 

Tel: 020 7783 8330  

Email: info.request@childrenscommissioner.gov.uk  

Visit: www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk  

Twitter: @ChildrensComm  

 

Page 87

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Sefton Safer Communities Partnership

Report Title: Sefton Safer Communities Partnership 2018/19 Final Outturn 

Report from: Ian Willman, Service Manager - Localities  Sefton MBC

Date: 13 June 2019

Purpose of the Report

1. The purpose of this report is to provide the Sefton Safer Communities Partnership (SSCP) 
with the outturn performance for 2018/19 in respect of the Community Safety Fund. The 
report will include, where possible, data but more importantly case studies from our 
particular activities which have been commissioned by the SSCP and the impact this has 
had on our residents and communities. 

2. Background

2.1 The SSCP received £332,000 in Community Safety Funding for the financial year 2018/19.

2.2 The SSCP’s overall aim and objective was to work together in partnership to find 
innovative and effective programmes and solutions to our local issues in the short to 
medium term. 

2.3 The Cabinet Member for Communities and Housing, who has lead responsibility for 
Community Safety in Sefton, is chair of the SSCP. In the financial year 2018/19, the Chair 
oversaw four SSCP meetings where an overview of the programmes of work 
commissioned was monitored.

3. What has been delivered

3.1 The SSCP invested the Police and Crime Commissioner’s Crime and Disorder Reduction 
Grant in seven outcomes. A brief summary is provided here but monitoring and outcomes 
data are provided in more detail in the Appendices.

3.2 Community Infrastructure

The SSCP has invested in two new projects within the community this year. Merseyside 
Fire and Rescue Service is delivering a Street Intervention Team that is working in Hot 
Spot areas, engaging with businesses and community groups and offering alternatives to 
groups of young people they come across in these areas. The 5 Steps to Stay safe 
programme is working in schools with Children in year 7 teaching the skills to be able to 
stay safe and have healthy friendships.

3.3 Community Reassurance

In response to the increase reported incidents of “Cuckooing” the SSCP supported 
Merseyside Police to deliver a targeted operation to identify and then safeguard vulnerable 
members of the community.

Page 89

Agenda Item 5



The SSCP supported diversionary activities in hotspot areas during the Bonfire and 
Halloween period and other activities across the year.

3.4 Domestic and Sexual Abuse

The SSCP agreed to contribute to the Pan Merseyside sexual violence support services 
contract being led by the Office of the Police Crime Commissioner (OPCC).  This 
contribution is match funded by Sefton Council and goes towards Independent Sexual 
Violence Advocates (ISVA) and counselling services support provided by RASA.  Funding 
was also allocated to supporting the refresh and relaunch of the Commit 2 Change 
perpetrator programme, previously known as No Xcuses, following its review by Respect 
last year. 

3.5 Serious and Organised Crime

The SSCP has approved the continued work between Merseyside Police and Sefton 
Council expanding the reach of the Scrambler Project. The SSCP has supported various 
operations and joint projects with Merseyside Police that protect the most vulnerable from 
cuckooing, reducing the ability for Criminal Gangs to operate within the community, and 
gather intelligence that leads to the disruption of Organised Criminal Gangs.The Get Away 
N Get Safe project was commissioned for another year.

3.6     Vulnerable Victims including Hate Crime

Hate Crime training continues for council staff and partners which was supported by the 
SSCP.

The SSCP funded Sefton Libraries to develop a tailored programme of activities 
associated with vulnerable victims and hate crime. The programme is engaging with local 
Syrian refugees and helping to assimilate the families into the local community in order to 
prevent isolation and vulnerability.

3.7 Anti-Social Behaviour

3.7.1 Positive Futures 

The SSCP agreed to a continuance of funding for the Positive Futures programme. This 
programme is designed to minimise the impact of Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) on our 
communities. The activities ranged from addressing low-levels of ASB to working with 
young people engaged in serious and organised crime activity.

3.7.2 Youth Offending Service 

The SSCP agreed to a continuance of funding for the Youth Offending programme. This 
programme’s key deliverable was to triage activities (known as Community Resolution 
Interventions) to reduce the number of first-time entrants and support those at risk of 
engaging in criminal/ anti-social and serious and organised crime activity.

3.8 Child Criminal Exploitation

The SSCP agreed to fund the production of further materials to raise awareness of child 
criminal exploitation and officers delivered training sessions to professionals in conjunction 
of the roll out of the Pan Merseyside CE1 and CE2 referral mechanism.

Page 90

Agenda Item 5



4. Funding allocated in 2018/19

The table below outlines the finances for the above. It should be noted that this does not 
include all the Partnership expenditure – the funding represents a percentage of the 
investment committed by partners through mainstream budgets as well as additional 
funding streams (such as direct from the Home Office). 

Expenditure Category:-
Budgeted 

Expenditure

£

Actual 
Expenditure 

to date
£

Variance 

£

Anti-Social Behaviour 100,200.00 100,200.00 0.0
Domestic Abuse 29,800.00 29,800.00 0.0
Vulnerable People including Hate 
Crime

10,300.00 10,300.00 0.0

Community Infrastructure 57,083.36 57,083.36 0.0
Community Resilience 55,000.00 55,000.00 0.0
Organised Crime Groups 64,616.64 64,616.64 0.0
Child Criminal Exploitation 5,000.00 5,000.00 0.0

Total Expenditure
322,000.00 322,000.00 0.0

5. What difference have we made?

          Please see Annex 1.

  6. Additional Partner Reports

          Please see Annex 2. We have provided reports from:

 New Commit to Change programme promotional materials
 GetAwayNGetSafe (GANGS) project
 Mersey Fire and Rescue Service Street Intervention Team
 Early intervention and prevention youth provision

7. Conclusion

The Crime and Disorder Reduction Grant has contributed to a number of successes in 
Sefton. The Partnership are using the outcomes and monitoring data (where available) to 
inform its investment priorities for 2019/20 and the development of other strategic 
priorities, such as Sefton’s serious violence strategy. 

Page 91

Agenda Item 5



Annex 1- Key Deliverables

Activity Expected Outcomes Performance Comments

Anti-Social 
Behaviour

Positive Futures

(£35,200)

Minimise impact of ASB 
on our communities.
 
Improved outcomes for 
individuals.

60 Park nights sessions took place 
across Sefton, taking place in identified 
communities and attracting over 560 
participants across the programme, with 
young people regularly attending weekly 
sessions and a rewards system was in 
place to reward regular attendance so 
retention rates were high.   

 

140 targeted young people attended an 
Ibiza pool party at Bootle Leisure 
Centres part of the rewards programme.

 

18 participants attending water sports 
taster sessions as part of the three 
wards programme for their regular 
attendance.

 

 

180 children were engaged in Water 
sports as part of the Scrambler Bike 
Project.

The Partnership agreed to continuance 
funding for Active Sefton to tackle issues 
ranging from low-level ASB to working with 
young people engaging in gang activity in the 
most deprived areas of Sefton. 

The programme focused on being attractive to 
the key age group of 8-16 and specifically 
targeted areas where ASB reported was high 
using information from the police and parks 
officers.

The use of a range of outdoor activities and 
providing specialist support we have been able 
to equip young people with the necessary 
skills to be able to engage with mainstream 
society and avoid association with ASB. 

In partnership with Merseyside Police, 
additional funding was awarded through the 
Proceeds of Crime fund to develop a 12-
month, youth diversionary, and ‘Park Nights’ 
project.

P
age 92

A
genda Item

 5



 

448 leisure passes administered by 
Looked After children & Young People

 

40 week Kicks programme delivered in 
partnership with Liverpool FC through 
providing weekly term time football 
diversionary sessions attracting 8-18 
year old on Friday nights in Netherton 
and personal development sessions 
during school holidays.

Strong partnerships have been established 
with local police teams, locality teams and 
delivery partners such as Liverpool FC 
foundation and Southport FC.

Anti-Social 
Behaviour 

Youth Offending 
Service

(£65,000)

Reduce numbers of first 
time entrants into criminal 
justice system.

Reduce percentage of 
triage cases reoffending 
compared to non-triage 
case.

The Performance of the Youth Offending 
Team (YOT) is benchmarked with local 
and national YOTs and more 
increasingly is measured against its 
‘YOT family’. The Youth Justice Board 
(YJB) identify YOT families by grouping 
those YOTs that appear similar in terms 
of the socio-demographic characteristics. 

Our YOT family size is 10 YOTs. YJB 
YOT performance centres on several 
main areas; re-offending rates, first time 
entrants into the youth justice system 
and custody.  The current re-offending 
rate is 47.7%, which is higher than our 
‘family’ average of 43.2% and the 
Merseyside average of 46.1%. The 
performance data for Sefton YOT has 

The Partnership agreed to continuance 
funding for the Youth Offending and 
Prevention Service to triage activities to 
reduce numbers of first time entrants and 
support those at risk of engaging in criminal/ 
anti-social/ gang related behaviour.

Targeted Youth Prevention works to the 
criteria of:

Risk of becoming first time entrants to the 
Youth Justice System
Anti-social behaviour
Child sexual exploitation (where CAS or 
Catch 22 not involved)
Criminal exploitation
Low level mental health
Drug misuse
Exposure to domestic violence

P
age 93

A
genda Item

 5



been very good over a long period of 
time, but this marks a decline compared 
to the previous quarter data and will 
require some analysis of long-term 
trends. What we do know is while there 
has been an increase in offending rates 
and a slight increase in the reoffending 
frequency, the YOT has been effective at 
reducing the total number of offences 
committed by those who re-offend. 
Sefton’s prevention strategies continue 
to perform with other comparable 
prevention services in Merseyside and in 
the North West in terms of reducing the 
number of first time entrants (FTE’s)

We have looked at the court outcome for 
every offence committed in this period 
and has found them to be commensurate 
i.e it was not appropriate for them to be 
diverted to an out of court disposal. The 
first-time entrants can also be affected 
by other factors such as police 
operations, which it appears may have 
an impact on the previous period. Local 
tracking of FTE has been completed to 
scrutinise more recent FTE and this has 
found a reduction in FTE. The number of 
FTE’s has significantly reduced from 
70.3% in 2017/18 to 61.4% in 2018/19 
compared with the baseline 2010/11.

As anticipated analysis of performance 
from the last quarter seen a further 

Perpetrator of domestic violence

Multi-agency working is a key part of delivery. 
Prevention and substance misuse 
interventions. The service co-works with a 
wide variety of agencies such as health, 
education and social care.

Whole family working is a key part of Targeted 
Youth Prevention delivery. Working in a 
holistic way with a family supports the 
effectiveness of interventions that are made.

A report outlining the activities of the Youth 
Delivery element of Early intervention 
(previously the Youth Service) is included in 
the appendix

P
age 94

A
genda Item

 5



decrease in the number of FTE’s from 11 
in Q3 to 6 in Q4, in keeping with our 
good track record in this area.   Sefton 
continue to have reductions, during 
2018/19 there were a total of 44 first time 
entrants compared to 62 during 2017/18 
and 64 in 2016/17.  

Sefton’s custody rate is 0.04, the lowest 
rate over the last five years. 
Performance compares extremely well 
when compared to the North West 0.41, 
Merseyside 0.36 and the YOT family 
average 0.18. Sefton the lowest rate of 
custody amongst the Merseyside YOTs 
and performance is extremely good 
within the ranking of the YOT family

The total number of Remand Episodes in 
2018/19 have continued to show a 
significant reduction with 111 Remand 
Episodes compared to 149 in 2017/18 
and 179 in 2016/17 

The number of Remands in Custody in 
2018/19 have reduced to 0 compared 
with 1 Remand in Custody in 2017/18 
and 2 Remands in Custody 2016/17, the 
lowest figure since 2012/13 of 28.

This is particularly important given the 
number of safeguarding concerns we 
have had for young people in custody as 
well as the significant financial 

P
age 95

A
genda Item

 5



implications for the council funding beds 
within the secure estate. This places our 
custody rate at 0.04 comparing very well 
to Merseyside at 0.36 and 0.18 with our 
YOT family. Our performance here is 
exceptionally good and is the lowest 
custody rate within our YOT family. 

The total number of Court Disposals in 
2018/19 have shown a reduction with 
140 Court Disposals compared to 164 in 
2017/18 and 150 in 2016/17.  

The number of Custodial Sentences 
have continued to reduce, there were 3 
in 2018/19 compared to 4 in 2017/18 and 
6 in 2016/17 the lowest figure of 
Custodial Sentences since 2011/12 of 
45.

Domestic and 
Sexual Abuse
(£29,800)

Specialist service in 
Sefton to support victims 
of sexual violence and 
abuse – ISVA and 
counselling services 
support.  

A quality assured support 
offer for perpetrators of 
domestic abuse in Sefton 
which meets an accepted 
national standard and 
keeps victims and children 

This a joint partnership contract between 
the OPCC, NHS England and four of the 
Merseyside Local authorities. The 
contract is being managed by the OPCC 
on behalf of all the commissioning 
agencies and coordinates the 
performance monitoring requirements. 

The Domestic Abuse Executive Group 
oversaw the development of a 
programme action plan using the 
recommendations from the Respect led 
review of No Xcuses. 

The Council has match funded the Community 
Safety Fund contribution, giving a total 
contribution of £50,000 from Sefton. This is 
double the investment in sexual violent support 
services of the previous two years.

It was originally agreed for a contribution to be 
made towards a sexual violence campaign 
across the Merseyside area being led by 
Merseyside Police and Liverpool Council. 
However, due to issues with feedback about 
the campaign design and content, this did not 
go ahead. 

P
age 96

A
genda Item

 5



and the forefront of 
service delivery.  
 

Engagement with partner support 
agencies has taken place (IDVA and 
SWACA) to ensure their commitment to 
the programme continues.

Relaunch of the programme under a new 
name Commit 2 Change and redesign of 
promotional materials (see Annex 2). 
Funding used to support programme 
delivery to expand the criteria to include 
Early Help cases, thereby increasing the 
offer for perpetrator support in Sefton. 
New programme information promoted 
and circulated across the partnership, 
including team briefings with Council 
teams working with families to ensure 
appropriate referrals are made. A new 
performance management framework 
has been developed which will enable us 
to report on programme outcomes. 

Instead, this funding has been used to support 
the relaunch of Sefton’s behaviour change 
programme for male perpetrators of domestic 
abuse. This follows on from last year when the 
No Xcuses programme was reviewed by 
Respect, which was funded via the Community 
Safety Fund. 

Vulnerable 
people including 
Hate Crime

(£10,300)

Raise the awareness of 
hate crime across the 
Borough.

Support vulnerable 
individuals within our 
community.

Keep messages simple 
and clear. (Use education 
actions to deliver detailed 
messages).

Reduce reoffending.

During 2018/19, there were a total of 403 
perceived Hate Crimes/incidents 
reported. This is a 5% decrease in 
reported Hate crime on 2017/18. 

The Hate Crime Coordinator has held 
hate crime awareness sessions for 
Council staff and other partners. They 
have been well attended and the 
feedback has been excellent.  

Training and awareness sessions will continue 
throughout the borough via formal training and 
drop in sessions with partners. Sessions have 
already been booked with School Governors 
and staff from the CAB and Carers Centre.

Sefton Council will continue to support 
Memorials and recognition events such as 
Liverpool Pride, IDAHOBIT, International 
Women’s Day and Remembering Srebrenica.

Sefton Council has retained the Navajo 
Merseyside and Cheshire LGBTQI partnership 
charter mark. 

P
age 97

A
genda Item

 5



Reduce Isolation of a 
vulnerable group

 Break down language 
barriers and develop 
community cohesion

Stop Hate UK promotional material has 
been obtained and distributed internally 
and to our partners.

A programme of activities has been 
developed; which include a multi-lingual 
story and rhyme time, communal cooking 
sessions, sewing and carpentry 
sessions. These are supported by an 
interpolator and help to break down 
barriers between cultural differences and 
assist with community integration.

Community 
Infrastructure

(£57,083.36)

We will be using 
resources to make our 
communities more 
resilient to the impact of 
Anti-Social and Criminal 
behaviour. 

We will aim to make our 
communities sustainable 
in tackling Anti-Social and 
Criminal behaviour.

Reduced Anti-Social and 
Criminal Behaviour.

Better reporting and use 
of up to date technology.

Following the support of successful 
operations previously supported by the 
SSCP again in 2018/29 funding has 
been made available to support more 
targeted operations and continue to build 
an infrastructure of technology, 
information and confidence that will help 
to make the borough safer and appealing 
to new residents and businesses.

This year the SSCP has also supported 
Merseyside Fire and Rescue who are 
delivering a street intervention team 
across the borough.
The team started in November 2018, so the 
below stats are up to the end of March 2019.

18 Deployments

A report of the SIT project is attached in the 
appendixP

age 98

A
genda Item

 5



245 Engagements with young people (162 
male / 83 female)

28 Individuals have asked for specific advice 
about local activities

261 Engagements with adults in the 
community

22 Individuals have taken leaflets about Fire 
Cadets, Princes Trust Programme, NAC, 
Sefton ABC, Boxing Club, Local Youth 
Centres, Crosby C&C Centre

8 Fly tipping issues reported

1 Overflowing skip reported

3 faulty street lighting reported

There was continued maintenance and 
upgrading of the CCTV network and 
Alley gates across the borough, in hot 
spot areas that have seen an increase in 
ASB or criminality. Residents and 
partners have commented that they feel 
reassured that the council is taking their 
issues seriously.

Community 
Resilience

(£55,000)

We will use all 
opportunities to pass on 
information and training 
about the impact of 
criminal activity to the 
community, via our 

The SSCP supported once again our 
innovative scrambler bike project in 
partnership with Merseyside Police and 
other partners. This involved working 
with 4 schools in the south of the 
Borough, delivering ASB and risk-taking 

The SSCP would like to continue to support 
the Scrambler bike initiative and educate 
children about the dangers of scrambler bikes.

P
age 99

A
genda Item

 5



community groups and 
community partners.

Continue to deliver and 
expand the reach of 
Sefton’s Scrambler Bike 
initiative.

Use all available 
resources from partners to 
get messages to the 
public arena.

Support the local 
economy.

Continued support of 
Community Justice 
Panels.

Make Sefton’s Public 
highways safer for all 
users.

awareness sessions and a video making 
competition.
The 16 winners of the competition 
received Certificates from Rachel Brown-
Finnis, BT Sports analyst and former 
Liverpool, Everton and England 
goalkeeper and were told that they would 
be going on an exciting Ski trip to 
Scotland at a celebration event at Police 
Headquarters.

The SSCP supported Merseyside Police 
in the delivery of Operation CHAPAR. 
Throughout the operation Sefton 
Targeted Team officers have made 
concentrated efforts to locate and arrest 
fugitives connected to serious organised 
crime and through the funding that has 
been provided by yourselves, we have 
been able to dedicate officers in to doing 
this without facing abstractions that 
usually befall regular officers.

Two Sefton Targeting Team officers are 
dedicated to the operation from Tuesday 
to Friday with the advantage of a rental 
car to remain covert which is funded by 
Merseyside Police. The funding you 
have provided has enabled a further 
two officers to be deployed on the 
operation which has greatly increased 
the chance of success in locating and 

Op CHAPAR has been a great success and 
has been recognised by numerous 
departments within the partnership as so.  This 
operation has allowed dedicated Sefton 
Targeted Team officers to tackle serious and 
organised crime, prevent crime and anti-social 
behaviour and to support victims and 
vulnerable people.

P
age 100

A
genda Item

 5



arresting wanted persons for an array of 
offences

In total there have been 197 arrests 
made by the Op Chapar team

Organised 
Crime Groups 
(OCG’S)
(£64,616.64)

Reduce Acquisitive and 
Violent Crime.

Reoffending reduced.

Working closely with the 
School teams ensuring 
activities are focused on 
the high crime areas.

Tackling those who 
transport and distribute 
illegal substances whilst 
under the influence

During 2018/19 the SSCP has supported 
Merseyside Police and other partners 
with many operations and activities. 
A significant success has been in the 
significant reduction of the threat level in 
relation to the South Sefton tensions. 
Through targeted operations, supported 
by the SSCP, and the successful 
implementation of Gang injunctions, the 
key protagonists have been severely 
disrupted. 

The Multi Agency Response to Serious 
and Organised Crime (MARSOC) 
continues to meet monthly and has 
considered those key individuals who 
cause most harm in our communities 
and developed actions for disruption and 
partnership plans to try and alleviate the 
impact that these individuals have on our 
communities.

The SSCP has continued to support the 
Get Away “n” Get Safe (GANGS) project. 

In response to feedback from communities the 
MARSOC partnership will not only look at SOC 
but also review hotspot issues within Serious 
Acquisitive Crime as it is believed that the two 
are almost always linked in some way.

A report on the GANGS project is included in 
the appendix

P
age 101

A
genda Item

 5



This is an educational prevention 
programme.

The SSCP continues to provide Drug 
wipes that have had a significant 
disruption on those involved in our 
serious and organised crime groups.

Child Criminal 
Exploitation

(£5,000)

Promote the Multi Agency 
Child Exploitation (MACE) 
process and encourage 
more frontline workers to 
engage with Multi Agency 
Safeguarding Hub and 
use the new CE1 and CE2 
referral forms.

Support local and pan 
Merseyside initiatives to 
engage with schools and 
youth groups

The Multi Agency Child Exploitation 
process has continued to develop and 
become established. Membership has 
been reviewed, and now includes 
representatives from Youth Services and 
Family wellbeing centres. 
Promotional materials to raise 
awareness of the issues around Child 
Exploitation have been produced, and 
presentations to Early Help staff have 
taken place.

The SSCP will be looking to develop the 
resources available to support Children who 
are victims of exploitation, and also increase 
the amount of publicity material is available on 
the issue.

P
age 102

A
genda Item

 5



Annex 2 – Reports

Commit 2 Change Programme promotional materials 

Page 103

Agenda Item 5



Page 104

Agenda Item 5



Page 105

Agenda Item 5



Page 106

Agenda Item 5



RJ Lifeskills 

                                                                                                                    
 
The GANGS (GetAwayNGetSafe) programme was developed by RJ Lifeskills and it 
has been facilitated during 2018-2019 at a number of Primary, Secondary, Pupil 
Referal Units and Youth and Community Centres across the Sefton borough. During 
the latest project there has been an increase in work across the secondary school age 
group as highlighted in the planning meeting (May 2018). However, a significant 
element of the project has been facilitated at primary schools. Previously work has 
concentrated on the hotspot areas in the south of the borough however areas in the 
North have been highlighted as a concern by the local authority and Police and as a 
result the program has been delivered at a number of venues in Southport. The 
program has been further developed in line with current and growing concerns in 
relation to the “county lines” issue and knife crime. However, the process of the 
program and learning aims remain but incorporate the above issues. 
The program was developed with the key aim of “Early Intervention” and is supported 
by the most current research (released March 2018), Intervening Early to prevent gang 
and youth violence: The Role of Primary schools, Stephanie Waddell and Naomi 
Jones. This research conducted by the Early Intervention Foundation, London 
between 2015 -2017 and found that;
“One of the clearest overarching themes to emerge from this was the need for earlier 
intervention. Schools, stakeholders and providers alike felt that more should be done at the 
primary school” EIF March 2018.
local authorities needed to start targeting children earlier ‘because we have got kids as young 
as 11 that have been charged with serious violence offences, so 12, 13, 14 is possibly too late’  
EIF March 2018
The GetAwayNGetSafe program also supports the “Prevent” strategy at Merseyside 
Police. During this period of delivery, GetAwayNGetSafe has been observed by Ch 
Supt Chris Green, Supt Lee Turner and I have met and discussed the current issues 
in Merseyside with DCI Paul Denn. It has been facilitated at various locations across 
the borough and overall a total of 890 young people attended and completed the five 
session program. Alongside the work in the Sefton Borough, the program has also 
been facilitated within the other local authority areas in Merseyside and further afield 
in West Yorkshire (Operation Precision) and in Wales.
Our work in Sefton was promoted, funded and supported by Sefton Council CSP. Our 
partnership aims to work with young people and educate individuals to make positive 
choices with their lives thus reducing incidents of anti-social violent behaviour, 
reducing the presence of USG’s and long term, causing a reduction in the number of 
young people moving through the continuum into OCG’s within the local community. 
For those young people who are vulnerable and at risk of exploitation we have been 
able to increase their resilience and educate these individuals so they are able to 
recognise risky situations and negative individuals. Importantly we have educated 
young people on the “grooming process” and simply ask the question “could this 
happen to you?”  
Once again, during the previous twelve months the GetAwayNGetSafe program has 
received significant media attention. Our work has been highlighted on the BBC1 
Inside Out program (Oct 2018), BBC1 Crimewatch Roadshow (June 2018) and local 
BBC radio. Our profile was further raised with a visit from the Children’s Commissioner 
and in January 2019 it was an honour to present our work and highlight the partnership 

Page 107

Agenda Item 5



between GetAwayNGetSafe and Sefton Local authority during the visit of Baroness 
Newlove, Victims Commissioner, who visited St Oswald’s school in Netherton. Anne 
Longfield (Children’s Commissioner) has also recently released a report in February 
2019 entitled,
 "Keeping Kids Safe: Improving safeguarding responses to gang violence and criminal 
exploitation".
 The above report will be referenced in this document. Local professional sports 
people have also supported our campaign to make Merseyside a safer place for future 
generations. 
The summary below is to be used in any further promotional material in relation to the 
programme: 
 
"The GetAwayNGetSafe (GANGS) programme is an intensive five session 
educational/preventative/diversionary programme which aims to educate young 
people on the dangers of the gang/OCG lifestyle for the individual, family and the wider 
community. It is anticipated it will empower young people to make informed decisions 
about their current or future associates, thus reducing the potential risk of harm to the 
individual and the community from gang related behaviour. The programme is 
inclusive of all learning styles and uses presentations, photographs, role play, music 
and videos to engage the participants whilst continually sending out the simple 
message, GetAwayNGetSafe". 
 
The five sessions are of 1 hour duration and consist of the following;
 
Session 1 - What is a Gang?
Session 2 – Gang Identity                                        
Session 3 - Joint Enterprise
Session 4 - Consequences
Session 5- Victims
 
                                                     Evaluation/ statisitics
 
Total Number of participants 890.
 
Prior to the completion of the program some participants were asked to complete a 5 
question pre-program questionnaire. This task was repeated following the completion 
of the program in order to evaluate the effectiveness and learning. A sample of this 
information was used to calculate the following statistics however in summary, 92% of 
the sample have evidenced an increase in learning in all five of the above learning 
areas. Importantly, all of the participants (890) were also able to develop and practice 
strategies which will increase their safety in the community. This is a very important 
element of the program for the year 6 children as they transition from the “family”, 
“nurturing” environment of primary school into often a much larger, less personal and 
challenging secondary school where personal responsibility increases significantly. 
During year 6 children also pass the age of criminal responsibility in England and 
Wales.
 
EIF (March 2018) highlights,
the importance of reaching children before secondary school age, when they were seen as 
less likely to listen and more likely to fall in with the wrong crowd. There was consensus that 
the groundwork had to be laid before that stage.

Page 108

Agenda Item 5



 
The move into secondary school can often be a daunting experience for young people 
and a time when an individuals’ priority changes from education to a need to feel 
accepted and included by their peers. It is this desire to be included which can inform 
the behaviour of young people and therefore places them in danger of being 
manipulated by more sophisticated peers who recognise an individual’s vulnerabilities. 
GetAwayNGetSafe gives the participants the knowledge and tools to not only 
recognise danger but then have the confidence to remove from themselves. 
 
Developing strategies to overcome these situations has been recognised by teachers 
as a very important element of the program. Young people are continually reminded 
that they are in control of their futures and their futures can be significantly affected by 
their choices at an early age in relation to lifestyle and associates. An underlying aim 
of the program is to develop the cognitive skills of the participants’ so they are able to 
make informed decisions.
 
Although EIF (March 2018) states that by the time young people get into secondary 
school, 
“they’re completely consumed by their ability to fit in, and to not stand out, and to make 
friends with the people who perhaps are the coolest but not necessarily the most 
positive influences on them” indicating it may be too late to engage with young people.”
 
GetAwayNgetSafe has also been delivered with secondary school age children but 
has worked with groups who have been excluded from mainstream (e.g Impact , 
Newfield ) , at risk of exclusion, who have been identified as vulnerable or who are 
displaying behavioural issues within education. A Home Office report in Nov 2018 
stated “that exclusions appear to be a highly significant trigger point for the escalation 
of county lines involvement of young people”. In Feb 2019, the “Keeping Kids Safe” 
report by Anne Longfield identified key risk factors to gang exploitation. One of the key 
factors is “exclusion from school”.   
 
 
Therefore, the importance of working with those excluded or are at risk of exclusion 
should be seen as a priority. However in my opinion further work needs to be 
completed around school exclusions as the following statistic is concerning and is 
evidence of a direct link between exclusion, gang membership and youth crime.
 
Permanent exclusions have risen 67% since 2013. 
 
Findings:
 
Question 1 
 
How would you rate your understanding of what a gang is and how young people 
become involved in gangs?
 
This question relates to the first session which sets the scene for the program and 
allows the facilitator to obtain a group understanding of gangs and organised crime 
groups. This is completed using a presentation and historical pictures of gang 
members. A cctv video clip is used to highlight “what a gang is” and the behaviour of 
gang members. The clip highlights the use of knives and allows children to express 
their opinion about the use of knives in the community and if they believe the carrying 

Page 109

Agenda Item 5



of weapons makes an individual “safer”. This is a new element of the program following 
a significant rise in knife crime and recent high profile murders in Merseyside. The 
current national debate around knife crime and the concerning statistics mean that this 
area of youth crime must be addressed in the program. Although some research 
indicates the peak age for carrying a weapon is 17 (Aug 2018 University of Hull). The 
“keeping kids Safe” report indicates the number of 10 (year 6) -17 year olds being 
cautioned or convicted for possession of a weapon has rose 12%.
 
Notably, one of the main reasons found for carrying a weapon is a distrust in the Police 
and a belief by young people that their peers maybe carrying a weapon. This so called 
“distrust” in the Police is addressed throughout the program. Although the possession 
and use of weapons is on the increase, it is stressed to the participants that it is a 
small minority of individuals who would engage in such behaviour as it is important to 
alleviate some of the fears which young people highlight during the week. As it is my 
opinion that this “fear” is a causal factor in the carrying of weapons. 
 
Pictures are used to briefly introduce the consequences of this lifestyle and supports 
the powerful message “GetAwayNGetSafe”. Participants are asked if those people 
featured had regrets about the choices they made. The answer always being a 
resounding “yes” and the children are reminded that all the individuals featured were 
once year 6 children, like the participants, but who had made poor decisions. I ask the 
participants to consider “where did it all go wrong?”
 
The session ends with a group discussion in relation to the difficulties of leaving this 
lifestyle once an individual has entered a gang or is on the periphery of gangs. A 
personal story is presented to the participants about a young man named “Joe”. 
Feedback from staff often relates to the children using this phrase around school in 
relation to other situations with children often saying, “Don’t dip your toe in the water 
Joe”. Participants are left to consider the implications for family members if an 
individual in their family joins a gang.
 
A key fact from the session, which all participants are asked to keep at the forefront of 
their minds is simply,
 
“Gang membership puts your family at risk”. The young people are asked to consider 
whether they would knowingly get involved in behaviour that would put their family in 
danger.  
 
From a statistical point of view, 90% of the sample group highlighted an increase in 
score. The importance of this figure cannot be underestimated as the participants have 
been given information from a credible source rather than learning about this subject 
from negative peers or individuals who wish to present a contradicting message. It 
also reduces the possibility of participants being criminally exploited as their 
understanding of how young people become involved in gangs is explored.
 
Question 2 
How would you rate your understanding of the identity/behaviours of gangs and why 
they cause fear in society? Specific focus upon the use of weapons in particular knife 
and gun crime.
 
This session examines the charecteristics of those involved and looks at what an 
individual would need to change, to enable them to distance themselves from this 

Page 110

Agenda Item 5



lifestyle. The story about Joe from the first session is used to highlight the difficulties 
of leaving this lifestyle once involved. I ask the participants to consider the image that 
they wish to portray whilst they are in the community and how clothing, associates, 
location, behaviour, image, negative attitudes may bring them to the attention of the 
Police. Scenarios are used to clearly evidence how they are perceived by other 
members of the community and if they understood that the current so called 
fashionable image (black clothing, hoods up) can cause people within their community 
to fear for their safety. Many teachers have commented that children are now taking 
on this identity despite not being involved in gangs or ASB and the children are 
reminded that taking on this image may put them at risk from those involved in this 
lifestyle if they are mistakenly believed to be a gang member. Pictures are used to 
highlight individuals from Liverpool who have “lost” their lives to this lifestyle either 
through death or lengthy imprisonment. A very powerful video is shown of a firearm 
incident in which a child is the victim and although quite shocking, the impact confirms 
that gangs are very dangerous and innocent members of the community are affected 
and can be caught up in the crossfire. I ask participants to understand that involvement 
in this lifestyle affects more than the individual but also immediate family and causes 
communities to fear for their safety. Participants are reminded of the negative media 
coverage in relation to gangs and are made well aware that there are no positive 
gangs! The issue of weapons is highlighted using visual images. Specific focus upon 
knives and the reasons why young people may feel the need to carry a knife. This 
often results in a debate around protection, self-defence. However, any myths are 
quashed with simple facts and figures. For those who continue to challenge any of the 
facts a simple role play is used which allows audience participation and debate.  
 
89% of the sample group highlighted an increase in understanding.
 
Question 3
How well do you understand the joint enterprise law and what situations could it affect 
you?
 
Similarly to the previous year this session resulted in a 100% increase in 
understanding. Notably many young people nor teaching staff had any awareness of 
this law. For year 6 children this is an important session as they pass the age of 
criminal responsibility. The significance of this session is commented upon by all who 
observe. Feedback is very positive and participants are made aware that the visual 
example used is a case which I had previous involvement in. All participants are asked 
to develop and evidence their strategy for when they find themselves in situations 
which could escalate. Examples are discussed at a primary / secondary school level 
and also when a young person is out in the community. Year 6 Children are reminded 
that they are entering secondary school whereby they will often be given more freedom 
by their parents and therefore it is their responsibility to begin to anticipate dangerous 
situations which they may find themselves in. Children are also made aware that 
children across the borough are also transitioning to secondary school and as such 
this is a new experience for all. This means that young people are meeting other 
children from other areas for the first time and therefore they will not have any prior 
knowledge of other peers and the importance of forming friendship groups with 
“positive” influences is a priority. This is a very powerful and popular session both with 
young people and staff as the role play allows the facilitator to target individuals whom 
the teachers have expressed concern and place them in a situation which is very likely 
to occur in the community. It also forces participants to generate a 
“GetAwayNGetSafe” strategy to be used when a young person is in vulnerable 

Page 111

Agenda Item 5



situation and wishes to remove themselves. A new approach to this issue means that 
the participants are given the task of going home and speaking to a parent or guardian 
to develop a strategy. The importance of this session is highlighted on a regular basis 
by the disbelief and lack of understanding by young people about how individuals have 
been convicted of murder and imprisoned for life sentences through their associations, 
and misguided loyalty without ever having handled the murder weapon or engaged in 
violence. Examples are used from the facilitators experience within Liverpool. Young 
people are reminded that they are at the age of criminal responsibility and therefore 
excuses they have used at school e.g. “I was there but didn’t do anything”, or “ he did 
it first “, “I was just hanging around” may be overlooked in a court situation.
 
Participants are asked to consider their own behaviour within a group situation and if 
it differs from when they are on their own. Questions are asked in relation to whether 
they are more likely to behave negatively if they are in a group (i.e. feel less 
responsible) and more likely to copy someone behaving negatively even if they know 
their behaviour is wrong. Participants are asked to consider situations in school 
whereby they have only behaved in a certain manner because another peer “did it 
first”, or because they felt they would be more respected or gain more credibility with 
peers. This is then related back to a gang situation and how the joint enterprise law 
would find all responsible. An animal analogy is used ….”following like sheep” and I 
ask the young people do they want to be the “sheep” or the “shepherd”. I ask them are 
they brave and confident enough to walk away from so called “mates” in a negative 
situation. What is the right thing to do? How would the young person behave if they 
were getting watched by a parent? The aim is to make the participants think about 
situations they have been in and consider how they will behave in the future.
 
Although difficult to evaluate, I am hopeful that the learning from this session has and 
will allow a young person to forsee danger and remove themselves from a group 
situation. The brave individual who uses an excuse to GetAwayNGetSafe may then 
convince (Shepherd) others in that situation to also walk away. Maybe saving a life….
 
Question 4 
How well do you understand the consequences of being involved with a gang for 
yourself, family, friends and the community?
 
Session 4 starts with a “Quiz …with a difference” which allows role play to act out 
some of the less obvious gang related crimes. It also allows me to evidence to the 
participants how vulnerable they can be. The role play quiz highlights the sentencing 
guidelines for violent gang related offending. The video of the male gang member and 
the consequences for him on leaving prison are at first often considered unfair by the 
participants. However when placed in context of this individuals offending behaviour 
prior to going to custody the participants develop an understanding why strict 
conditions regarding an individuals’ movements, associations, mobile phone use and 
residence are needed to help agencies protect the public. This video facilitates an in 
depth discussion about how other family members are affected by an individual’s 
incarceration and also the fear caused in the local community when incidents of 
violence occour. During this session a mock prison cell is made using class room 
furniture and participants. The enclosed space that is created is a great tool for 
enabling the participants to think of their futures and real consequences and leaves 
them in no doubt that involvement in USG/OCG often results in two consequences 
“Life of Death” with “Life” meaning long term prison sentence. 
 

Page 112

Agenda Item 5



A new element of this session focusses on the county lines/ exploitation issue. 
Participants are given information to develop their understanding and how individuals 
may use various methods to befriend and gain trust. The real reason for the friendship 
is revealed and an audio clip is used to highlight the process of exploitation. At Sefton 
Impact in Jan 2019 there was a very interesting discussion around county lines drug 
dealing. A scenario was given to a very impressionable group of males who talked 
about a glamorous side of drug dealing. Staff had shared concerns about particular 
males who were subject to YOS supervision and the scenario was used in which a 
young person is being exploited and “housed” in another area where he is under 
orders to answer a “graft” phone 24/7 days a week. When asked how much that 
individual may earn in a 7 day period the response was £400. I then asked the group 
to consider the conditions that the individual may have to operate in from a safety point 
of view and to also compare the realities of this, to the glamourous life that may have 
been sold to them. I simply then asked the group to calculate the hourly rate and if 
they would go to “work” in shocking, unsafe, filthy conditions for £2.30 per hour. The 
answer is always a resounding “No”. The realities of county lines drug dealing are laid 
bare!
Participants are reminded of the lesson from session 1 in relation to the difficulties of 
stepping away once you are involved. I have used this scenario with a number of 
groups in Sefton and the response is always very similar.
In discussing this new feature of exploitation and county lines the program ensures 
young people are aware of the process they may be exposed too. At the PRU the 
participants were made aware that their status as “excluded” from mainstream is sadly 
a risk factor and an issue that others in the community may look for when recruiting 
new gang members. I also make it clear to the participants that those individuals who 
are “selling” you a fantastic lifestyle, have one simple aim and that is simply to use that 
individual. GetAwayNgetSafe asks participants to simply question the intentions of 
their peers or new “friends”. 
 
The final element of this session focusses around retaliation and addresses the “grass” 
culture. This element has been commented upon favourably by colleagues at 
Merseyside Police, local authority and housing associations who have observed. It is 
anticipated that the change in attitudes evidenced during my program will mean that 
more young people are prepared to speak up and forward information which will keep 
our communities safe through the reporting of crime and by highlighting criminal 
groups who are causing issues within the community. Four questions are asked of all 
participants and they are reminded that they are the future generations and can 
therefore make Sefton a safer place.
 
 “ Do you want Sefton to be safer for your children?”
“ Do you want Sefton to be a safer place for your grandchildren? “
“How do we make Sefton safe?”
“What organisation will always keep us safe?”
 
For those individuals who maintain that they would never speak up, a simple role play 
is used in which the pressure of peers often results in a change of attitude.
 
100% of the sample indicated an increase in learning
 
Question 5
 
How do you rate your understanding of victims and how they are affected?

Page 113

Agenda Item 5



 
An emotional rollercoaster of a week is brought together in this final session with a 
powerful video used which was developed by a family who had lost their son to knife 
crime. This emotional session was observed (Jan 2019) by the Victims Commissioner 
Baroness Newlove and received very positive feedback. It is not unusual for 
participants to become upset due to the facts presented and significant effects upon 
the victims. Young people are made aware of the ripple effect of a, wounding, firearm 
incident, death of a young person and how not just the immediate family are affected 
but whole communities. Participants are asked to consider both the direct and indirect 
victims and to reflect upon the case studies we have used earlier in the week. At this 
stage in the program the participants are often feeling quite emotional and are asked 
to produce an emotive, advisory letter which brings together all the learning from the 
week. These pieces of work are a fantastic product of the week long journey which the 
young people are taken on.
 
100% of the sample indicated an increase in learning.
 
The final exercise simply asks the young people to think about their futures and is 
based on a poem called “The Dash” by Linda Ellis. (Please read)
 
In summary, another fantastic year with children across the borough completing the 
GetAwayNGetSafe cognitive behavioural program. We have been able to evidence an 
increase in learning and understanding of the dangers of the gang lifestyle. The myth, 
believed by some young people that this is a glamourous lifestyle have been quashed. 
I am confident that those who have heard my message are well equipped to avoid this 
lifestyle and have been inspired to follow their dreams. Evidence has shown that 
knowledge and understanding has increased and strategies have been developed 
which if put into practice will keep young people safe in Sefton. Observers have 
commented that I have raised the aspirations of young people in Sefton to believe that 
they can achieve their potential. It has been a fantastic year working in the Sefton 
Borough on behalf of the CSP. Headteachers across the Borough have been very 
supportive and commented very positively about the program. I would like to thank Ian 
Wilman and Chris White at Sefton for their support of our project. Please find a recent 
comment by the Headteacher Mr Phillips at St Benedicts primary,
 
“The getaway n get safe program is fantastic. James Riley is extremely engaging and 
the children thoroughly enjoy his presentation. The content is pitched perfectly for the 
upper KS2 age group and we now consider it an essential part of our safeguarding 
provision. I sincerely hope it continues for many years to come”.
 
Also a testimonial from Mr Burke (Behavioural Manager) Sefton Impact.
 
It has been an absolute privilege to have James in our Pupil Referral Unit for the past 
2 weeks. Every word about his experiences that he delivers in his sessions is priceless. 
As teachers in education we can pass on "second hand" information to our students 
about what can possibly happen if crimes are committed or what happens if the 
students get caught up on a gang. The difference with James telling the students is 
he's been there, he knows the facts first hand that do happen and the consequences 
of such eventualities. That for me is the reason he had every one of our students 
captivated in each of his sessions. He did a phenomenal job in a what can be a very 
challenging environment. I can confidently say on behalf of our staff he will be 
welcomed back in to our school as soon as he has availability in the next school year. 

Page 114

Agenda Item 5



 
Thank you very much Jay, the experiences you shared with the group's have educated 
us further to help guide and steer our students away from such scenarios happening 
to them. 
 
Mr S Burke "Impact Sefton PRU - Behaviour Manager"
 
Final Thought ………Inspiring young people is the key to change. Making young 
people realise that they can achieve their dreams and that where they have come from 
does not have to define where they are going is a key aim. At GetAwayNGetSafe we 
ask all participants what the “Dash” will mean for them and leave that message with 
them for the rest of their lives. 
.
James Riley
getawayngetsafe@gmail.com
 
Appendix
 
Intervening Early to prevent gang and youth violence (March 2018) The Role of 
Primary schools, Stephanie Waddell and Naomi Jones. Early Intervention 
Foundation, London between 2015 -2017
 
Keeping Kids Safe: Improving safeguarding responses to gang violence and criminal 
exploitation". Anne Longfield (Children’s Commissioner) February 2019.
 
Criminal exploitation of children and vulnerable adults (county lines)- Home Office
21 september2018.
 
Serious Violence strategy Home Office April 2018.
 
Ending gang violence and exploitation Home Officer 31th Jan 2016.
 

Page 115

Agenda Item 5

mailto:getawayngetsafe@gmail.com


 

Communities
Early intervention and prevention youth delivery

Integrated Youth service 
Offer support and a joined up approach when working with our young people , 
families and communities , by offering a joined up support network , we can help our 
young people and communities to take advantage of the many positive activities that 
happen within our youth provisions , Our team are based in the communities which 
means we have good knowledge of the local areas and can make better connections 
with the young people, families  communities and partner agencies, with this support 
it them opens other opportunities that Sefton has to offer , we often work with some 
of our most vulnerable young people who live in some of our more deprived areas,  
we are able to work more closely with them to look at what is effecting them, their 
area their lives as young people  and what areas of concern they think are relevant 
to them , we are also able to look at what is working well , how change can happen 
and how they can make positive contributions to their community , this involves a 

Page 116

Agenda Item 5



variety of  partnership work , intervention , prevention , targeted and needs led youth 
work . Our team of post 5pm delivery and Duke of Edinburgh workers are based 
across the borough engaging young people , , families, communities and partner 
agencies in positive activities and offer the best service delivery and make a 
difference 
Within the Imagine Sefton 2030 consultation the common themes emerged from 
conversations included , Sefton being a borough of resilient people and places, a 
place where people can grow, live and age well, Plenty of activities on offer, and a  
great place to live , work and play, by working in our young people and communities 
, the young people and communities who we work with are   at times  marginalized 
with a number of challenges in their lives, this can include the areas that they live 
within Sefton, worklessness, homelessness, low income, low self -esteem and 
school attendance . It is important to remember that with the right support , 
intervention  prevention and targeted work the marginalized status of children and 
young people may decrease as they get older and with the opportunities offered in 
Sefton by our youth workers we do see change within our communities, delivering 
and engaging in youth work  builds resilience within our young people and 
communities when they do engage in positive activities , this has increased their 
feeling of belonging develops relationships and empowers and in particular when 
engaging in activities that they would not normally engage in builds character and 
understanding of their communities and their own needs 
Some of the targeted work that we do within our communities include 
Staying safe
Gun and Knife Crime
Exploitation
Child Sexual exploitation
Gang / Group (what is a gang / what is a group) 
Keeping active
Duke of Edinburgh Awards
LGBTQI work
Arts , Music and Drama
Hate Crime
Safeguarding (working together) 
To enable workers to carry out this work and deliver effective sessions that engage 
our young people and communities we have to listen to our young people , families , 
communities and work together with other organizations and agencies and try to get 
in to deliver this work at the earliest opportunity and take action to tackle the 
problems before they grow into something more difficult to deal with,  some of the 
examples of work we are carrying out below will highlight the importance early 
intervention and offering support  early intervention and prevention does work 
 
Please see examples of work being carried out across the Borough of Sefton  
 
Monday Night youth bus report
April 18 to February 19
Peel Road Area of Bootle
16 males and 14 Females 
 
Background to working in this area.
We were approached by the Sefton Council Neighborhood team (Sue Ashe) to work 
with the residents of the peel road area of Bootle. This was to tackle the antisocial 
behavior happening at the crossroads of Peel road and Balfour Street. We were 

Page 117

Agenda Item 5



asked to do an initial 12-week programme which was successful so the bus has 
remained in this area.
During the last year we have worked with children and their families to tackle the 
antisocial behavior within the area regarding Drugs and gun and knife crime. This 
year alone there has been 3 separate incidents of shooting and one Stabbing. 
The youth bus and the workers have been a visual deterrent in the local area and 
have built up relationships with not only the young people but their parents and 
guardians and local business owners. 
The workers have provided One night a week throughout the last year in this area 
and have worked on successful projects with the children such as 
 
Residential to Eshton Grange 
12 young people from deprived background where selected by workers to attend a 
weekend residential. During this residential the young people took part in swimming 
trips to the local town Centre to visit Skipton Castle they also got the chance to do 
rock scrambling at Janet’s Foss and Gordale Scar. They also took part in cooking 
activities and working on the farm feeding the animals.

During the school holidays the workers recognized that due to family circumstances 
and low incomes the young people who would normally get a hot meal in school 
would miss out on this. Workers worked with families to redirect them to other 
agencies who provided hot lunches plus worker also delivered a programme of 
healthy cooking sessions on the streets with the children involved.

Page 118

Agenda Item 5



The young people have also organized community events within their local area 
Halloween and Bonfire night this was part of the local banger project which took 
place in partnerships with Local Police and fire service. This event was attended by 
the children and families and local residents from the area. Official reports stated that 
antisocial behaviour was at an all-time low for this period of time and this was 
accredited to the work which was undertaken within the different local communities. 
They also arranged a Christmas celebration which took part in conjunction with Peel 
Road, Irlam road and Queen’s Road.

 
Other community impact of youth bus involvement.
The workers have engaged with other members of the local area and have 
successfully dealt with situations such as Alcohol abuse and homelessness an 
example of this would be one transitional male who was persistently in the area 
under the influence Alcohol and squatting in an unused flat by the location of the 
youth bus. Worker engaged with this male as he was known to workers they talked 
with local residents and community police. This male was relocated to a homeless 
shelter within the local area. 
Another example of impact work was one male resident who was targeted by local 
young people and was subject of abuse and racial harassment and physical damage 
to his property. Workers engaged with this resident and facilitated one to one work 
with him finding out why he was subject to this behaviour. They then went on to 
support a mediation between this resident and the local young people by low level 
intervention by supporting this male to make positive relationships with the young 

Page 119

Agenda Item 5



people of the area. This proved to be a very positive impact for him and as a result of 
this intervention work antisocial behaviour towards him decreased. 
 
Tuesday evening Youth Bus Report
Where have we been?
The youth bus has been situated in two locations this year, the lighter months were 
spent in North Park and following this we returned to the Irlam Road estate. These 
areas were chosen due to anti-social behaviour, knife gun and gang crime, 
deprivation and a lack of youth provision. The bus was well attended in both of these 
areas. 
What have we done?

 Open access sessions- Young people and their families were able to access 
the bus as and when they chose and were able to use the facilities we have to 
offer. This includes PCs, games consoles, arts and crafts sessions and 
cooking to name a few. 

 Sefton Rocks Project- Young people who attend the bus took part in Sefton 
Rocks project where they painted and decorated rocks and hid them around 
the park. The aim of this was to give people the opportunity to look for other 
people’s rocks, take pictures and put them in other places similar to a 
scavenger hunt, any rocks found are put on social media under the hashtag 
Sefton Rocks.

 Castle project- Young people and families were able to take part in the 
activities surrounding the project hosted by Sefton Council. 

 Family support- The youth bus not only provides support for young people, 
but also their families. Staff have been a listening ear, advocates and sign 
posters for families in the area. We have been able to provide some of the 
more challenged families with food bank vouchers, clothes and information 
and advice with regards to financial support and housing. One family have 
been able to access an Early Help Worker for more intense work and support 
due to their engagement with youth bus staff. 

 Eshton Grange12 young people from deprived background where selected by 
workers to attend a weekend residential. During this residential the young 
people took part in swimming trips to the local town centre to visit Skipton 
Castle they also got the chance to do rock scrambling at Janet’s Foss and 
Gordale Scar. They also took part in cooking activities and working on the 
farm feeding the animals.

 Banger period activities- Irlam Road was one of the areas targeted for 
additional activities during the banger period of Halloween and bonfire night. 
This was a great success and reports show that anti-social behaviour in the 
area was lowered in direct response to a youth bus presence. 

 Christmas activities- Families accessing the Youth Bus worked with staff to 
put on a Christmas party for the young people in the area. This is something 
that staff have supported for a few years now and is always very successful.

Page 120

Agenda Item 5



 

 
 

Thursday Night Youth Bus Report

Queens Road Bootle
14 male 8 female 
April 2018 to Feb 2019
 
This session is to support the local community of the Queens Road area of Bootle. It 
is working in partnership with Community by Nature who supply the building free of 
charge for us to work out of. This session was started by responding to the needs of 
the local people who suggested through consultation that there was no youth 
provision in the area for their children. We now offer 1 session a week on a Thursday 
Evening.
 
The young people have been working on outdoor risky play project which 
encompasses the forest school approach to the young people leaning and 
understanding.
To date the young people have taken part in:

 Outdoor open fire cooking 
 Den building 
 Natural arts and crafts
 Team building activities 
 Gardening/ growing project
 Cooking on a budget

Page 121

Agenda Item 5



 

                                                

The young people have also been involved in work with Children in Need and took 
part in a visit from Pudsey Bear Himself. They organized a community Forest school 
fun day which was attended by representatives from the BBC and featured on local 
TV. The young people have received funding to undertake a residential this April To 
Skipton where they will take part in swimming, trips to the local town Centre to visit 
Skipton Castle they will also get chance to do rock scrambling at Janet’s Foss and 
Gordale Scar. They will take part in cooking activities and working on the farm 
feeding the animals.

Queens road hosted the annual Christmas party for 3 communities across Bootle in 
which the youth bus is an embedded feature for the young people and their families. 
The party seen in excess of 150 children and families coming together and 
supporting each other.

Friday Night Youth Bus Report
Irlam Road Bootle
16 males 14 Females
 
This session was first developed with partnership work with Sefton Play Council who 
had identified the need for community support through a summer play scheme. They 
approached the youth bus team to meet the needs of this small forgotten community 
in Bootle who had no youth support for their children and no access to other local 
provisions for leisure for their young people. 
 
The youth bus has been vital in supporting children and families within their local 
area. The children and young people have been encouraged to plan and undertake 

Page 122

Agenda Item 5



local community fun days in the summer holidays. And have been able to access 
residentials in Skipton. The young people have taken part in many different outdoor 
forest projects with the youth bus transforming their streets in to a safe place to be. 
One of these projects was aimed a gun and knife crime and raising the young 
people’s awareness of the issues that are involved with this. There has been 
numerous gun and knife crime incidents on this estate. The local parents see the 
youth bus as the only safe night for the community to meet together and for their 
young people to enjoy playing out on the streets with their peers. 
One of our young people whilst playing in the local area identified a discarded shot 
gun and through the work which had been undertaken with them was able to alert 
the local police and the weapon was taken off the streets due to his alertness to the 
situation.   
 
The youth bus also plays a vital role in meeting the needs of the children and 
families and currently offers support with foodbank vouchers by working in 
partnership with the targeted youth provision team. We also offer support to families 
who are currently on CIN plans and facilitate one to one work with the children and 
young people who this has an impact on. We have provided access to funds to gain 
bed room furniture for one family in need and have provided Christmas hampers for 
three local families.
 
We also work in partnership with targeted youth provisions D of E project and have 
placed 2 young males who were under achieving at school one of which has gained 
his Bronze D of E due to be given at the end of March 2019.

New Beginnings

10-15 young people.
Work has been taking place alongside The Open Eye Gallery and The Atkinson 
Southport. This project is called the Selfhood project, self-reflection and 
expressionism and reflection of public image and how this may or may not have 
changed over time. The young people had photography sessions at new Beginnings 
with staff from the open eye gallery within these sessions the young people have 

Page 123

Agenda Item 5



been recreating the images from the exhibition in today’s world. - This is looking at 
two artists Robert Mapplethorpe and Ren Hang.
The young people at New Beginnings also created a project for young people and 
families to take part in during the half term. This included the young people taking 
families and your people on a tour around The Atkinson and explaining the 
Mapplethorpe exhibition, and then running a Polaroid workshop for the families and 
young people to take part in. This piece of work is ongoing.
This project is continuing currently, and then next part is producing a brochure/leaflet 
guide and facilitating workshops in The Atkinson and The Open Eye gallery - Dates 
to be confirmed.
During Easter half term, another portrait photography session took place at The 
Atkinson, the young people were joined by some seasoned photography enthusiasts 
(Adults) who loved getting involved with the young people and the workshop that 
was on offer.

 
 
During this New Beginnings have also taken part in LGBTQ History Month which the 
year’s theme was Peace, Reconciliation and Activism. We looked at LGBTQ icons 
and how LGBTQ activism has been an integral part of our history. 2019 marks 50 
years since the Stonewall Riots which was a pivotal moment in LGBTQ+ rights and 
history. We have also asked the young people about the inspirational female role 
models ready for Friday 8th March which is International Women’s Day.

Duke of Edinburgh

On Tuesday 26th February Angela Robinson and Sue Logie attended the Duke of 
Edinburgh Gold Award Presentation which took place in St James’s Palace. Young 
people from Sefton received their Gold Duke of Edinburgh Badges and certificates. 
Angela Robinson and Sue Logie, were invited as VIPs to the event and got a guided 
tour around St James’s Palace. Angela was introduced to the HRH The Earl of 

Page 124

Agenda Item 5



Wessex KG GCVO and spoke about how in Sefton we are supporting young people 
in our more deprived areas to access The Duke of Edinburgh Award. 
This includes supporting the purchase of Duke of Edinburgh books, supplying 
camping equipment and tents for the expeditions and practices that they have to 
take part in to receive their Bronze, Silver and Gold awards for those young people 
and families who cannot afford to buy this equipment Duke of Edinburgh Awards 
continue to be delivered across the borough and the awards evening for our young 
people to receive their Bronze, Silver and Gold awards takes place on Thursday 28th 
March 2019 . 
Every young person who has achieved this award have work really hard to gain their 
D of E and is a great accomplishment and this will help them in later life this award is 
recognized by universities and employers as a mark of a very special person, 
someone who is prepared to make a commitment and are young people from Sefton 
always go that extra mile to achieve this award and it is great that the D of E is able 
to play a party in developing our young people

Youth Cabinet/YouthForia
Young people continue to be involved in the Youth Foria , Youth Cabinet and Youth 
voice sessions they have been active in the Make your Mark campaign and we 
received the highest number of votes  since the campaign started 
They have been involved with the period poverty campaign and 2 of our young 
MYPs spoke at the house of commons youth foria , our young people sit on the 
Liverpool city region poverty and life chances committee and one young person is 
the Merseyside Rep on the youth foria steering group and sits on their local children 
in care / care leavers group 
Our MYP voting took place last week and Gabby Lawless had to stand down after 
her 2-year term, Milo Dwyer was reelected and our new MYP to replace Gabby is 
Laura Snow 
Two of our young people have been shortlisted for this year’s Youth Focus North 
West Young Citizens Award, results and winners of the awards will be announced at 
the next Youth Foria residential in April 
We continue to support the SYMBOL meetings and Angela Robinson attends the 
operational group meetings at Southport and Bootle Town Hall, we also attend the 
Community Chat events across the Borough 
The Group also carried out some work over the summer / Autumn looking at child 
poverty, especially school uniform costs and the price of healthy food shops, they 
also delivered the period poverty workshop to the Liverpool city region youth 
conference 
 
Linacre Mission Youth Club. (LMYC)
Ages 11-19yrs.
The Club offers open access activities to the young people offering Centre based 
activities: pool, table tennis, darts, football, dodge ball, arts, crafts, computer games, 
prize bingo, quizzes and educational back ground session work (drugs awareness, 
budget skills etc).
Currently offering Music programmes currently on session we have 2 female 
drummers and 2 male drummers attending along with 3 males just starting to learn 
the guitar. 
If the attendance at the youth Centre drops off, we react by making contact with the 
yp in order to see if there are any issues that could be addressed and to offer any 
form of support.  We have also completed outreach when the Centre is quiet 
(summertime) and have had some contact with some young people on the streets 

Page 125

Agenda Item 5



and offered them Centre based activities along with basic information on current 
issues, drugs awareness, smoking etc.
We have also taken part in a four-week project the Safer Street Campaign 
supporting other youth provision, agencies completing outreach on Peel Rd Bootle 
and the Hapsford Park this has been influenced by the currently climate of crime, 
violence and anti-social behaviour interlinking with Police and Community Support 
Officers. 
At the Centre Young People have taken part in the Sharpes programme led by youth 
workers looking at the impact of knife crime on young people and the community 
Why Do People Use Knives? 
As some yp showed an interest in drug related crime and comments we used the 
game board ‘Wheel of Misfortune’ we ran a couple of sessions testing the YPS 
knowledge and understand of the different classification of both legal and illegal 
drugs. Discussing Their effects, Why Are Illegal Drugs Dangerous? Why Do People 
Use Illegal Drugs? What Can You Do to Help? We also mixed it up by changing the 
game board to use for general games like boy girl and true or false comments from 
celebrities which they seemed to like, and it made the sessions more fun.
We have promoted other educational activities within the Youth Team the likes of 
Duke of Edinburgh, Youth Parliament and Vulnerable youth groups.
Completed some basic advice sessions around starting Senior School/New School 
Year and how to deal/cope with dealing with issues on a bigger scale (more 
students-bigger building more direct teaching and listening) looking at maturity, 
bullying issues who to speak to within school remit along with optional support
 
We have supported young people (3) in completing CV, application form for local 
part time work within the Sefton area, talking through hints and tips for employment, 
interview skills.
When required Yp have been signposted/referred across to other agencies for other 
types of support from one 2 one advice, Careers Advice, positive activities within the 
community linking with other youth centers and leisure services as well as other 
Personal Social Development courses like National Citizenship Service and a variety 
of Volunteer options. PSD courses at the Crosby Lakeside and the Prince’s Trust 
employment programme. 
We have also highlighted information on information boards such as Live 
Apprenticeship Opportunities along with Apprenticeship awareness week, Skill 
Careers event at Aintree Racecourse and the new Life Rooms for Mental Health 
support service at the new St Winifred’s complex in Bootle.
We have had 6 young people whom took part in the National Citizenship Service 
Mentoring Programme which they have now gone on to other youth 
opportunities/college/apprenticeship.
 
So far young people have also been referred/sign posted to the Vibe at the Linacre 
Hub which is also offering some outside activities (due to the summer unbelievable 
weather) on an open field space outside of the Hub.
Heading forward future work with Linacre Mission will link in with the Linacre Hub 
and hopefully be linking in with the D of E Award and possible other local activities. 
The sessions delivered at the Centre are aimed of encouraging support to the yp 
with an educational learning experience away from the school classroom setting. To 
develop young people with communication, problem solving and an element of self-
discipline within the life environment that hopefully prevent young people becoming 
involved in crime/anti-social behaviour or negative behaviour, Information for young 
people to engage with other agencies and to enhance future aspirations.

Page 126

Agenda Item 5



 
Young people in Melling have been supporting the clean-up sessions within the local 
community that are scheduled various Saturdays throughout the year.  The YP have 
completed sessions on healthy eating including planning the menu, taking it in turns 
to prepare and cook the food.  A small café was ongoing for several months and is 
due to start again in the future.  A pancake night is planned for Wednesday with 
various fillings some healthy and some traditional.  Young people have also been 
asked to bring a tin in for the food bank when a film night etc.
A snooker table and football table have been donated to the club from people in the 
community.
YP have been joining in, in team games helping them to build confidence and self-
esteem.   They regularly play football and have darts tournaments.
 
Sessions have been completed around exploitation, gang culture and protecting 
yourself through social media.  The YP joined in and produced posters around the 
dangers and how to protect themselves.  They all came up with some very good 
information.
There have also been issues as you know around insurance and being able to take 
the YP out on trips.  A new committee is due to be formed to discuss the options and 
to get insurance for trips going forward.  All volunteers are to complete the DBS 
checks.
Crosby
The young people have been involved in various activities.  There are four weekly 
cycles of different professionals coming into the sessions to teach different topics.  
These activities have included writing songs and recording them, different types of 
music was discussed the YP seemed to enjoy the themes around rap music and 
performing their songs.
LFC have also been coming for several weeks to discuss topics around healthy 
eating and the importance of exercise and keeping fit.  Not eating too much fat and 
sugar, that is particularly important considering that a lot of the YP drink energy 
drinks and eat a lot of sweets and chocolate.  In the coming weeks (weather 
permitting) the YP will be going to the park to take part in football tournament or 
other physical activities.
There have also been sessions on Latin dancing these sessions were well attended 
by the girls who enjoying joining in.
There have also been sessions around various arts and crafts, producing posters, 
masks, cards or just generally enjoying drawing and coloring in.  There is a plan to 
paint a mural to hang within the youth club to show off the talents of the young 
people.
There have been sessions around treating each other with respect.  Sessions 
around exploitation and drugs have been discussed in group sessions.
Southport Detached Work 
Detached youth is a style of youth work in which the youth worker goes out to meet 
young people on their own ground including -parks and open spaces, street corners, 
bus stops, and shopping areas, we engage with young people 2 evenings a week by 
using the street environment as a centre without walls Detached work is an important 
part of the comprehensive youth work strategy. It is complementary to other 
approaches including Centre based provision, project work and outreach and is a 
method of working with young people who may not otherwise access youth service 
provision. Young people who gather on street corners are often viewed as a threat to 
the community or at risk to themselves. Detached workers will constructively 

Page 127

Agenda Item 5



challenge young people about their behaviour, attitudes and perception of self and 
others 
Work which we undertake as detached youth workers and the nature of our youth 
engagement in delivering and performing these tasks in challenging environments 
and with unpredictable results. We have experience of street-based engagement 
and through obtaining this hand-on experience, we have been fortunate to establish 
a productive presence. Our street-based work is exploratory; we attempt to 
undertake work around the wider definition of community interaction.
We are always seeking to initiate new possible projects by way of new networks and 
partners. It is paramount as to how we are seen by potential investors; to this end we 
have always been willing to add support to other projects where and when necessary 
and this is evidenced through our contacts. In regard to our community profile, we 
believe, we are creating a local presence with other professionals within youth 
service facilities and partner agencies. We work closely with the local shopkeepers 
including the take away outlets in the Southport area , we monitor and communicate 
regularly with Mersey Travel station staff at Southport train station this is due to the 
number of missing young people within the area and staff are willing to be vigilant 
when young people are hanging round the station and buying tickets , we 
partnership work with the police and PCSOs and we will be directed to other areas in 
Southport if they raise concerns about young people, we sign post young people to 
Parenting 2000 and have supported workers at Parenting 2000 in the past to enable 
sessions to take place  
We are equally aware that our work can be challenging at times, however our belief 
in these young people and the work we engage them in, will eventually be rewarding 
and the Detached workers will continue to offer them support.

                                                            

UPDATE RE: SEFTON STREET INTERVENTION TEAM

FUNDING

Merseyside Fire & Rescue Service (MFRS) has been funded £15k by Sefton Council/Community 
Safety Fund to provide an Outreach Team whose aim is to engage with young people on the streets 
of Sefton to reduce anti-social behaviour and to provide reassurance to residents.

DEPLOYMENT

The Street Intervention Team (SIT) are deployed every Friday evening (5-9pm) and additional nights 
during school holidays and Bonfire period. The team is deployed every weekend with the exception 
of December and January (historically stats have evidenced engagement with young people is low 
due to the numbers of them hanging about the streets because of the poor weather).  However; if 
there is a particular request from our partners to support a Hot Spot area suffering a spike in ASB 
over these months the team can be called on to be deployed.

Deployment is made dependant on intelligence received by a number of partner agencies:-

 Merseyside Police
 Sefton Council:

Page 128

Agenda Item 5



o Community Safety Teams
o Parks, Green Spaces and Coast
o Senior Youth Worker

 Additional requests can also be made:
o Local Councillors
o Steering Groups

Deployments have included:

 Marian Square & surrounding areas (Pendle Estate/Sefton Estate/Rimrose Valley Park/Canal 
Towpath)

 South Road & surrounding areas
 Aintree Retail Park & surrounding areas
 Coronation Park, Orrell Mount, Crosby

TEAM

There is a bank of 8 members of staff, with 3 members of staff being deployed at any one time. All 
staff have enhanced DBS’s and experience of working with children & young people.

ENGAGEMENT WITH YOUNG PEOPLE

When engaging with young people on the streets, the SIT team offer Information, Advice and 
Guidance (IAG) which include:

 Drug & Alcohol 
 Careers advise
 Personal safety

The team also provide a referral service to other agencies which may include:

 Drug & Alcohol Services – Addaction
 Youth Provision (local youth centres, boxing clubs, football clubs, youth courses etc)
 MFRS Princes Trust Volunteer Programme
 MFRS Fire Cadets

ENGAGEMENT WITH ADULTS IN THE COMMUNITY

The team also provide advice & reassurance to local communities (local shop keepers, dog walkers, 
joggers, families in parks etc). 

The team also embark on a number of campaigns throughout the year, which may include:-

 Re-sighting wheelie bins during the bonfire period to reduce risk
 Issuing posters during local campaigns

ISSUES

Whilst on deployment, staff will report to the appropriate authorities any issues they encounter 
which may include:-

 Fly tipping
 Faulty street lighting
 Overflowing skips
 Burnt out cars
 Scrambler bikes

Page 129

Agenda Item 5



STATISTICS

The team started in November 2018, so the below stats are up to the end of March 2019.

18 Deployments

245 Engagements with young people (162 male / 83 female)

28 Individuals have asked for specific advice about local activities

261 Engagements with adults in the community

22 Individuals have taken leaflets about Fire Cadets, Princes Trust Programme, NAC, Sefton ABC, 
Boxing Club, Local Youth Centres, Crosby C&C Centre

8 Fly tipping issues reported

1 Overflowing skip reported

3 faulty street lighting reported

SOFT OUTCOMES

 A very positive response from the community about the presence of the team I the area
 Young people have commented that there isn’t enough to do – other than sports activities, 

which don’t suit all young people
 Local businesses are starting to interact with the team and share intelligence

Page 130

Agenda Item 5



Sefton Safer Communities 
Partnership Plan                             
2019/2020

P
age 131

A
genda Item

 6



Vision: 

To build community resilience to crime and increase the confidence of our residents by changing their perception of 
crime in Sefton

Foreword – Cllr Trish Hardy, Cabinet Member Communities and Housing and Chair of Sefton Safer Communities 
Partnership 

Sefton in context 

Welcome to the Sefton Safer Communities Partnership Plan 2019/2020. Ensuring the safety of our residents is a clear priority for 
partners in Sefton.  Sefton’s Safer Communities Partnership is the coming together of organisations from across the borough to work 
towards reducing crime and reassuring our communities. The effect of crime on our communities is wide reaching. It is the 
Partnership’s plan to help reduce this effect and make our communities safer places to live, work and visit.  

This strategy is a positive opportunity to set out a coordinated and consistent approach amongst all partners in Sefton as to how we 
tackle crime in line with the Police and Crime Commissioner going forward.

Whilst the strategy reflects our continued commitment to the reduction of crime, it has been written in the context of changing 
resources.

The purpose of the plan is to outline how we in Sefton will work in partnership to reduce crime, support victims, respond to trends 
and raise awareness amongst our communities and partners about the signs and consequences of criminal activity.

P
age 132

A
genda Item

 6



What we know 

We are all working within the context of reducing resources, which means we have to make difficult decisions as to where we focus 
our attention and to deliver the best outcomes for all. In order to do this, we have considered the evidence and intelligence 
available and listened to what our communities are telling us about the things that concern them and impact upon their lives. 

The Partnership will continue to work with the Police and Crime Commissioner to ensure the priorities for our communities are 
highlighted and can be used to inform plans.

There are some emerging trends we need to be mindful of whilst developing our priorities in Sefton which include Youth Violence, 
Knife Crime and Serious Acquisitive Crime but we must be mindful of the fact that Serious and Organised Crime continues to be a 
major concern to our communities and our partnership. 

The number of incidents of Domestic Abuse presents a challenge for us all, particularly levels of repeats and the correlation among 
young women, Domestic/Sexual Abuse and Gang issues. It is imperative that we ensure that key stakeholders recognise their roles 
and responsibilities in tackling domestic and sexual abuse, and that our services for victims, offenders and families are fit for 
purpose, improve outcomes and are in accordance with safeguarding duties.

Hate Crime is an area we need to continue to focus upon to increase confidence in reporting, support frontline services to 
recognise an incident as Hate Crime and to ensure we have the appropriate support structures in place for those who experience 
Hate Crime. 

Communities need the support and advice to become resilient and the VCF sector is taking more responsibility in delivering 
activities previously delivered by Local Authorities and other strategic partners. 

Sefton Safer Communities Partnership is committed to working together to address those issues concerning our communities. Our 
priority remains to tackle issues of crime and community safety and make best use of the resources we have available to us to 
deliver the best quality services to our residents.

P
age 133

A
genda Item

 6



Previous successes

Positive futures: Diversionary activities ranging from addressing issues of low level ASB to working with young people 
engaging in gang activity

60 Park nights sessions took place across Sefton, taking place in identified communities and attracting over 560 participants across 
the programme, with young people regularly attending weekly sessions and a rewards system was in place to reward regular 
attendance so retention rates were high.   
 
140 targeted young people attended an Ibiza pool party at Bootle Leisure Centres part of the rewards programme.
 
18 participants attending water sports taster sessions as part of the three wards programme for their regular attendance.
  
180 children were engaged in Water sports as part of the Scrambler Bike Project.
 
448 leisure passes administered by Looked After children & Young People
 
40 week Kicks programme delivered in partnership with Liverpool FC through providing weekly term time football diversionary 
sessions attracting 8-18-year-old on Friday nights in Netherton and personal development sessions during school holidays.

Youth Offending: Triage activities to reduce numbers of first time entrants and support those at risk of engaging in 
criminal / anti social/ gang related behaviour

Our Youth Offending Team (YOT) family size is 10 YOTs. Youth Justice Board (YJB) YOT performance centres on several main 
areas; re-offending rates, first time entrants into the youth justice system and custody.  The current re-offending rate is 47.7%, 
which is higher than our ‘family’ average of 43.2% and the Merseyside average of 46.1%. The performance data for Sefton YOT 
has been very good over a long period of time, but this marks a decline compared to the previous quarter data and will require 
some analysis of long-term trends. What we do know is while there has been an increase in offending rates and a slight increase in 
the reoffending frequency, the YOT has been effective at reducing the total number of offences committed by those who re-offend. 

P
age 134

A
genda Item

 6



Sefton’s prevention strategies continue to perform with other comparable prevention services in Merseyside and in the North West 
in terms of reducing the number of first time entrants (FTE’s).

The court outcome for every offence committed has been reviewed and has found them to be commensurate i.e. it was not 
appropriate for them to be diverted to an out of court disposal. The first-time entrants can also be affected by other factors such as 
police operations. Local tracking of FTE has been completed to scrutinise more recent FTE and this has found a reduction in FTE. 
The number of FTE’s has significantly reduced from 70.3% in 2017/18 to 61.4% in 2018/19 compared with the baseline 2010/11.

During the last quarter of 2018/2019 there was a further decrease in the number of FTE’s from 11 in Q3 to 6 in Q4. Sefton continue 
to have reductions, during 2018/19 there were a total of 44 first time entrants compared to 62 during 2017/18 and 64 in 2016/17.  

Sefton’s custody rate is 0.04, the lowest rate over the last five years. Performance compares extremely well when compared to the 
North West 0.41, Merseyside 0.36 and the YOT family average 0.18. Sefton the lowest rate of custody amongst the Merseyside 
YOTs and performance is extremely good within the ranking of the YOT family

The total number of Remand Episodes in 2018/19 have continued to show a significant reduction with 111 Remand Episodes 
compared to 149 in 2017/18 and 179 in 2016/17 

The number of Remands in Custody in 2018/19 have reduced to 0 compared with 1 Remand in Custody in 2017/18 and 2 
Remands in Custody 2016/17, the lowest figure since 2012/13 of 28.

This is particularly important given the number of safeguarding concerns we have had for young people in custody as well as the 
significant financial implications for the council funding beds within the secure estate. This places our custody rate at 0.04 
comparing very well to Merseyside at 0.36 and 0.18 with our YOT family. Our performance here is exceptionally good and is the 
lowest custody rate within our YOT family. 

The total number of Court Disposals in 2018/19 have shown a reduction with 140 Court Disposals compared to 164 in 2017/18 and 
150 in 2016/17.  

P
age 135

A
genda Item

 6



The number of Custodial Sentences have continued to reduce, there were 3 in 2018/19 compared to 4 in 2017/18 and 6 in 2016/17 
the lowest figure of Custodial Sentences since 2011/12 of 45.

Serious and Organised Crime

Whilst there has been excellent partnership work, there continues to be a significant risk to our communities from Serious and 
Organised Crime and we are determined as a Partnership to disrupt and target those who are responsible. During 2018/19 the 
SSCP has supported Merseyside Police and other partners with many operations and activities. A significant success has been in 
the significant reduction of the threat level in relation to the South Sefton tensions. Through targeted operations, supported by the 
SSCP, and the successful implementation of Gang injunctions, the key protagonists have been severely disrupted.

The Multi Agency Response to Serious and Organised Crime (MARSOC) continues to meet monthly and has considered those key 
individuals who cause most harm in our communities and developed actions for disruption and partnership plans to try and alleviate 
the impact that these individuals have on our communities. To enhance the information sharing opportunities between Merseyside 
Police and Partners the MARSOC also discusses the trends and hotspots of Serious Acquisitive Crime in the Borough.

The SSCP has continued to support the Get Away “n” Get Safe (GANGS) project which continues to receive fantastic feedback 
from School staff, Children and Parents.
.
Priorities and actions for 2019/2020

Activity Expected Outcomes Performance Measure
Anti-Social Behaviour
£100,200

Reduce Anti-Social Behaviour.

Target diversionary activities for young people into the 
summer months. Deliver focused activities around the 
Bonfire and Halloween period and build on the 
success of previous years.

Reduced levels of ASB.

Numbers of individuals/families worked with.

Young people progressing into universal services.

Number of FTE compared with previous year.

P
age 136

A
genda Item

 6



Reduce the numbers of first time entrants into the 
criminal justice system.

Reduce percentage of triage cases reoffending 
compared to non-triage cases.

Numbers going through triage with successful 
outcomes.

Number of triage interventions linked to triage to 
address substance misuse.

Sexual Violence
£29,800.00

Specialist service in Sefton to support victims of sexual 
violence and abuse – ISVA and counselling services 
support. 

Increased support for sex workers in Sefton 
experiencing sexual violence.

The contract is being managed by the OPCC on 
behalf of all the commissioning agencies and will 
coordinate the performance monitoring 
requirements.
Info will include numbers of service users in Sefton 
referred, supported and benefitting from positive 
outcomes.

Programme of support developed with organisation 
Changing Lives as part of Red Umbrella project 
and the number of Individuals supported.

Vulnerable People 
including Hate Crime
£10,000.00

Raise the awareness of hate crime across the 
Borough.

Support vulnerable individuals within our community.

Keep messages simple and clear. (Use education 
actions to deliver detailed messages).

Deliver hate crime training for professionals

Reduce reoffending.

Number of Hate crime incidents reported.

Number of cases considered at Hate Crime 
MARAC and outcomes achieved.

Number of attendees at training sessions

Community Infrastructure
£80,000

We will be using resources to make our communities 
more resilient to the impact of Anti-Social and Criminal 
behaviour. 

Number of repaired or replaced CCTV cameras 
and security systems.

P
age 137

A
genda Item

 6



We will aim to make our communities sustainable in 
tackling Anti-Social and Criminal behaviour and 
delivering programmes to give people the “tools” 
necessary to Stay Safe

Number of people attending Programmes 
commissioned to provide interventions in hotspot 
areas and provide targeted support to specific 
demographic groups. 

Community Resilience
£55,000

We will use all opportunities to pass on information 
and training about the impact of criminal activity to the 
community, via our community groups and community 
partners.

Continued to deliver and expand the reach of Sefton’s 
Scrambler Bike initiative.

Use all available resources from partners to get 
messages to the public arena.

Support the local economy.

Continued support of Community Justice Panels.

Make Sefton’s Public highways safer for all users.

Increased levels of community intelligence. 

Increase the level of co-created activities with 
partners.

Reduce levels of crime reported from the night time 
economy.

Reduce levels of street drinking and aggressive 
begging.

Reduced KSI figures on Sefton’s Roads.

Protect Vulnerable road users (Pedestrians and 
Cyclists)

Serious Organised Crime 
& Serious Acquisitive 
Crime
£52,000

Reduce Acquisitive and Violent Crime.

Reoffending reduced.

Working closely with the School teams ensuring 
activities are focused on the high crime areas.

Tackling those who transport and distribute illegal 
substances whilst under the influence

Reduced number of Firearms discharges.

Reduced reoffending rate (by OCG nominals).

Number of cannabis farms detected and 
dismantled.

Reduced Acquisitive and Violent Crime numbers.

Increased levels of community intelligence.

P
age 138

A
genda Item

 6



Number of cases considered through MARSOC 
and MACE

Child Exploitation & Youth 
Violence
£5,000

Promote the Multi Agency Child Exploitation (MACE) 
process and encourage more frontline workers to 
engage with Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub and use 
the new CE1 and CE2 referral forms.

Engage with Schools to develop an approach to 
reducing permanent exclusions and deliver projects in 
school settings to build children's resilience to 
exploitation and violence

Number of Children Identified at risk from the 
MACE process

Number of Partners engaged with.

Number of Educational Sessions delivered

P
age 139

A
genda Item

 6



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Sefton Safer Communities Partnership  

Date of Meeting: 13 June 2019

Subject: Sefton Domestic and Sexual Abuse Strategy 

1. Background

1.1 Sefton’s Domestic and Sexual Abuse Strategy (2015-18) was approved by the 
SSCP on 25 June 2015.  The Domestic Abuse Executive Group is responsible for 
taking forward the strategy action plan. 

1.2 This strategy is now due to be updated and refreshed for next three years. A 
review of the strategy objectives and achievements has been completed, which 
have been used to inform the development of the new 2018-21 strategy. 

2. 2015-18 strategy performance overview

2.1 There are 4 themes outlined in the strategy, Partnership, Prevention, Provision and 
Protection. Considerable work has been undertaken by partner agencies across 
Sefton to develop and deliver a variety of work to support the objectives within these 
priority areas.  A summary of the current statistics and headline outcomes is 
attached for consideration by the SSCP. This has allowed the Domestic Abuse 
Executive partnership to reflect on the achievements of the past three years, but to 
also recognise the areas that still need further development and support.

3. 2019-21 draft strategy 

3.1 The updated strategy for 2019-21 has been developed in partnership by the 
Domestic Abuse Executive Group. The performance review of the 2015-18 strategy 
has been used to inform the development of the refreshed objectives and priority 
areas. The draft strategy is attached for consideration by the SSCP.

4. Recommendations

4.1 Sefton Safer Communities Partnership is asked to consider the current strategy’s 
achievements over the past three years and approve the 2019-21 Domestic and 
Sexual Abuse Strategy.

Page 141

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Sefton Domestic 
and Sexual Abuse 

Strategy
     

2019-2021
Approved …….

Page 143

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Domestic and Sexual Abuse Strategy 2019-21

2

Table of Contents Page

1. Foreword 3

2. Introduction 4

3. Governance 4

4. Our Vision 5

5. Objectives 5

6. Definition 5

7. Purpose 6

8. National Context 6

9. Local Context 7

10. Information and Data 7

11.Strategic Themes 10

12.Outcomes 11

13.Monitoring and Measuring the Impact 12

14.Further Information 12

Page 144

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Domestic and Sexual Abuse Strategy 2019-21

3

1. Foreword 

Welcome to Sefton’s 2019-2021 Domestic and Sexual Abuse Strategy. Tackling domestic 
abuse remains a clear priority for partners in Sefton and as the Chair of Sefton’s Safer 
Communities Partnership I am committed to driving forward and building on the work we 
achieved in our last partnership strategy.

Both nationally and locally we have seen a greater recognition of domestic abuse and the 
impact this has on survivors and their families’ every day. Information is more readily available 
than ever before for both professionals and members of the public. There are lots of measures 
in place to safeguard victims and children, and increasingly the light is being shone on the 
behaviour of perpetrators of domestic abuse. A new law on coercive control was introduced 
in 2015 which recognised the significance of non violent behaviour in cases of domestic 
abuse.

However, we must not get complacent as there is still so much to do. It is estimated 2 million 
adults in England and Wales experienced some form of domestic abuse in 2017/18. In Sefton, 
over 2,000 domestic abuse related crimes were recorded in 2017/18. Approximately 20% of 
women and 4% of men have experienced some sort of sexual assault, and yet only 15% of 
people report sexual violence to the police.

Whilst we have a range of support services in Sefton, we need to do more to ensure anyone, 
irrespective of their role, can recognise domestic abuse and knows where to find further 
support. We need to continue our work with children and young people to ensure they 
understand what a healthy relationship looks like.  We need to offer more challenge to 
perpetrators, but also offer them opportunities to change their behaviour to reduce the cycle 
of abuse. We need to ensure victims of sexual violence and abuse have the support they 
need. 

And we can only achieve this if we continue to work together and recognise that we all have 
a part to play in tackling domestic and sexual abuse – as partner agencies, as colleagues, as 
communities. I am really pleased with the commitment Sefton has given to this issue over the 
past three years and I will continue to champion for this to be developed further for the benefit 
of our communities. 

Cllr Trish Hardy
Chair of Sefton Safer Communities Partnership 

Page 145

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Domestic and Sexual Abuse Strategy 2019-21

4

2. Introduction
The Sefton Domestic and Sexual Abuse Strategy 2019-2021 is a partnership document 
developed by Sefton’s Domestic Abuse Executive Group on behalf of Sefton Safer 
Communities Partnership.  It continues to reflect the commitment of partner agencies to work 
together to address domestic abuse.

The strategic themes have been revised to reflect national learning and practice associated 
with tackling domestic abuse. The priority actions within these build upon the work delivered 
in the previous 2015-18 strategy and learning from local reviews. 

The strategy sets out our vision and is based around three strategic themes:

 Prevent –Early intervention and prevention to reduce the cycle of abuse.  

 Protect - Keeping victims and their families’ safe whilst challenging the behaviour of 
perpetrators.

 Repair - providing ongoing support beyond crisis intervention and developing resilience 
for the future.

3. Governance 

Sefton MARAC 

Sefton Safer 
Communities 
Partnership 

(SSCP) 

Sefton Local 
Safeguarding 

Children’s Board 
(LSCB) 

 Domestic Abuse 
Executive Group 

Domestic Abuse 
Operational Group 

Council and partner 
agency decision making 

arrangements

Merseyside 
Vulnerable 

People’s Forum

Merseyside 
Combined Adults 

Safeguarding BoardMerseyside 
Strategic Domestic 
Violence & Abuse 

Group  

MARAC Steering 
Group  

Merseyside 
MARAC Steering 

Group  

Page 146

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Domestic and Sexual Abuse Strategy 2019-21

5

4. Our Vision
That victims of domestic and/or sexual abuse and their families in Sefton feel safer in their 
communities, feel protected from harm, and able to move forward positively with their lives 
as a result of receiving the support and interventions they need, and that the behaviour of 
perpetrators is effectively challenged. 

5. Objectives
 To prioritise a strategic partnership approach to the reduction of domestic and sexual 

abuse in our communities.

 To improve the early identification, response to and prevention of domestic and sexual 
abuse.

 To increase the reporting of domestic and sexual abuse through awareness raising and 
access to support services. 

 To work with commissioners to ensure appropriate services are in place to support and 
protect victims of domestic and sexual abuse and their children.

 To hold perpetrators to account through appropriate criminal justice sanctions and effective 
early interventions that promote long term behaviour change.

 To safeguard children from the effects of living within a household experiencing domestic 
and/or sexual abuse.

6. Definition
The Home Office (March 2013) defines domestic abuse as:

“Any incident or pattern of incidents of controlling, coercive or threatening behaviour, violence 
or abuse between those aged 16 or are or who have been intimate partners or family 
members regardless of gender or sexuality.

This can encompass, but is not limited to, the following types of abuse:

 Psychological
 Physical
 Sexual
 Financial
 Emotional

Page 147

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Domestic and Sexual Abuse Strategy 2019-21

6

Controlling behaviour is: a range of acts designed to make a person subordinate and/or 
dependent by isolating them from sources of support, exploiting their resources and 
capacities for personal gain, depriving them of the means needed for independence, 
resistance and escape and regulating their everyday behaviour. 

Coercive behaviour is: an act or a pattern of acts of assault, threats, humiliation and 
intimidation or other abuse that is used to harm, punish, or frighten their victim.” *

This definition includes so called ‘honour’ based violence, female genital mutilation (FGM) 
and forced marriage, and is clear that victims are not confined to one gender or ethnic group”. 

Coercive or controlling behaviour within an intimate or family relationship was established as 
a criminal offence in the Serious Crime Act 2015 and came into force on 29 December 2015.

There is no one set definition of sexual violence or abuse; however, it is widely accepted as 
being any unwanted sexual act or activity. There are many different kinds of sexual violence 
and abuse, including but not restricted to: rape, sexual assault, child sexual abuse, sexual 
harassment, rape within marriage/relationships, forced marriage, so-called honour based 
violence, female genital mutilation (FGM), trafficking, sexual exploitation and ritual abuse. 
Sexual violence can be perpetrated by a stranger or by someone known.

7. Purpose
The purpose of this strategy is to ensure that all key stakeholders in Sefton have a consistent 
understanding of the issues surrounding domestic and sexual abuse and their roles and 
responsibilities in addressing them.  Domestic abuse cannot be tackled in isolation. it requires 
joint working across a wide range of departments, agencies, and partnerships, including 
those beyond the usual statutory and specialist organisations associated with domestic 
abuse. 

This strategy sets out how we will do this in Sefton over the next three years. It outlines the 
key themes partners will focus on and identifies priorities which can be translated into 
practical areas for action and improvement.  

Most elements of the domestic abuse and Violence Against Women and Children (VAWG) 
agenda are included within this strategy. However, trafficking, child sexual exploitation (CSE), 
and gun and gang related activity, whilst linked, will be covered in more detail in other specific 
strategies to avoid duplication and potential dilution of actions. 

8. National Context
The government’s new Domestic Abuse Bill will bring along a wide range of new requirements 
nationally.  The SSCP supports the recognition domestic abuse is being given nationally by 
the government, and will ensure this strategy is reviewed to incorporate any new legislation, 
programmes, or practice as required. 

Page 148

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Domestic and Sexual Abuse Strategy 2019-21

7

There are a number of local and national strategies, examples of practice learning evidence, 
research and guidance that also tie into this strategy. Further details on how to access these 
and other relevant publications can be found in section 12: Further Information.

9. Local Context
Sefton’s Domestic Abuse Executive Group is the multi-agency partnership responsible for 
actioning this strategy and reports to Sefton Safer Communities Partnership. This group 
ensures there is a joined up approach with other Sefton partnerships, including Sefton Local 
Safeguarding Children’s Board, Sefton’s Health and Wellbeing Board, and Merseyside Adults 
Safeguarding Board, as well as local programmes such as the Sefton Turnaround Families 
programme, to ensure activities developed around domestic abuse become embedded in 
mainstream processes and frontline practice. 

The local approach is also linked into wider sub regional arrangements to ensure activities 
associated with joint priorities are complemented and not developed in isolation to each other. 
This includes Sefton representation on the Merseyside Strategic Domestic Violence and 
Abuse Group and links into the Liverpool city region Violence Against Women and Girls 
agenda. 

There are also a number of local policies and strategies that have informed the strategy 
refresh.  Details of these can be found in section 12: Further Information. This will be reviewed 
and updated as new documents are agreed to ensure cross thematic work associated with 
domestic and sexual abuse is interlinked. 

10. Information and Data
National 
Domestic and sexual abuse is a national issue that has an enormous impact on the lives of 
those it affects. Data does not accurately reflect the true scale of the issue and it is widely 
accepted that any figures will be an underrepresentation. However, they do provide some 
context on the extent and nature of the problem. Current statistics and research highlights 
include:

 It is estimated 2 million adults in England and Wales aged 16 to 59 years experienced 
domestic abuse in 2017/18. 1  

 Nationally, the police recorded 599,549 domestic abuse related crimes in 2017/18.This 
was an increase of 23% from the previous year. 2

 12% of all recorded crimes by the police in England and Wales were classified as domestic 
abuse in 2017/18. 3 

Page 149

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Domestic and Sexual Abuse Strategy 2019-21

8

 On average the police in England and Wales receive over 100 calls relating to domestic 
abuse every hour.4 

 Women are twice as likely to have experienced domestic abuse than men. 7.9% of women 
(1.3 million) and 4.2% men (695,000) in England and Wales reported having experienced 
domestic abuse in 2017/18. 5

 Between April 2015 and March 2017 there have been 400 domestic homicides in England 
and Wales. 73% of these were female victims (293) and 27% were male victims. 72% of 
these homicides (286) were committed by a partner or ex-partner, 82% of which were 
female victims. 6   

 25% of lesbian and bi-sexual women and almost 50% of gay and bi-sexual men have 
experienced at least one incident of domestic abuse. 7   

 Research indicates trans people are disproportionately affected by domestic abuse, with 
one report showing 80% had experienced some form of abuse from a partner or ex-
partner. 8 

 Individuals with a long term illness or disability are more likely to be victims of domestic 
abuse. 9 

 Evidence shows non physical abuse is the most common type of domestic abuse.  73% 
of women and 57% of men aged 16-59 in England and Wales were subject to non physical 
abuse in 2017/18 10. One study also found that 95 out of 100 domestic abuse survivors 
reported experiencing coercive control. 11

 Around 1 in 5 children have been exposed to domestic abuse. 12 

 Domestic abuse is a factor in over half of child serious case reviews. 13

 Victims experiencing or at risk of ‘honour’ based violence face additional risks and barriers 
to seeking help and are considered to be at higher risk of serious harm or murder. 14 

 20% of women (3.1 million) and 4% of men (631,000) have experienced some sort of 
sexual assault since the age of 16. 15

 Approximately 85,000 women and 12,000 men are raped on average in England and 
Wales every year. 16 

 Only 15% of individuals who experience sexual violence report it to the police.17 

 1 in 6 children have been sexually abused by the time they are 16. 18  

 Over 90% of sexually abused children were abused by someone they knew. 19 

 Disabled children are over 3 times more likely to be abused than non-disabled children) 
20 

Page 150

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Domestic and Sexual Abuse Strategy 2019-21

9

Local

 27,426 domestic abuse related incidents and crimes were recorded in Merseyside in 
2017/18, of which 2,706 were in Sefton. 21  

 12% of all recorded crimes in Merseyside were classified as domestic abuse related in 
2017/18. 22 

 80% (2,329) domestic abuse related prosecutions in Merseyside resulted in a conviction 
in 2017/18. 23 

 Analysis of Merseyside Police domestic abuse data found that 95% of coercive control 
victims were women and 74% of perpetrators were men. 76% of coercive control cases 
happened within an intimate partner context.  The study found that common abusive 
behaviours used in coercive control included “…use of technology (such as phone 
trackers, controlling social media usage, barrage of text messages or monitoring phone 
usage), sexual coercion, monitoring behaviours, isolation, threats, financial abuse, 
deprivation (depriving access to support) and physical violence (63% of coercive control 
cases featured reports of physical violence).” 24 

  318 children in Sefton were on a child protection plan in 2017/18 where domestic abuse 
was cited as a feature. 

 498 families in Sefton were supported in 2017/18 with an Early Help offer where domestic 
abuse was cited. 26

 There were 540 cases heard at Sefton’s MARAC (Multi Agency Risk Assessment 
Conference) in 2017/18. 126 cases (24%) were repeat cases.  819 children were identified 
within MARAC cases. 27

 Sefton’s IDVA (Independent Domestic Violence Advisor) team, which provides support to 
high risk victims of domestic abuse in Sefton, received 1,178 referrals in 2017/18. 1,100 
of these were women, 78 were men. 28

 Sefton Women’s and Children’s Aid (SWACA), which provides support to victims of 
domestic violence and their children in Sefton, received 1,606 referrals in 2017/18. 29

 The Rape and Sexual Assault Centre (RASA) Merseyside, which provides support to 
victims of sexual violence and abuse, supported 616 individuals in Sefton in 2017/18. 30

 10% of Sefton clients supported by RASA reported sexual violence perpetrated by a 
partner or ex-partner, 19% reported abuse perpetrated by a family member. 31

  277 Sefton clients supported by RASA waited more than 2 years before seeking 
support from the time of the assault. 32

Page 151

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Domestic and Sexual Abuse Strategy 2019-21

10

11. Strategic Themes 
These are the overarching areas of work Sefton’s Safer Communities Partnership and its 
wider partners will focus on over the next 3 years. These themes will form the basis of a 
partnership action plan which will detail how these priorities will be delivered.

1. Prevent

Early intervention provision, including improving public knowledge on 
domestic abuse to drive a cultural shift, intervening earlier to prevent 
and reduce the impact of longer term poor outcomes, and breaking the 
cycle of abuse across generations.

 Clear and consistent information is available to professionals and the public on domestic 
abuse, including practical tools, advice and the support services available.

 Educational programmes for children and young people focusing on healthy relationships 
and developing resilience to help prevent future abusive behaviour.

 A quality assured offer of support for children and young people causing harm to help 
prevent this behaviour escalating.

 Domestic abuse is considered as a routine enquiry by a wide range of professionals 
across Sefton.

 There are interventions available to perpetrators at the earliest opportunity to support 
positive behaviour change.

2. Protect

Keeping victims of domestic and sexual abuse and their children safe 
in a consistent and coordinated way, providing safe and quality 
assured support services, and challenging the behaviour of 
perpetrators whilst also offering opportunities to change.

 Victims and their families have a consistent and effective response from agencies to 
disclosures of domestic abuse that protects them from further harm.

 Agencies are consistent and effective in recognising and identifying risks associated with 
domestic abuse; workers proactively use professional curiosity and take action. 

 Organisations have clear and easily accessible policies on domestic abuse to support 
their employees.

Page 152

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Domestic and Sexual Abuse Strategy 2019-21

11

 There are a range of quality assured, evidence based support services for victims and 
perpetrators to ensure work is delivered safely, responds to need, reduces risk and is in 
partnership with other agencies.

 There is a range of specific support available for children and young people affected by 
domestic abuse, which reduces risk.

 There is a whole family approach to keeping victims and their children safe and holding 
perpetrators to account.

 The behaviour of perpetrators is proactively challenged in a consistent and appropriate 
way and there are a range of interventions available to support behaviour change. 

 There are effective and efficient  multi agency risk management processes, including 
MARAC and MAPPA, that are regularly reviewed to ensure they are fit for purpose.

3. Repair 

Supporting the development of resilience for families and individuals 
to move on and deal with future life challenges, providing ongoing 
support beyond crisis intervention.

 Provision of a range of ongoing support for victims and children to reduce risk and impact 
of abuse, and recover from trauma.

 Provision of wider support opportunities for perpetrators of domestic abuse to sustain 
positive behaviour change long term. 

 Criminal justice interventions achieve positive outcomes for victims to support them to 
move on with their lives. 

 A wide range of organisations that can provide ongoing community based support for 
individuals and families based on their needs.

12. Outcomes
Based on the objectives outlined above, this strategy seeks to achieve the following 
outcomes: 

 Service providers and front line staff are equipped to recognise and respond to domestic 
and sexual violence.

Page 153

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Domestic and Sexual Abuse Strategy 2019-21

12

 Information about the support available for domestic and sexual violence victims is clear, 
consistent, and accessible.

 Our community is educated as to what domestic and sexual abuse is, and what services 
are available in Sefton. 

 Sefton residents feel confident and able to report incidents of domestic abuse.

 Consistent processes and systems are in place to respond appropriately to domestic and 
sexual abuse.

 Victims and their children are offered person centred support to address their specific 
needs.

 Perpetrators of domestic and sexual abuse are dealt with appropriately.  

 Repeat incidents of domestic abuse are reduced. 

13. Monitoring and Measuring the Impact
Sefton Safer Communities Partnership will scrutinise progress of the strategy’s objectives 
against the Strategy Implementation Plan on a quarterly basis.

The Partnership will also review the strategy on an annual basis and will consider:
 Progress made against the strategy’s objectives.

 The overall impact and effectiveness of the strategy measured through the strategy 
outcomes

 New legislation or government directives for incorporation in the strategy.

 Local need and any other emerging priorities.

14. Further Information 
Local policies and procedures

Sefton Safer Communities Partnership Plan 2019/20. 

Sefton Multi Agency Domestic Abuse Protocol
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/1484418/Domestic_Abuse_Protocol.pdf

Page 154

Agenda Item 7

https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/1484418/Domestic_Abuse_Protocol.pdf


Sefton Domestic and Sexual Abuse Strategy 2019-21

13

Sefton LSCB Level of Need Guidance
https://seftonlscb.org.uk/assets/1/level_of_need_guidance_oct_2017.pdf

Sefton Children and Young People’s Plan 2015-2020
http://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s64194/Sefton%20Children%20Young%20Peo
ples%20Plan%202015%20-%202020.pdf

Sefton Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2014 – 2020. Available at: http://www.sefton.gov.uk/public-
health/health-and-wellbeing-board.aspx

Sefton Turnaround Programme Outcomes Plan 2018 to 2020
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/social-care/children-and-young-people/turnaround-programme-for-
troubled-families.aspx

Sefton’s Homelessness Strategy 2018-21
http://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s87175/Draft%20Homelessness%20Strategy%
202018-23.pdf

National polices, best practice, and guidance

Safe Lives: ‘Spotlights’ on Domestic Abuse / Sexual Violence 
http://www.safelives.org.uk/knowledge-hub/spotlights

Women’s Aid: Research Information on Domestic Abuse                                                 
www.womensaid.org.uk/research-and-publications/

Respect: Information on work with Perpetrators, Male Victims of Domestic Abuse, Young People’s 
Violence in Close Relationships                                                          
http://respect.uk.net/what-we-do/

Refuge: Research Information on Domestic Abuse                                                                                        
www.refuge.org.uk/our-work/affecting-change/research-and-policy/

Office National Statistics: Domestic Abuse in England and Wales Year Ending March 2018 
www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/domesticabuseinengland
andwales/yearendingmarch2018

NHS: Help After Rape and Sexual Assault                                                          
www.nhs.uk/live-well/sexual-health/help-after-rape-and-sexual-assault/

Home Office: The Economic and Social Costs of Domestic Abuse – January 2019 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/7
72180/horr107.pdf

Home Office: Violence against Women and Girls and Male Position Factsheets (Home Office) – 
Government Perspective
https://homeofficemedia.blog.gov.uk/2019/03/07/violence-against-women-and-girls-and-male-
position-factsheets/

Stonewall: Supporting Trans Women in Domestic and Sexual Violence Services Report 
www.stonewall.org.uk/news/stonewall-and-nfpsynergy-report-professional-experiences 

Page 155

Agenda Item 7

https://seftonlscb.org.uk/assets/1/level_of_need_guidance_oct_2017.pdf
http://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s64194/Sefton%20Children%20Young%20Peoples%20Plan%202015%20-%202020.pdf
http://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s64194/Sefton%20Children%20Young%20Peoples%20Plan%202015%20-%202020.pdf
http://www.sefton.gov.uk/public-health/health-and-wellbeing-board.aspx
http://www.sefton.gov.uk/public-health/health-and-wellbeing-board.aspx
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/social-care/children-and-young-people/turnaround-programme-for-troubled-families.aspx
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/social-care/children-and-young-people/turnaround-programme-for-troubled-families.aspx
http://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s87175/Draft%20Homelessness%20Strategy%202018-23.pdf
http://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s87175/Draft%20Homelessness%20Strategy%202018-23.pdf
http://www.safelives.org.uk/knowledge-hub/spotlights
http://www.womensaid.org.uk/research-and-publications/
http://respect.uk.net/what-we-do/
http://www.refuge.org.uk/our-work/affecting-change/research-and-policy/
http://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/domesticabuseinenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2018
http://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/domesticabuseinenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2018
http://www.nhs.uk/live-well/sexual-health/help-after-rape-and-sexual-assault/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/772180/horr107.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/772180/horr107.pdf
https://homeofficemedia.blog.gov.uk/2019/03/07/violence-against-women-and-girls-and-male-position-factsheets/
https://homeofficemedia.blog.gov.uk/2019/03/07/violence-against-women-and-girls-and-male-position-factsheets/
http://www.stonewall.org.uk/news/stonewall-and-nfpsynergy-report-professional-experiences


Sefton Domestic and Sexual Abuse Strategy 2019-21

14

HM Government: Working Together to Safeguard Children. A guide to inter-agency working to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of children. July 2018
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/7
79401/Working_Together_to_Safeguard-Children.pdf

HM Inspectorate of Probation: An inspection of North West Division, National Probation 
Service. February 2019
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmiprobation/inspections/nwnps/

HM Inspectorate of Merseyside Community Rehabilitation Company (CRC). September 2018
CRC inspection 
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmiprobation/inspections/merseysidecrc/

Bibliography

1 Crime Survey for England and Wales, Office for National Statistics (ONS), 2018.
2 & 3 Police data, Office for National Statistics (ONS), 2018.
4 HMIC 2015, on Women’s Aid website
5 & 6 Office for National Statistics (ONS), 2018
7 Stonewall
8 The Scottish Transgender Alliance, on Stonewall website
9 Office for National Statistics ONS), 2018
10 Crime Survey for England and Wales, Office for National Statistics (ONS), 2018.
11 Kelly et al, 2014, on Women’s Aid site
12 Radford, L et al (2011) on NSPCC website.
13 Sidebotham, P et al (2016) on NSPCC website
14 Safelives Spolight Report #HiddenVictims
15 Crime Survey for England and Wales, Office for National Statistics (ONS), 2017
16 Crime Survey for England and Wales, on Rape crisis website
17 Rape Crisis
18 NSPCC
19 Radford, L. et al (2011)
20 Jones, L. et al (2012)
21 Crime Survey for England and Wales, Office for National Statistics (ONS), 2018 and Merseyside Police
22 & 23 Crime Survey for England and Wales, Office for National Statistics (ONS), 2018
24 Barlow et al, 2018 on Women’s Aid website
25, 26, 27, 28 Sefton Council
29 Sefton Women’s and Children’s Aid
30, 31 & 32 Rape and Sexual Assault Centre (RASA) Merseyside

Page 156

Agenda Item 7

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/779401/Working_Together_to_Safeguard-Children.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/779401/Working_Together_to_Safeguard-Children.pdf
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmiprobation/inspections/nwnps/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmiprobation/inspections/merseysidecrc/


1

Briefing to: Sefton Safer Communities Partnership

Briefing from: Ros Stanley

Date: June 2019

Subject: Integrated Youth Services  

Prepared by: Ros Stanley

1 Purpose / Summary

1.1 The purpose of this report is to update the Safer Communities Partnership 
(SSCP) regarding progress and achievements of the Integrated Youth Service 
since March 2019. 

2 Recommendation(s) That: The SSCP notes the report

3 Youth Offending Team (YOT) 

3.1      Sefton’s Key National Performance Indicators–headlines (June 2019)

3.2 Police National Computer (PNC) Youth Justice Published data has been used 
to report on all YOT key Performance Indicators. The latest data has been 
obtained. 

3.3 This report focuses upon Sefton’s performance by benchmarking against the 
‘new’ YOT families that are now included in the YOT data summaries, published 
by the Youth Justice Board. YOT families are a group of YOTs with similar 
socio-demographic characteristics. 

3.4 Re-offending- this is defined as the percentage of young people who have re-
offended from an identified cohort of first time offenders. Given the small 
numbers within a three-month cohort the aggregated data is used, taking an 
average across the four quarters. This shows a Sefton rate of 47.7%, therefore 
roughly 4:10 young people re-offend. The rate is currently higher than our 
comparison YOT ‘family’ average 43.2%, England 40.6% and Merseyside 
46.1%. Performance has improved compared to the previous quarterly data, 
but given the fluctuation of the re-offending rate means the data needs to be 
examined in terms of the longer-term trends. It should be noted that the 
numbers in the cohort i.e. the number of first time offenders reduced by 31 but 
the number of those re-offending reduced by only 7. Hence, in intervening with 
this group of young people the YOT were less effective in reducing their re-
offending. 

3.5 Reoffending frequency - defined as the number of re-offences divided by the 
number from an identified cohort of first offenders. The aggregated data shows 

Page 157

Agenda Item 11



2

a small increase of 0.7 for the quarter Apr 16 to March 17 compared to Apr 15 
to March 16. The current rate is 1.71 and is the fourth highest compared to the 
other 10 associated ‘YOT family’.

3.6 Reoffences per reoffender- this is defined as the number of re-offences 
divided by the number of young people who re-offend. There is a 54.2% 
increase compared to a 33.2% increase in the last report to the board. Sefton’s 
greater increase appears to be because of its previous low rate. Sefton’s current 
rate of 3.59 is still slightly lower compared to the YOT Family 3.84, Merseyside 
3.67, the North West 4.09 and England 3.90.  In terms of numbers within this 
cohort it is an increase of 48 new offences and 7 less young people who re-
offend.

3.7 First Time Entrants – this relates to those young people who receive a criminal 
record for the first time. Sefton continues to deal with less serious crime by way 
out of court disposals a method of resolving low-level crime by providing first 
time offenders a community resolution if they have taken responsibility for the 
offence, this offers the offender a ‘second chance’, provided they make amends 
to the victim and cease their offending behaviour.

3.8 National figures show a 21.4% increase comparing Oct 17 to Sept 18 with Oct 
16 to Sept 17, the rate increase is from 215 to 261 per 100,000. This increase 
for Sefton is unusual given past trends, the last two quarter show an increase. 
In terms of numbers, this is an increase of 11 young people for the last quarter. 
However, the period we are comparing with is one of the lowest numbers of first 
time entrants in the last five years. 

3.9 Sefton’s national performance continues to be comparable to Merseyside with 
a rate of 261 and England 250. Performance is not as good when compared to 
the overall rate of the YOT ‘family’ 221. Sefton is slightly below average, listed 
seventh as having the highest rate of first time entrants out of 10 similar YOTs. 
Sefton and three other YOTs have an increased rate for 2018/17 compared with 
2016/17. 

3.10 National data has a time delay due to the time it takes to be collated and 
published, therefore analysis uses “past” data which is useful when comparing 
ourselves to other YOT family members, Merseyside and England, however to 
effectively monitor our own key performance indicator’s, we “locally” track KPI’s 
by extracting data quarterly from the criminal justice system which provides a 
current representation of our data.  As discussed previously the most recent 
national data had shown an increase in first time entrants for Sefton YOT, 
however local current data comparing 2017/18 to 2018/19 shows a decrease in 
the number of first time entrants from 62 to 44. 

3.11 Custody Rate – the number of young people receiving a custodial sentence 
expressed as a rate per 1,000 of 10-17 population-data shows a significant 
reduction of -13%.  

Page 158

Agenda Item 11



3

3.12 Sefton’s reduced rate translates in actual numbers of 1 young person being 
sentenced to custody within January 18 to December 18 compared to 4 within 
January 17 to December 17.

3.13 Sefton’s custody rate is 0.04, the lowest rate over the last five years. 
Performance compares extremely well when compared to the North West 0.41, 
Merseyside 0.36 and the YOT family average 0.18. Sefton the lowest rate of 
custody amongst the Merseyside YOTs and performance is extremely good 
within the ranking of the YOT family as shown in chart 3.

3.14 Sefton YOT has strong performance with regards to the reduction of custody.  
Performance, despite some fluctuations in other key indicators, considering 
historical trends and comparison with other YOTs, good performance is 
maintained. An area to monitor closely is first time entrants to ensure the 
increase in numbers do not continue. 

3.2 YOT HMIP Inspection 

3.2.1 From January through to February Sefton Youth Offending Team (YOT) were 
inspected by HM Inspectorate of Probation. The result was that YOT requires 
improvement to be good with just 5 recommendations. YOT have produced an 
action plan to evidence how the recommendations will be met and this will be 
supported and managed through the YOT Management Board.

4 Youth Service

4.1 Digital Advantage - The magazine ‘Children and Young People Now’ wish to 
publish an article following the successful delivery of Digital Advantage (2017) 
to showcase the success of young people who were inspired by the project. 
One young person is now in Manchester Business School and another is 
working in the local music and radio industry. Both young people were 
previously supported by our Targeted Youth Prevention Service.

4.3 The Vibe - The Youth Service have recently started working in partnership with 
the VIBE at Linacre Community Hub on Tuesday evenings delivering the Duke 
of Edinburgh to young people who will shortly be participating in expedition 
training.

4.4 Liverpool City Region Pride – New Beginnings have registering for the Pride 
March and we are also part of the consulting process for the new ‘Youth Space’ 
which will be part of the event this year. Young people have collated their ideas 
to influence what this space will look and feel like at the event.

4.5 Adverse Childhood Experiences - the latest programmes for parents 
successfully concluded and in April with positive feedback from parents. The 
next round of programmes will commence in September this year. The trained 
facilitators met in May to plan exit strategies for parents and the development 
of a parents focus group. The young person’s programme commences in 
August. 

Page 159

Agenda Item 11



4

4.6 Duke of Edinburgh - The Annual Awards evening took place on Thursday 28th 
March in Southport where 630 young people received their award and 
celebrated their success. We are also supporting a group of excluded young 
people who are in alternative education at Queens Road Neighbourhood 
Centre to engage in the Duke of Edinburgh Bronze award  

4.7 Youth Voice - Two Sefton young people have been short listed for this year’s 
Youth Focus North West Citizens Award. The categories are Inspirational 
Young Person of the Year and Young Community Champion 2018 they have 
both submitted videos that will be included in the voting process.

4.8 Our new Members of Youth Parliament are settling in to their roles and are 
supporting the Youth Foria, Youth Cabinet, Youth Voice and SYMBOL 
meetings they also supported the Duke of Edinburgh Awards evening on the 
28th March which was a great success.

4.9 Southport Detached Work - due to the rise in ASB and young people going 
missing in the Southport area the youth workers have concentrated their 
detached work in the area around East Bank street. They have liaised with 
shops and fast food takeaways to distribute the Barnardo’s ‘Be Aware’ 
exploitation leaflets and forge links so that local staff can report any concerns 
they have regarding child exploitation. Workers have also made links with 
Merseytravel to share information. Workers have also engaged with young 
people in Kings Park, the Skate Park, Alchemy and Southport College areas to 
sign post young people to local positive activities.

4.10 New Beginnings - The LGBT New Beginnings team will be working with British 
Transport Police to give young people the confidence to report anti-LGBT hate 
crime. They will be working on an LGBT public art installation in five stations 
and creating a poster campaign for display on trains to increase young people 
confidence when reporting hate crime.

4.11 Youth Bus - The youth bus still operates 4 evenings per week in our 
communities and more recently it has been in the Waterloo (South Road/ 
Marine Gardens area) due to the high numbers of young people and residents’ 
complaints around ASB. Youth Bus staff have met with the friends of Waterloo 
group to develop a joint plan to alleviate some of the issues they are 
experiencing. 

Page 160

Agenda Item 11


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	4 Children's Commissioner Report
	CCO-Gangs

	5 Sefton Safer Communities Partnership End of Year Report 2018/19
	6 Sefton Safer Communities Partnership Action Plan 2019/20
	7 Domestic and Sexual Abuse Strategy 2019 - 2021
	Sefton DA Strategy 19-21 V3 DRAFT

	11 Integrated Youth Support Report

